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2.Manugcript Sources.

The Mauritius drchives contains several collections of documents
covering the period,1730-1747,but apart from three voiumes of
Miscellaneous Documents,0A96,97&98,these are of a highly specialised
nature,i.e.notarial records,series NAI-NA8,and surveys and land
concessions,series MA,LH, &.8.These specialised collections have not
yet been explored and although they should provide information about
the distribution of land concessions,the permanence of the holdings
and the formation of private companies by La Bourdonnais,I have not
attempted to explore them.The threc volumes of Miscellaneous
Documents have provided very little material for this work.They do
not contain any important correspondance with the Company and their
interest is largely of an antiguarian nature;they are curious rather
than revealing.Volume 0OA 96 (c.1722-1731) gives some indication of the
shortage of food during the period.Volume 0A 97 (c.1731-1735) contains
31 documents relating to the visit of Cossigny and his cuarrels with
the administrators,culminating in his expulsion from the Isles(orders
of 9 December and 5 March, I735) together with several documents
concerning the reannexation of estates in Pamplemousses,Moka,Riviers
Frangoise and Flacq to the demesne of the Company (domaine du roi).
Volume OA 98(c.1735<1755) contains little of importance on the
administretion of La Bourdonnais.There is a collection of 9 documents
relating to a libel case(La Bourdonnais v.Trédillac - captein of the
Prince de Conti); 2 documents relating to the engagement of nail makers
and papers concerning the winding up of La Bourdonnais' affairs.

- (1748 - I755)The Mauritius Archives also contains a Box,¥2/23, with
many photostat copies of documents from collections in France relating
to La Bourdonnais.fhen these have been used a footnote in the text wiith
refer to the partiCular document,The Archives in Reunion could not be i
visited but it would appear that most of the material relating to
Reunion and Mauritius during the period 173U-~i747 has alresuy been |
published, (S8ec Section J.rrinted Sources.# Lougnon,. ¢orrespondance du l
Conseil Superieur...and Recueil ‘rimestricl etc.) i

39Printed Sources. _ : i

a)Works by La Bourdonnais. : ﬂ

tiahé de La Bourdonnais. mémoire dess Iles de France et ae Bourbon. (1740)
- 8d. by 4 Lougnon and A.Toussaint.Paris 1937.2u4.p. This report on his

administration in Ile de ¥rance and Bourbon was writter by :
La pourdonnais on his return voyage to France in I740 for his
protectors Orry,the Contrcilers-iienersl of Finances,anc Orry de Fulvy,
the Inspector-ueneral of the French Hast indisa €ompany.fhe manuscript
was first published by Pierre Mergry in i862;in i867 it was includea 4
in a coilection of lM,ss. made by the same editor:'Relations et i
mémoires inédits pour servir & 1'histoire de la ¥rance dans les pays y
outre-mer, ‘¥or some reason he excluded Part III of the report, together |
with the #uthor's notes.In 1936 & Mss copy in the Prosper d'Epinay |
collection(Carnegie Library,lurepipe) was transcribed and edited by ‘
R.jo0ugnon and A.Joussaint.It is divided into three sections: (a) a
description of the edministfation of the Isles I735-1740; (b)the state
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of the colonies in I740;(c) plans for future development.

Mahe de La ourdonnais.meaoire pour le bieur de La Bourdonnais avec
les pigces Justificatives.Paris.I750.
Mahé de La Bourdonnais. Supplement au Memoire du gieur de lLe

Bourdonnais.Paris.1751.

These memoires were written when La Bourdonnais was a prisoner 1in
the Bastille,in collaboration with his lawyer,Pierre de uennes.lhey
were arranged much later by his grandson,Louis Charles de La Bourdonnais,
and published in 1827 under the somevhat misleading title:Mémoires
Historiques de...La Bourdonnais.A second e¢dition apgeared in i18Y0.

The HMemoire of 1750 ,which contains nearly 800 pages,is largely a
description and a justification of La Bourdonnais' conduct in Madras.
Part I contains three sections: a brief biography and a descripéion of
events up to may,I746;an account of the preparations and execution of
the pian to capture Madrasj;an outline of events in India from Uctober,
1746 to iay,I75v.Part II is an expianation and justification of
La Bourdonnais' policy in Madras and it is divided into four sections:
a discussion as to whether La Bourdonnais had the requisite powers to
negotiaste a treaty of capituationjandxamination of the question as to
whether he had the right to ncgotiate a treaty of ransowmjan analysis
of the charges made against him,under three headings,faults of ignorance,
feults of negligence and criminal(treasonable) conduct;finally,an
andysis of the svidence as to whether he accept!bribes.part iitI contains
- letters and documents,i734 to 1746.There are,irjhddition,five apnendices
(Suite des Pi2ces Justificatives) which include further letters,
documents and commentaries.

bjBollections of gorrespondance and iliscellancous documents.

Albert Lougnon.ed. Correspondance du VYonseil Superieur de Bourbon et
de la Gompagnie des Indes.Réunion.i934 - 194I.5 Yols.

Vol I.Correspondance.22 January,4+724 - 30 December,I?3I.

Vol 2.Correspondance.It March,I732 -~ 23 Januery,1736.,-

Vol 3.Correspondance.23 January,I/36 - 9May, 1741,

Vol 4.Correspondance and Extracts from the General Register of the

French Bast India Company.9 November,I740 - 20 @&pril,i746.

Yol 5.Vorrespondance.l7 April,I1746 - I7 October,I750.

Thie collection which,in addition,contains correspondance between
the Company and the Council of 1le de France and exernts from the
@eneral Register of the ﬁomp&ny,has proved to be a major source of
information concerning 1Ie de France and Bourbon.The material wes
gathered in the Archives of Reunion and the Archives Netionsles and
Archives de la Ministere de la liarine in Frafice.

Albert Lougnqn.ed.ﬁecueil Trimestriel de Uocuments et fravaug inédits

pour servir a l'Bistoire des ¥ascareignes frangaises.Réunion.1932-1952.

(4 three-monthly publication,bound in volumes,each covering ap period |
of about three years). :

In this coliection there is a considerable number of documents

and articles covering t he period 4730 - I750.The most important
collection in the necueil Trimestriel is the Gorrespondence des
Administrdeurs de Bourbon et ceux de 1'Ile de France(l1727-1735) which
appeared in the 1944 and 1945 issues of the magazine.(Vol VII) Other
important articles and documents are:Ile de France in 1755 by -
2 Dalrymple,from British Museum Add.H¥ss.33765.VoL I;Esquisse partielle 1
@'une histoire &conomique de L'ile ae %ourbon pendant la régie de,,.

La Bourdonnais by A.Lougnon.Vol V;les dernicres annees...de La
Bourdonnais by G.Baschet.Vol Vl;ééat genérale de la depense & 1'Ile de
Bourbon en 1737 and Lettre de L& Eourdonnais au Bonseil...I3 aout,I742,
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Vol 1: L'organisation rgligieuss des Iles de France et de Bourbon aux
temps de...La Bourdonnais.Vol I1l.

A.Lougnon.ed.Recueil de documents et travaux inedits pour servir &
l'higtoire de la Reunion.No.I 1954,

A.Lougnon.¥oyages anciens & 1'Ile Bourbon(i611-1725).Tannanarive.1939.
This contains a number of accounts“of Bourbon and Ile ae France by
travellers in the eighteenth century.
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le Sieur de La Bourdonhais’and papers on ull manaer of subjects.tiuch of the
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and who returned home in I758 when he was taken prisoner by the
Bnglish.His son,Vharles,settled in kngland and published his father's
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INTRUDGCTION.,

vuring the sixteenth century it was the Portuguege who controlled
the trade of the #ast,but their monopoly was not destined to last,for
very soon Portugal found herself unable to maintain the empire that she
had built up.Her population did not exceed one and a cuarter miliion
people and the yearly expeditions to the Hast severely strained the
limited resources of manpower.Moreover tne new wealth weakened
administrative honesty.in 1568 a boy of fourteen,cebastiao,came to the
threone and attempted to equal the crusading exploits of the early kings
of Portugal.An expedition landed in worth africa in 1578 and in a battle
with the moors 8,000 of his soldiers were killed and 15,000 teken
prisoner and sold as slaves.Two years later a Spanish army entered
Portugal and rhilip 1l was proclaimed King of the lberian Peninsula.

The union of the two countries further weakened Portugal and,
moreover, the enemies of Spain prepared to attack Portuguese military
and trading posts in Africa and Asia.The defeat of the Armada
administered the death blow to the Portuguese empire for the fleet which _
sailed from Lisbon consisted largely of Portuguese ships and less than
half returned.Portugal's monopoly in the Kast Indies and Brazil began to
crumble -in the face of English and Dutch expansion.In 1591 James
Lancaster sailed to the Zast and in I594 captured Pernambuco in Brazil.
A group of lutch merchants sent four ships to the #ast and in 1598 a
second fleet of eight ships sailed from Holland.

Considerable capltal was required to trade with the East and over
the next few years various snglish,Dutch and French trading companies
were founded.In 1600 a 'Company of the Merchants of London Trading to
the zast Indies ' was granted a charter and in 1602 and 1603 four ships
were sent to the Bust.The Dutch were not slow to foliow suit and vwhen
& Dutch Bast India Company was founded in 1602 as many as twenty six
ships sailed for the East.The Dutch quickly realised that effective
trade depended on territorial control and by 1623 they had the monogoly
of the spice trade of the Bast Indies.The English Company turned its
attention to India and in 1612 Captain Best landed at Syrat.A Portuguese
fleet which appeared at the mouth of the river Taptee was defeated and
in January of the next year a firman was granted by the Moghul and a
factory was establighed.Company agents were sent to Agra and Ahmadabad
and in later years factories were opened in Calicut and Bombay;in 1622
a factory was built at Masulipatam;in 1639 Madras was purchased and in
the following year a factory was established at "dooghly in the province
of Bengal. :

¥rench commercial enterprise in the sast was hampered by internal
weakness, but during the reign of Henry IV a French Company trading to
the indies was established.Another company was launchea in 161l but
nelther appears to have fitted out any ships.In 1615, hovever,a group of
Rouen merchants persuaded the government to tranafer the privileges of
the originali company to a new company,which sent two fleets to the =sast,
one in 1616,the other in 1619,but the results were unsatigfactory and the
company was unable to attract further capital to fit out another fleet.
Richelieu formed a new company in 1642 with the object of colonising
Madagascar. (I)The Dutch had already established a trading post in the
north of the island but the settlement had been wiped out.The French
settlers landed at a point in the extreme South-Zast of the island and
the post appears to have been called ot.Laurent.Yhen the colonists

\1) Madagascar was first sighted by a rortuguese ship on I0 4ugust,I5u0,
the day of St.Laurence.The island was known at this time as
St.Laurent.
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attempted to develop the settlement they found that the local Malagasy
tribes were not interested in trading and although the post was
fortified it was not developed,as its maintenance depended solely on
strong support from the Company.The directors intended to use the post
as a base for trade in India but the capital of the Company was soon
exhausted in defending the settlers and in supplying them with food and
equipment.Vithin a few years the Company was bankrupt..

Colbert organised & new East India Company in 1664 which was given
extensive privileges.lts monopoly of trade in the Indian and Pacific
Ocean was to be of fifty years duration and the government announced
that it would subsidize the Lompany until 1674 and advance one fifth of
the capital.The directors of the Company decided to make a further
attempt to colonise Madagascar and in 1664 a large expedition sailed
from Brest.St.Laurent was renamed Fort uLauphin.ln 1666 another
expedition was fitted out under the command of Frangois Caron,but when
the ships arrived at Fort bauphin in 1667,Varon realised that the
colony could not be developed further and he decidea to sail for India,
where he successfully established a factory at sSurat.(1668).His
associate,a Persian named Marsara,set up a factory at Hasulipatam in
1669. '

The directors of the vompany were highly satisfied and they
authorised Caron to attempt to establish a factory in Ueylon.Admiral
Lahaye’éaptured Trincomalee in 1672 but when,shortly afterwards,the
wutch forced the French to evacuate the post,the French fleet sailed
for the Coromandel Loast and a successful attack was made on the
Portuguese settlement at St.Thomé,Two years later,however,the ubiguitous
Dutch captured the town.The majority of the soldiers in the French
garrison decided to return to Surat,but a group of sixty men,led by
Francois Martin,marched to a post in the Carnatic which their commander
nad purchased in the same year,and which later became known as
Pondicherry.Martin arrived in April,l1674,and the post was found to be
tolerably healthy.He succeeded in establishing friendly relations with
the local rulers;he created a defence corps of 3u0 Indians and some
years later was granted permission to collect taxes in the region.A
brisk trade in piece goods developed.The factory at Hasulipatam grew
more slowly and for some years was of little importance,but it shared in
the early prosperity of Pondicherry and in 1693 the French were able to
carry out a more ambitious building programme.

The directors of the French East India Company tended to lose
interest in Madagascar when the trafling posts in India began to
prosper but they realised that a base in the Indian QOcean was essential,
not only to safeguard the sea route to India,but algo for the refitting
of ships sailing to and from France.The administrators at Fort Dauphin
had already directed their attention to an uninhabited island in the
indian Qcean called mascarhenas.In 1643 Jacques ProMis,the representative
of the Company in Madagascar,decided to annex the island and six years
later Etienne de Flacourt,the Governor of ¥ort wauphin ,sent a ship,
the St.Laurent,to take formal possession.The island was renamed Bourbon.
In 1658 a small group of Malagasy coionists,led by two Prenchmen,landed
in Bourbon but shortly afterwards,their slaves having escaped to the
forests, they decided to leave the island,which for some years remained
virtually ininhabiteds Another attempt was made to colonise the island
in 1665 and a small settlement was built.The destruction of the trading
post at Fort wauphin in 1674 led to a further increase in population
which by 1686 had reached 269 people.The population grew steadily during
the first quarter of the eighteenth century and by 1732 there were

. 2,000 colonists and 5,000 slaves.The settlers were a very mixed group:

retired soldiers,amnesiied pirates,retired Company officials,pecasants
deported from France,men who had been expelled from factories in India,
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younger sons of prosperous families,hoping to-make a fprtune,and .

middle class speculators who had been ruined in the collapse of Lau's

Bank.In addition,there were temporary Company officials,two regiments of
- soldiers and a small number of Suropean workmen. (1)

Progress in the new colony was slow.The Company at this time
suffered a number of reverses in India.{hrat was abandoned,owing to
the decline in trade and in 1693 Pondicherry was blockaded by the
Dutch.The Governor was forced to surrender but four years later the
factory was restored to the French and the directors of the Bompany
decided to make it their new headquarters in India.Meanvwhile,in France,
the Company failed to attract new capital;in 170I the furniture in the
directors room was stézed by creditors and again in I7I2 the Company
was unable to meet a debt of 6,000 livres.The shipyards at Lorient
were idle and licenses were issued to private shipowners or companies,
authorizing them to trade with India.(2) .

In 1714 one of these companies,the Societé Maritime de St.Malo,
was ordered by Pontchartrain,the Minister of the Marine,to take
possession of the uninhabited island of Mauritius,vhich was one days
sail from Bourbon.This island had been a Portuguese possession in the
sixteenth century,although it was never colonised, and in 1598 the
Dutch claimed it in the name of the Statholder,Maurice of Nassau.For
4u years they used the island as a port of call for revictualling and
repairing their ships and,like the Portuguese, they added to its
resources by introducing livestock and vegetables.During this period
the island was vigited by French and Bnglish captains looking for ebony,
but in May,1638,the wutch East India Company sent two small parties of

-colonists to take formal possession.A fort was built and the new
Governor was ordered to :rotect the ebony resources of the island and
to grow food for Company ships.The population probably never exceeded
300 and after I652,when the Dutch colonised tne Cape of Good Hope,it
was decided to abandon mautitius.In 1658 the settlement was destroyed
and the wutch left the island.

dix years later the wutch Gompany sent another expedition to
Mauritius to exploit the timber resources and to grou food for the
revictualling of ships.The population remained very small,tnough the
Sompany prought in slaves from HMadagascar and convicts from Batavia.
The Malagasy slaves were difficut to control and many of them escaped
to the forests which covered most of the island.It seems. likely that
the labour problem was the dscisive factor which cauwed the Dutch to
abandon the island in I7I0;other factors were cyclones,the falling
price of ebony,and the depredations of rats,monkeys and locusts.A
French visitor to the island in I708 wrote:"I1 n'y a que I4 habitants
et une mauvaise fort...Il Yy & 4U soldats et tous les ans on y envoya un
valsseau...ils sont tormentés par des singes qui arrachent tout ce que
l'on y seme et qui mgngent les fruits."(3)In I7I0 the settlement at
Grand Port was again destroyed and the plantations laid waste.

From 1715 to 1721 several groups. of colonists from Bourbon appear
to have visited the islend,but it was not until I72I that a permanent

. settlement was built.The French BZast Indis Company,which had been
abgorbed into Law's Perpetual Company in 1719,did not actively promote
the colonisation of the island until I721,when the King ceded the island
to the Company.A governor,de Nyon,was appointed and in 1722 he arrived
in Ile de France,accompanied by a number of builders,clerks and workmen,
and two regiments of Swiss mercenaries, though a large proportion of
these died during the voyage.Some of the men had brought with them their
Wives and families,but the total population in thisg year still did not

(I)Guet.Bourbon.p.I4I,221;Lougnon.COrrespondance.Vol 1l.Introduction.p.XVII.
$Z)Rogerie.Les Bretons aux Iles.p.$7-99.
3)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol VI.Rapport de G.Hébert en I7u8.p.67.
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exceed 200, including 30 slaves.The new colonists gettled in two areas,
in the N.W.Port,often called ib Camp,and in the S.RB.Port,or Port
Bourbon.There was no line of communication between the two settlements,
except by boat.The directors had originally intended to grow coffee,but
when Bourbon coffee was found to be of mediocre quality it was decided
to encourage the colonists in Ile de France to grow food 1nstead.ﬁut
progress was slow and in 1726 there were still very few planters In the
island, the majority of the inhabitants being eompany personnel, their
families,and the soldiers in the garrison. *

For some years the directors had been looking for a suitable
port in the Indian Ocean to serve as a refitting and revictualling
station for €ompany ships on their way to India and the Far gast.After
a voyage of three or four months,supplies were running low and ships
usually called at Bourbon and lle de France to take on vater,wood and
any provisions available,but since food was scarce in the Isles it was
not always possible to meet these demands.In addition to the problem
of revictualling was the question of finding a safe anchorage for ships
returning from India on the N.2.Monsoon.Arriving in the Isles at the
height of the cyclone season from December to March,ships anchored off
St.Denis,in Bourbon,were often obliged during a storm to make for the
open sea,and since many of them were already badly damaged by the
fionsoon, this was a difficult and hazardous operation.Moreover,it was
imperative to refit these ships as soon as they arrived as it was
extremely dangerous to round the Cape after the month of april.

Ile de France on the other hand had two good,natural harbours and
in I727 the Company decided to increase its efforts to develop it as
a potential refitting and revictualling base,The population was still
very scant and during the next few years a number of families were
brought out from ¥rance and retired soldiers from Fondicherry were
encouraged to settle with their families.At first it was decided to
develop the S.Z.Port,but in 1731 the Yompany ordered all ships to
anchor in the N.W.Port.in the same year the directors appointed o
skilled engineesr,Charpentier de Cossigny, to make a survey of ports in
the Indian QOcean,After visiting lle de France,Bourbon and Madagascar,
Vossigny recommended the N.W.Port in lle de France as the most suitable
harbour in the indian vucean and in 1734 he was given instructions to
commence harbour instaliations.The Provincial Council was ordered to
collect materials and provide workmen,but vhen the Governor,de Maupin,
was finally obliged to employ soidiers from the garrison for this work,
the troops mutinied and forced him to come to terms.As a result of this
the work virtuaelly came to & standstill.

Meanwhile it was hoped that the colopists would not only become
self-supporting, but would produce enough foog@ to meet the constant
demands from passing ships.When the island was first colonised,land
was plentiful and grants were made to any colonist willing to clear it
and grow food.The Council issued seed,timber,slaves and tools and
during the first year newly arrived colonists were given an aliowance
of food from the Company stores until their land was producing.".i'
intention de la Coupagnie,wrote the directors,"est cue vous fassiez
distribuer la ration par teste,au moins psndant un en et jusqu'a ce
que les terres...leur puissent fournir leur subsistance:vous leur
avancergz des graines et semences;vous leur ferez aussi donner des
négres dans la nuantite proportionnee aux terrains gue vous leur aurez
concede avec les outils et instruments dont ils auront besoin pour
traveiller la terre,le tout a remettre par eux dans les magasins:pour
les vivres et graines,en nature et les negres,outils et instruments a
payer suivant les prix reglés."(1) The directds were optimistic

(I)Lougnon.Borrespondance.vol 1.The EBompany to the Provincial Council
of Ile de France.ll becember,I727.p.59.



regarding the future of the island;the administrators had informed
them that the interior was very fertile and they expected that the
coionists would be able to pay back Company loans within three years.
. Land rents were paid in tithe(la dixfeme) until 1729 when the diectors
announced that colonists were to pay into the €om.any warehouse 201bs.
of rice or wheat,or 4o0z. of coffee,for each arpent(i%043 acres)of land.

but in these early years the island did not prosper.iife in the colony
was hard and uncertain,food,tools and slaves were scarce and the
allocation of these essential commodities led to friction and
unpleasantness among the colonists.Moreover,attacks by bands of maroons
were a frfequent occurgnce and there was constant fear of & slave revolt.
Cyclones destroyed houses and crops,reducing the island to starvation,
“and those food crops which managed to survive the cyclones and

the depredations of rats and other vermin deteriorated rapidly when
stored.These hardships were reflected in the morale of public life as
well as of the private individual and there were constant quarrels
between the civil and military authorities.

This introduction would not be complete without some reference to
the organisation and outlook of the French xast India Company in the
eighteenth century and the prevailing attitude of the directors towards
Bourbon and Ile d: France.There were,after 1664,several French fast
India Companies,each one inheriting the rights and responsibilities
laid down in the Charter of 1664.The Company had a monopoly of trade in
the fiast,the right to fortify factories,to build up a fleet,to make
treaties and to conquer new territories in the name of the king.After
the collapse of uLaw's scheme,an attempt to create a huge trading
corporation which would absorb the national debt into its own stock,

a number of commissioners were chosen to straighten out the finances of
the Company and in 1725 the Hast India Company was re-established on
taditionei lines.It had a trading monopoly in the Indian Ocean,including
the Red Sea and the East Coast of Africa,and in Bhina,and it wvas,at the
same time,given control of the slave trade of West Africa.The port of
Lorient in Brittany became one of the busiest ports in Europe.lhe
French mercantile marine increesed rapidly;in I715 France pbssessed

some 300 ships and by I735 thae number had reached 1,800,sixty of which
belonged to the Bast India uompany. o '

‘In 1725 the government decided to play an active part in the
organisation of the sSast lndia Vompany;the king vags to elect the
members of the Company Council from the Royal Council,the Royal Navy
and from among the leuding merchants of France.The shareholders
protested and finally an agreement was reached whereby the government
nominated 12 directors and 4 inspectors.The annual meeting of sharcholders
was to elect 8 officials{syndics),whose mein fuction was mainly of an
executive nature,but since for the next twenty years there was,in fact,
no meeting of shareholders,the government wag able to control the
activities of the Uouncil.from L725 to 1745 it was Philibert orry, the
Controller-ueneral of Finances who directed the policy of the Comgany
and il important despatches were signed by him.in I730 he reorganised
‘the administrative structure of the Company;there were to be six
directors and two syndics,one of whom was stationed at Lorient,the other
at Nantes;the ispectorate was abolished but shortly afterwards it was
recreated and from 1733 to 1745 the post of Inspector-General was held by
Orry's brother,Orry de Fulvy,who in these Years proved to be the most
influential member of the Council.La Bourdonnais enjoyed the confidence
and protection of both of these men.([)

(1)Cultru.bupleix.p.3-4.
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since the activities of the Company were largely copt?olled py
the governpent,the directors had no real power in determlnlng_pollcy
and this lack of repponsibility fostered incompetence and indifference.
Many of them were engaged in private trading ventures,illicit or
otherwise,and service dn the Council was generally regardeg as a means
of promotion to an intendency or even to a ministry."wLes directeurs,"
writes Gultru,"travaillaient peu,que,sauf quelques uns,ils ne
présentaient aucune garanti de compétence,qu'ils n'avaient pas.de
responsibilité effective a cause du controle permanent du Commissaire
du Roi,qu'ils n'avaient intérét personnel § la prosperite de lg
Compagnie,qu'ils en avaient un trés grand a plaire au Commissaire,au
Ministre et aux gens bien en cour."(I)

The financial basis of the Company was very unsound.From 1725 to
1745 the Company declared a I0f dividend,paid from funds received
from the administration of the tobacco monopoly in france.General
expenses, however, could only be met by recourse to~large-scale
borrowing,since the Company did not possess adequate licuid assets,
and profits were needed to repay the high rates of interest and the
short-term loans."Blle se soutenait au de fonds,"writes “ultru,"qui
ne provenalént pas d'eux et elle leur distribuait un revenu qui ne
provenait pas de son commerce."(2)During the #®ar of the Austrian
Succession the Company's losses were very serious and after 1741
shareholders began to sell out in bulk.From 1746 to 1763 the Company
did not show any profit. :

Until 1742 trade in Bourbon and Ile de France was a Company
monopoly.Bach year the Company sent out food,wines and spirits,
manufactured goods,and slaves from West Africa.In addition they
exported coin and bills of exchange to enable the administrators to
pay colonists for produce brought to the vompany warehouses and to
cover the cost of governance and defence,Bourbon,which was producing
over half a million pounds of coffee each year by 1752, could,in theory,
pay for her imports by the sale of coffee to the Gompany,but lle de
France,which was intended primarily as a refitting and revictualling
station,did not have an important cash crop.*he island could only pay
for its imports from furope and India by means of 'invisible exports,!
such as harbour and shipbuilding facilities,and by the production of
food for Gompany ships.

. By I734 the directors appear to have been dissatisfied with the
state of affairs in the two islands.The production of coffee in Bourbon
was increasing rapidly but the quality had not improved.Food :
production was declining as more colonists turned to coffee-growing and
the islaend was forced to import rice,flour,salt goods and livestock.
The gompany had invested large sums of money in Ile de France in order
to dévelop harbour facilities,but building operations were constantly
held up owing to the shortage of labour and materialg.The debts of the
Colonists in both islands were considerable and the Bompany was
experiencing great difficulty in recovering even a proportion of them.
The directors restricted imports in order to encourage the colonists
to pay their debts but the only result was to force them to purchase
supplies from passing ships.Public order in Bourbon and Ile de France
was threatened by the presence of gangs of maroons and the methods
used to deal with the problem were ineffectual.Finally,relations
between the two islands were not good,and for many years the two
administrations failed to work in harmony.

(1)Cultru.Dipleix.p.16-I9.
(2)Ibid.p.7.
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I. La Bourdonnais : Early Years.

Bertrand Francois Mahé de La Bourdonnais was born in St.Malo on
11 February,1699.The family was engaged in commerce;his grandfather
was a small merchant who in his later years held the unimportant post
of prmcureur du roi in Uinan and his father was a sailor and trader.In
1704 his father was in command of a ship which was fitted out to trade
with St.Domingo.He had a small share in the cargo.0n the return voyage
the vessel was captured by an English warship and he was taken
prisoner.He died in captivity at Plymouth in 1705.(Il)iLittle is known of
the early years of .a Bourdonnais.In the Memoire which was writéen in
the Bastille La Bourdonnais gives a orief resumé of his early voyages.
At the age of ten he was a cadet aboard a ship vhich made a voyage to
the west coast of South America and to the South Pacific.In 1715 he
held the rank of ensign aboard a ship which visited the Philippines
and the dast Indies.Four years later he sailed im northern seas;the
ship probably visited Iceland and the coast of Greenland;at this time
a group of French merchants was 2ngaged in exploring trade routes in
the north.In 1718 he helda a junior command in a ship trading with the
Levant. (2) _

In 1719 La Bourdonnais joined the fleet of the Hfast India Company
as a second lieutenant.At this time officers in the service of the
Company were regarda=d as the élite of the French mercantile marine and
the directors were able to recruit first class scamen.flhe officers and
ships’ crews had the rignt to engage in private trading and rates of pay
and allowances were high.la Bourdonnais-was promoted to lieutenant in
1723 and he sailed for the Bast Indies.He was apparently a highly
competent navigator and during the voyage he wrote a treatise on masts
and sails(Traité sur las MAture des Vaisseaux. )He shoved his
resourcefulness by rescuing a shipe vhich was straended off Bourbon.Be
took the ships long boat to lle de France and returned with a salvage
vessel,the Triton ;and raised the stranded vessel.(3)4s a rewara for
his prompt action he was promoted to second-captain aboard the Badine
and in 1724 he returned to India.

in 1125'hg took part in an expedition to recapture the French
factory at Mahe.The Governor of Pondicherry,lLenoir,was alarmed because
the local Indian ruler,who was on friendly terms with the Anglish at
Tellicherry, had expelled the French from Mahé.This facddry which was
the chief centre of the pepper trade in India was vital to the Company.
Lenoir sent a squadron of four ships to recapture the town and
La Bourdonnais Jjoined the expedition.The town was bembarded and a fort
was taken and shortly afterwards the Company officials were able to
return. (4)

When ne arrived in Fondicherry La Bourdonaais decided to resign
his command.This was a somewhat unusual course of action as he was only
twenty-six years of age and he could coafidently have expected promotion
to the rank of captain before he reached thirty.A command in the
. 'premiere navigation' of the #ast India Company was the aim of all

(1) Bourde de la Roger
0 gerie.Les Bretons aux Iles.p.I42-
{g; gemoire(175o) DoT=9. . p.142-144,
ecueil Trimestriel.Vol Il.Comment Le Bourd
'Ile ce France en 1723.p.323-33(. onnais passa de Bourbon a

l/ Y
(4) Mémoire(175v) p.8;see de la Farelle.Mémoire sur la prise de Mahé. (1725)
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officers in the mercantile marine.During a normal voyage of 20 months
to and from India a captain received pay amounting to 4,00V iivres aru,
in addition,he was dllowed tp carry,free of charge,merchandise worth
16,000 livres on the outward voyage and a wide variety of foodstuffs
and textiles from the sast on the return voyage.ia ng;ﬁonnais,however,
realised the immense possibilities of private trading in the Zast-and
he ceme to some agreement with Lenoir and certain members of the
Council of Pondicherry.a joint stek company was formed and a ship, the
Pondicherry, was fitted out,probably in 1726.

TPhe mémoire(1750) does not give any aetuiled information about
this phase of his career.He appears to have traded in India,the sast
Indies and the Red Sea.in a report on trading conditions in india sent
by him to de Moras,a syndic of the Company,in 1735,he criticised the
organisation of French factories in India and his remarks throw some
light on his own trading activities.He pointed out that the shortage
of ready cash resulted in extra expenditure by the Company.All local
contracts enaded in January of each year and staff appointed in India
tried to find temporary jobs until June.when the Company ships arrived
and when new contracts were made.In the report La sourdonnals urote,
4,e marchand rencherit ses cotons,les fileuses,les tisserands,les
porteurs,les blanchisseuses,les patteurs, tous profitent généralement du
besoin qu'on a s'eux."ﬂe explained that private merchants purchased
supplies througput the year at steady prices and that he himself, by
gaining information about market conditions in the interior, had been
able to amass a small fortune. (1)

On one of his voyages he gave assistance to two Portuguese ships
which were in distress.He escorted them to Moka where he acted as
mediator in a dispute about the payment of tribute butueen the
representatives of the Bmir of Yemen and the Portuguese.In recognition
of his services the Viceroy at Goa offered him employment as officer in
charge of naval operations on the Coromandel coast.At this time the
Viceroy .-as pianning to lead an expedition against native rulers on the
tast @oast of Africa.lm 175i Le Bourdonnais agreea to enter the service
of Portugal and he was decorated with the Order of Christ.The attack on
East Africa did not take place but he had several engagements with
Maratta pirates on the idalabar Coast.Although his position as a
Portuguese naval commander was military in character,;it is probable
that his activities were largely of a commercial nature. (2)

La Bourdonnais probably resignea his Portuguese command tovards
the end of 1752.8arly in 1733 he was living in Pondicherry.At some time
during the early seventeenthirties he had decidea to rejoin the French
Bast India Company.He had realised that the Uovernor of an Indian
factory had uniimited opportunities for private trading and it appears
that he was determined to secure a governorships in one of the Company

_tradings posts,It is impossible to determine whether he expected to

obtain the governorship of an Indian factory in 1755.Senior commands
were frequently given to the highest bidder and in 17335 La Bourdonnais
was & rich man.It is,however, highly probable that he had received
information that the governorship of Ile de France and Bourbon was
likely to be availgble in 1734 and that he déekided to put himself
forward as a candidate.The ap,.ointment of an ex-captain in the
'premiére navigation' to an Indian governorsiip would have provoked

a storm of criticism and iLa Bourdonnais probably realised that the
governorship of the Isles might lead to other more lucrative
appointments.Lenoir, the Governor -of Pondicherry,had served in the Isles

pefore his transfer to India and senior officials in the Vompany

regarded the governorsnip of the two islands as & step,ing-off post
for Pondicherry and Chandanagore. :

(I)Cultru.dupleix.p.25-58,200.
(2)Bémoire(I7150) p.8-9.
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. The Governor of lle de France,de Maupin,had remained in the island
for a longer period than any of his predecessors and he was due ?or
recall.The directors were dissatisfied with his work and they laid the
biame for the slow rate of progress in the island on his shoulders.They
were particularly critical of the manner in which he had handled a
mutiny in February,1755,when 30 solaiers had deserted and taken refuge
in the forest and forced the Governor to agree to a general amnesty.lin
1734 the directors were considering sultable candidates to replace him
when the news reached them that the troops naa mutinied once more.
Cossigny was considered for the commana but the directors finally
decidea that he was unsuitablejhe was a martinet whose acia tongue and
quarrelsoms nature provoked the administrators in Bourbon to expel him
from the Isles.(I) -

In 1755 La Bourdonnais returned to France and shortly after his
arrival he presented reports on trading conditions in India to Orry de
Fulvy,the Inspector-General of the Company,and to de Moras,one of the
syndics of the Company.The reports contained serious charges against
the administration of Lenoir whom uLa Bourdonnais accused of incompetence,
injustice and nepotism. (2)In November,I735 he married Marie-Anne‘Le Brun
de la Franquerie who was the daughter of a ceptainin the "premiere
navigation'and the niece of a senior official in the Company.La
Bourdonnais had several interviews with the Controller-General and with
Orry de Fulvy and in November 1734 he was offered the governorship of
the Isles.

On 8 November,I7354 the directors formally announced the appdntment,
"estant informés des bohnes qualitéjmoeurs et conduite-ainsi gue de son
expérience dans la marine et le commerce."Two days later the necessary
letters patent were granted at Fontainebleau,“pour en cette qualité y
commander tant aux habitants des dits lieux,commis de la dite Compagnie,
employés et autres Frangais et étrangers qui y sont etablis.....de
quelque qualité et condition qu'ils puissent étre,qu'aux officiers,
soldats et gens de guerre gui y sont...leur faire préter le sdhent de
fidelité qu'ils nous doivent,faire vivre les habitants en union.et
concorde...contenir les gens de guerre en bonne ordre et police,suivant
nos réglements,et maintenir le commerce et trafic de la Compagnie dans
les dites isles(3) et en notre nom leur rendre,en la dite qualité de
Président des Conseils Supérieurs des Tsles,..la Justice tant civile que
criminelle...et généralement faire tout ce qu'il jugera & propos pour la
conservation des dits comptoirs et commerce et la gloire de notre nom?(4)

The appointment to an important governorship of a man who was almost
unknown in Company circles in Paris caused considerable surprise and
speculation among senior officials.Dupleix was nonplussed and in a letter
to Dumas he wrote:"La nomination de....La Bourdonnais & votre place m'a
surpris ainsi que toute 1'Inde."To another correspondant he wrote:"les
bras m‘en sont tombés.Il faut croire que la t3te & tourné & la Compagnie
ou bien qu'elle veut perdre les isles;and again,"il n'a rien épargné pour

* obtenir ce poste,tout a été employe et il a beaucoup d'obligation & son

épouse.de n'en crois bienjelle est trop bien élevée pour avoir fait aucune
bassesse,mais cependant ce diable de bruit ne vaut rien dm tout,Tous les
officiers des vaisseaux le disent."In a letter written in 1737 to his
brother, Dupleix statea that La Bourdonnais had purchasea the appontment
for a bribe of between 20,000 and 30,000 livres which had been paid to

the valet de chambre of Cardinal Fleury. (6)

(1) Crépin.Cossigny.p. 0.

(2) Cultru.Dupleix.p.15,55-58, '

(3) La Bourdonnais was given permission to trade with Madagascar,the idast
coast of Africa and ports in the Red Sea and the Persian Gul Orry to
La Bourdonnais.II December,I1734.Mémoire(1750)P.J.p.3.

(4) Mémoire(1750) Pede p.I-3.

(5) Cultru.¥upleix;iupieix to Dumas 19 December,1755;Dupleix to Burat
4 %wugust,l1755;Dupleix to La Karelle I9 December,1755.p.147-148,153,

(6) Ibia.p.2I.
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Although there is no conclusive evidence to prove that La
Bourdonnais purchased the governorship of the Isles there can be little
doubt that he was prepared to go to almost any lengths to obtain this
command.Nevertheless,prior to his appointment ,he appears to have made
a deep impression on both Orry,the Controller-General,and on his
" brother,Orry de Fulvy.The latter, who held the post of Inspector-General,
was the most influential member of the board of directors of the
Company from 1733 to 1745 and he gave La Bourdonhais his protection.
"I1 avait la protection de Fulvy,"wrote Duplelx in December,1739,"qul
le couvrait contre vents et marées."(1)It is possible that de Fulvy's
protection of lLa Bourdonnais was not entirely disinterested and there
were rumours current in Inaia that he received substantial materiai
benefits from his association with ia Bourdonnais. (2)

‘L& Bourdonnais left Lorient for Ile de France on 2 February, 1735,
in the buc de Bourbon.He had been given precise instructions:to
establish an efficient refitting and revictualling station in Port
Louis;to maintain law and order ;to strengthen the aduinistration of
the two islands;to investigate the state of agriculture in Bourbon,
where there was over-production of cofifee of inferior quality,and in
Ile de France,where many -of the planters relied entirely on loans and
showed no initiative in develpping their plantations.La Bourdonnais
was instructed to strengthen the economy of the two islands by the
introduction of new crops,to foster industry and to develop effective
machinery for the recovery of debts.Thus although it is likely that
La Bourdonnais,in accepting the post as Governor of lle de France and
Bourbon,was primarily concerned with his own private interests,he
was,nevertneless,confronted with an undertaking which would have
taxed the skill and perseverence of the most experienced administrator.

(1) Cgltru.fupleix.p.2I.
(2) Ibid.p.198,200.




II. Public Works : The development of Port Louls.I1735-1744.

The diréectors of the French fast India vompany decided to develop
Ile de France because a safe port was needed where ships of the
'premiére navigation',crossing the Indian Ocean,could take in supplies
and undergo repairs.The island had two good natural harbours,one in the
north-west,the other in the south-east.The first Governor,de Nyon,
(I722-1725) believed that the south-east port,wshich had been used during

» _the Dutch occupation,was the better of the two.It was named Port Bourbon

and in vecember,I727, the Company ordered the Provincial Council to

establish a permanent harbour.%Blie s'est determinéde, "wrote the directors,

4§ fixer au port éu 5.E. le pricipal £taplissement de cette fie.C'est 3
ce port ol désormais tous les vaisseaux aborderont par l'entree et la
sortie facile qu'il présentyet, la sireté dont il est dans le mauvais

temps;et quoiqu'il ¥ ait en un sens quelque agifficulté d'en sortir depuis

le commencement d'dvril jusqu'a la fin de Jjuillet,cette dgifficulté n'est

pas cependant insurmontable...la Compagnie...souhaite que les ouvriers et

les noirs y soient tous employés aux fortifications et aux bitiments,
conformement aux pians que m.Jumas a importés et & ceux que M.ae Nyon a
laigsés. " (1)Furthermore, they informea the Council that they had
appointed a harbour-master,a pilot,a carpsnter,a cedker and 2V masons
ana that they were senaing two long boats and two rowing boats.(2)

The harbour at Port Bourbon or Grand Port,as i1t was sometimes
called,was particularly suitable for receiving incoming ships from
Burope and India.For most of the year the island comes within the S.&.
Traaewind beit and ships were able to enter the harbour with ease.lt
was , however, difficuit to leave and ships were sometimes held up for
weeks in the bay.From 1728-1729 the €ompany received a number of
complaints from their captains who were afraid of entering the harbour
owing to the difficulties they encountered in sailing out and thsrefore
the directors akea for further information regarding the N,u.port.

The #.W.Port was surrounded by mountains which gave excellent
protection against cyclones and,moreover,it was easy to defend.Ships
could leave the harbour with comparative ease provided they haa a pilot
aboard.In addition,entry into the port presented few problems.ue Maupin,
tovernor from I729-1735,recommended this port to the directors who
decided to send a highly skilled engineer,Charpentier de Cossigny, to
investigate its potentialities and to report on various harbours in
the Indian Ocean. (3)At the same time they ordered captains in the
'premiere navigation' who were cailing at Ile de France to anchor in
the N.W. Bort.Cossigny arrived in Ile de France in 1732 and he later
repor@ed that the N.W. Port was the most suitable anchorage in the
Indian Ocean. (4) ' _

The anchorage at St.lenis in Bourbon which was the main port of call
for ships crossing the Indian Qcean was considered to be unsafe and for
some time the directors had felt that alternative ports should be found

(1) Lougnon.Qorrespondance.Vol I.The Company to the Provincial €ouncil pf

Ile de France.3l December.1727.p.58-55,

(2) Recueil Trimestriel.Vol VI.Correspondance des Administrateurs.p.46.

(5) Ibid.Vol I.Conditionsfaites® Cossigny par ia COmpagnie des Indes.
I8 duly.I73i.p.239-252. - |

(4) Ibid.Voi II.Rapport de Lossigny aux ¥Yirecteurs.I732.p.255-2u4,




elsewhere,in Madagascar,the lesser island groups north of the lsles,
and even in south Africa.ln December, 1733, their fears were justified
when a cyclone struck Bourbon.in St.lenis,two ships, the Yénus and the
Oiseau,were lost and three other ships were badly damaged.The
administrators informed the Council of Pondicherry that,“jamais on 18
aveit vu aans cette 1le tant de vents...et d'orage....le vent,..fit
venir & terre le vau.la Vénus et le bidteau 1'0Oiseau,qui périrent dans
les lames et sur les roches."(1)Six ships which were anchored in St.
Paui had managed to put out to sea and they were able to return when
the storm had subsided.After this event Ile de France became the
principal port of call for Company ships.tertain ships, however, vere
ordered to call at Bourbon each year in order to collect the annual
report of the administrators.in 1734 Cossigny returned to ile de France
with instructions to equip the N.¥.Bort.The Brovincial Council was
directed to find workmen and building materials and Cossigny himself
brought a number of workmen from Bourbon. _

Cossigny was an energetic and talented man but he wes also bad-
tempered and obstinate. (2 )He remained on friendly terms with Dumas, the
Governor of the Isles,for several months but in May, 1733, the two men
quarrelled.Cossigny had been given extensive powers of inspection and
he enjoyed the protection of Orry.He was therefore determined to act
independently and he refuged to cooperate with the administrators in
the two islands."C'est un homme gui parle en maltre,"wrote the
Councillors in Bourbon,"il veut décided de tout et sans appel,nous
traitans publiquement avec mépris et menaces."(3)He gathered information
about the Comgany employees and reported their shortcomings to Orry and
in December,1735, Dumas was forced to write to the Controller-General in
order to defend himself against the attacks of Cossigny.

Cossigny was particularly critical of the work of de Hkaupin, the
Governor of Ile de France.ghen the former arrived in the islana in 1734
a revolt had droken out in"the garrison.The Governor had employed the
goldiers on building operations.in the R.W.fort but the work was
unpopular and finelly the sodiers mutinied and took $o the forests.be
Maupin was obliged to grant a pardon,although the six ringlesaders later
agreea to give themselves up.Cossigny organised a council of war and
the leaders were condemned to deathThey were publicly hanged and peace
was restored.(4)

The mutiny aisorganised the life of the colony and delayed the
work of construction.lossigny had planned to begin work immediately but
he was unsble to find skilled workmen and building materials were
scarce and very expensive.in lecember,l1754, he wrote to the Company
describing his problems:"La totale insuboraination,indiscipline et
mutinerie répandus dens les ouvriers de toute espéce et de toute
couleur,lia plus grande partie ayant abandonné les ateliers pour se
livrer entidrement & la dévauche,a la fainéantisme et & 1l'indiscihpline(5)
The workmen in the island were by tradition difficult to control;the
administratos .in Ile ae France in thelr despatches to the Company
normally described them as darunkards and good-for-nothings.ve Maupin
had appointed a labour-supervisor but after two months he had bzen
forcea to resign.(6)

(I)Recueil rrimestriel.Vol Vl1.“Yorrespondance des Administrateﬁrs.Tne
Superior Councili of Bourbon to the Council of Ponaicherry.l5 way, I}gﬁ.
{2)Cossigny wes born in wmarseilles in 1650 ana servea as an b.254s
intantery officer duriaggthbeVnzroffthbs Spanish Succession.In 1715
he was appointed an ingénieur ordineire du roi afid in 1731 he was
offered a post in the Isles by Orry.See Crépin.lossigny.
(3)Recueil Trimzstriei.Vol VI.Correspondance des AGministrateurs.The
Sugerior Council of Bourbon to the Company.3 April,I734.p.189.
{4)Cossigny.Memoire sur L'iile ae Krance. (1764 )Crepin.Cossigny.p.59.

% _
(5)Eeezard . Document.s réunis.p.20.

(6 )Toussaint.Port Louis.Préface.p.viii.
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Within a month of his arrival Cossigny had quarrelled violently
with the Company agents in lIle de ¥rance.uuring his stay he managed
to compiete the buiking of a house for himself,work was commenced on a
windmill and some additions were made to a warehouse which hadvbeen
partially built in I731,but his relations with the Provincial Gouncil
g8rew steadily worse.Finally the Superior Council of 8ourﬁon_vo€ed in
favour of his expulsion from the islands.(l) Thus by 1735 scarcely any
progress had been made in the N.W. fort.The question of building a
suitable refitting station was particularly urgent since the only other
repair depot in the BKast at Pegou in Lower Burma was unsafe owing to
political unrest and after 1740 it was dangerous for French shipping to
remain for long periods in Pegou.

Apart from the immediate problems entailed in building a port the
fact remains that Ile de France was not yet sufficiently developed to
meet the demands made uron it by the creation of a revictuailing sgation.
A substantial increase in food production was essential.There were in
1735 about 60 colonists in lle de France and it appears that they were
barely able to feed themselves.La Bourdonnais wrote in his report in
I1740:"I1 etait comme d'une regle annuelle que les soldats,les ouvriers
et les habitants...fussent une partie ge l'anp€e dans le bois & vivre de
la chasse."(2)It was therefore necessal§, tHBFg¥eater part of the
inhabitants nseds by means of imports.Again, the building of a hospital
in the N.W.Port and the arrival of sailors with scurvy,and the
revictualling of ships with crews of I5u«200 men, was a very difficult
question in an island with a population of less than 1,000 inhabitants,of
which a large number were clerks,workmen and soldiers.Furthermore, in
1735 a cyclone folluwed by drought had reduced the colony to starvation.,

The N.VW.Port lay in a magnificent bay with two coral islands,Ile

-des Tonneliers and Ile de Fort Blanc at the entrance.A chain of volcanic

peeks rose behind the bay..it was a ferfect site for a port but there was
no adaquate provision for anchoring ships and the boats in the harbour
were not in a fit condition to discharge cargo.Two ships which had been
condemned, the Bourbon and the uanae,had been run eground during the
governorship of de Maupin but they served no useful purpose and lay
rotting in the bay.There were no buoys and no facilities for careening
ships.The only naval store in the pay was a hut on Ile des Tonneliers
with a staff of 20 men who maintainea the flags at the entrance to the
harbour and rowed the pilot out to incoming ships. (3jThe town was
situated on the coastal flaps.A clearing had been made in the woods
which ran down to the waters edge and a number of buildings had been
erected;a house for the Governor,huts where the soldiers were lodged,a
small hospital,a guard-room,a chapel,;a house for the chief engineer and
two or three store-houses.There were a number of wooden huts which housed
the Company clerks,workmen and slaves. (4)

Owing to the shortage of stone-masons and skilled builders many of
the bulldings were constructed of wood and therefore the town suffered
severe damage during a cyclone.The cyclone of 1128 causea widespread
damage to the small settlement:"Le .grand magasin de feuilles de 1a
Compagnie,"wrote the administrators,"fut le premier totalement abattu et

plusieurs effets et marchandises furent accablés sous les ruines.u'église

et le gouvernement eurent le méme sort,et toutes les cases(houses) ont

”

etees deécouvertes et panachées.Le poudriére...et (le)magasin de pierre
fut aussi decouvert."ﬁS) Rebuilaing was apparently very difficult ana if
the officers refused to cooperate it was out of the question.After a
cyclone soldiers were paid 20 sous per day for labouring and 25 sous for
bringing wood and leaves from the forests. (6 )Cyclones in 1751,1752,1734

(I)Crepin.Yossigny.p.50;Memoire (1750) p.I2.

(2 )Memoire (1740) p.10. _

(3)Ivid.p.27.

24}Toussaint.Port Louis.p.24-25.

5)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol Vl.Correspondance des Administrateurs.The
Provincial Council of Ile de France to the Company.29 Feb.l1728.p.41-42.

(§)Ibid.p.42, © .
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and 1735 caused serious damage in the port.Thus the village could
scarcely be termed a permanet settlement.The Company personnel and
the troops frequently deserted the town when food was in short supply;
the houses,storerooms and public buildings had to be rebuilt after a
cyclone; there were no roads and water which was sat'e for drinking had
to be carried a considerable distance.

The Company, however, was not interested in building a town at Port
Louis.They instructed La Bourdonnais to build a quayside, to improve
and develop harbour installations,to consolidate the existing Company
buildings and to fortify the port.In other words, they wanted a”
fortified factory iike the one in Pondicherry.The directors had found
Cossigny's stay in the islands very expensive and the new Governor was
directesd to reduce expenditure,especially in bullding operations in
Bourbon.¥rom I731-1754 the Company nad spent about 125,000 livres in
Ile de France alone in order to improve port facilities and the only
results were a house,a lime-kiln and a partly constructed warehouse and
winamill. (1)

The work of equipping and developing the N.W.Fort depended on four
factors;a comprshensive pian,a disciplined labour force,efficient means
of transport and a regular supply of buiiding materials.Three engineers,
de Hyon,de Sornay and Cossigny, hed all drawn up plans for the project
but they had maae very iittle progress.The Company workmen were
unskiiled and insubordinate,there were no roads suitable for transporting
timber and all carrying was done by slaves.The boats in the harbour
were in a deplorabie condition and owing to the lack of harbour
facilities ships in the island squadron were usually sent to winter in
Antongil Bay in Madagascar.Thus building materiais were expensive and
scarce;indeed,when La Bourdonnais arrived in 1755 the Company workmen
were assembling a boat which haa been sent from Bourbgn.As he wrote later
in his report in 1740:"Tout €tait 4 faire dans cette ile et qu'une
infinit€ de choses y sont si rélatives entre-elles que 1'on ne peut
travailler & l'une sans penser a l'autre ,ce qui m 'a obligé a'entrer
tout d¢'un coup dans les plus petits aetails de toutes les parties...
personne avant moi n'avait fait couper ¢e bois...n'y sier des bordages,
forme des grands chemins,attelé'des charettes et fait des quais pour
construire des bateaux et des navires."(2)

Shortly after his arrival La Bourdonnsais presented a plan to the
provincial Council,"d &tablir un port ou les vaisseaux pourralent
trouver tous les secours possible tant du coté des radoubes et de la
construction que des autres parties...et'aussit3t je pris des
arrangements....de former une marine ou il 'y eut de la suite."(3)it
is convenient to study the development of Port Lubdis as harbour,
factory and town,in sections,although as lLa Bourdonnais wrote in the
report of 1740,"La navigation des Iles,la llarine du port,et la
construction sont trois parties si rélatives les unes aux autres,que
Je ne puis en {gire des distnctions marguées sans m'sxposer & des
repétitions inévitables."(4) It is proposed,then, to examine his policy
in its severai aspects;the organisation of a harbour labour force;the
extension and improvement of harbour installations;shipbuilding;the
recrganisation of the island squadron;building operations on land;the
fortification of the fuctory and finally the development of Fort Louis
as a civic centre.

In [755 La Bourdonnais set up a well-eguipped naval storsin Port
Louis.In the following year he established a harbour force which uas
composed of a captain,a lieutenant,two pilots,two harbourmasters and

two assistants,eight stevedors(patronsjand four watchmen to guard the

\I)bemoire (1740)p.32.
2§1bia.p.2s.
z3 Ibid.p.28.
(4)1bid.p.26.
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pontoons.A number of sailors were given the duty of guarding tae harbour
launches, three of which served as pilot ships to guide incoming vessels
to an anchorage,two others being employed as lighters,They were also
available for carrying building weterials.in addition, there were five
dinghies to be used for general harbour duties.

In i740 La Bourdonnais estimatedthat he would require a total labour
force of 160 to man the harbour .(2)The Company sent out sailors,pilots,
carpenters,caulkers,rope-makers,blacksmiths,masons‘amd locksmiths feym
and from i7 December, 1727, to 23 uarch I74v,237 men were recruited for
service in the lsles.They were pald between 300-600 livres per annum for
a three year tour with free passages on the outward and homeward
journeys. {3 )The ' tat général de la dépense...zu comptoir de 1'ile de
Bourbon' gives the following informction about the annual wages of
workmen in 1737:harbour masters, 800 livres;master carpenters,690 livres;
blacksmiths, 550 livres;coopers,500 livres; joiners,’360 livres;locksmiths
250 livres.(4)If these wages are comparcd with the annual earnings of
salaried officials of the Company it would appear that skilled workers
received fairly good wages.At this time a chief clerk in Bourbon was
paid between 800-900 livres per aanum and members of the vourcil
.from 1,500 -2,000 livres.(5)Salaried officials also received a wine aad
spirit allowance,n percentage of the export of cash crops and it a;.;ears
that they were able to augment their income in a number of other ways. '

1t was, however, difficult to attract a sufficient number of skilled :
workmen and sailors to serve in lile ae France and ,therefore,the new
Uovernor was forced to use Indian sailors and slaves from West Africa
to man the harbour.iascars,as they were called by the Portuguese,were
brought from Pondicherry and surat but it was alweys difficult to
recruit them because tney feared that wnen they arrived in the Isles they
would either losea their freedom or find that they were not allowed to
practise the Hindoo religion.The firet Lascars had arrived in 1729.

They usually returnec to India when their three-year contract hed

expired. (6)It seems that they were not particularly good workers.ln

1738 the Superior Council of Bourbon wrote to the Company:"Ces Lascars
indiens,quelque favorablement que pense M.le Gouverneur,sont uniguement
propres & manoeuvrer dans un vaisseau d'un beau temps,mais réellement

trés mols,sans courzage ni force,et par conseguent peu propres au ;
cabotage continuel que nos chaloupes sont obligés de faire,et dans |
lesquelles,aussitdt quile sont hors de la vus du port,ils ne veulent

pas donner un coup d'aviron,disscnt-ile périr cent fois."(7)Wevertheless,
some 20-30 .ascars worked in the narbcur whilst La Bourdonnais was
Governor.0f the cargoes of slaves from West Africa which arrived in

Port pouis in 1739 and 1737,60 slaves were deteiled tow work in the \
harbour in 1735 and two ysars later La Bourdonnais increased the ‘
number to I00.This force supervised by European officers was sufficient
for routine harbour dutiess.

Harbour installations were extended and reorganised.The entrance
to Port Lguis was marked by an avenue of buoys with flags and a post
was egstablished on one of the hillis above the port to maintainz a
light to guide ships at night.Two siips which were no _.onger fit for
service,the Yiasne and the Luc d'Anjou,were moored in the harbour as
rontoons and used for caulking and cleaning operations.ln i735 a site
for a dry dock was chosen.Storehouses were built to accomodate harbour i
tackle and local workmen were encouraged to make rope,pulleys and punmps. .

(1) Memoire(i740) p.29. ‘
(2) Ibid.F.72. -'-" g
(3) Bourde ce lo Rogerie.lLes Bretons aux Iles.p.I55-I58. ' i
(4) Recueil Trimestriei.Vol I.p.507p508, |
(5) A lieutenant in the 'premiére navigation' was paid 120 livres per '
month,he was allowed to trade privately and he received a sPecial |
allowance if a voyage exceeded twenty months.A captain in the island !
garrison was paid between 1,007and 1,100 per annum, together with a ;

wine and gpirit allowance.

(6) Repueil Trimestriel.éorrespondance des Administrateurs.pn204,209 223,
(7)1 Mcmni re(1740) Nate EE = T3& D
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nJv'ai é%ﬂblis,"he repoted to Orry in 1740, "une cordérie...j'ai un
poulleyeur qui nous fournit d'excellents pullies et surtout des pompes
meilleures que celles de France." (I )Anfisiand. at the entrance to the
'bassin Caudan® on which & powder magazine had been constructed,was
joined by a causeway to a section of the mainland where the Cogpany
had reserved a site for the building of a headquarters.lt was the
intention of the Governor to use the lendward side of the causeway for
building and careszning ships.A narrow bayf le Bassin des Chaloupes’,
was deepened and enclosed by two jetties and in this bay uia Bourdonaais
constructed a machime for raising snips of 150 tons above sza level for
scraping and repairing.From 1735-1744 a considerable number of ships
were refitted in the port.(2)

The smaller craft in the harbour and tiae fr;gateo and sloops in
the 'seconde navigation® were in a bad state of repair.ia sSourdonaais
was determined not only o renovate existing ships but also to crezte
a shipbuilding industry.Hditherto, materials for shapbuilding had bezn
imported from France and Bourbon;comuenting on this in the report of
1740 he wrote:"Quels frais pour porter du bois dans une 1le gui n'est
gue bois et ou il ne manguait gque de . ‘industrie." (3 )He began by
constructing smali boats for the harbour snd when the port had a full
complement he sold some long bozts to local fishermen.keter, harbour
launches were constructed for export to Bourbon.The labour prob;em was
overcome by the introduction of & scheme to apprentice siaves to
Buropean ehipbuilders and in 1740 there were 158 slaves learning
trades,of which 58 were carpenters,.18 caulkers,b sailmakers,6 coopers,
4 pulleymakers 6 ropemekers and 60 apprentice sallors.\4)

When a corps of skilled shipworkers had been trained the wovernor
wes able to plan a more ambitious shipbui.alng programme.A 100 ton
lighter was built and later two barges ior carrying sané and ballast,

a ship for carrying water,a barge for transporting firewood to incoming
vessels and a specielly constructed boat for heating pitch for caulking.
a dredging barge was also built to keep the harbour free from silt and
mud, These ships were for general port duties and in 1739 La Bourdonnais
began to build bigger ships for the 'seconde naw1gat10n'.uur1ng his
first tour of duty two ships were built,a schooner,the Créole,of 80
tons,and the Necessaire of a 150 tons, The iatter was almost compxete

in 1140 when the Governor left lle de France:'ce sera un tres beau
navire,"he reoorted to Orry,"et qui aurait éte bien plutot fini sans que
nous avons eté constraint de faire des radoubs considérables."{5)

The directors aid not approve of the shipbuilding programme and
in 1759 La Bourdonnais was ordered to discontinue the work on the
Nécessairs.The Duc d'anjou, however had been stiripped and converted into
a pontoon and since the fittings were availabie it was decided to
continue the work of construction.(6)ln 1740 La Bourdonnais made a plea
for the continuation of his shipbuilding programme.”ll ne s'agit donc,"
he informed Orry,"désormeis que l'entretenir de plus vingt a vingt cing
meitres charpentiers,quatre & cing calfaus ct deux 4 trois bons forgerons
...un objet de vingt mil livres par année;et manqgue de cette pet;te
depense la Compagnie perdera les trois quarts de 1'utilite qu'elile
peut retirer de son port ct de. son rclache."(7}In the seme report he
pointed out that he could build a snip of between 800-600 tons each
year if the fompany would agree to cooperate.Zn _

In I740 the French shipyard at Pegou in lower Burma became unsafganh

(I)Méﬁoire(1740) p.30.
(2)Ibid.p.3I-32.
{3)Ibid.p.28.
(4)Ibid.p.30,0n0teXXIX, y.l)6
(5)1bid.p.31; Toussaint.Fort Louis.p.3I.
(6 )Ibid.Note XXIX.p. 135.
{7)ibid.p.13.
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Moreover,war broke out in Burope.When Le Bourdomnais returned to France
he was therefore able to persuade the directors to support a modest
shipbuilding programme in Port Louis.He returned to Ile de France in
1741 with a master shipbuilder,30 shipbuilders,2 wood carvers and a
gilt painter and in 1742 the uompany sent him 24 carpenters.These
sorkmen trained slave-apprentices and by 1743 the shipyard had completed
two frigates,the Utile(25v tons) and the Insulaire(35V tons) and several
long boats which were sent to sourbon to carry coffee from St.Plerre and
St.Bendit to St.uenis,and to transport coral from Il: de France. (1)The
Insulaire was an expensive ship to build and when it was finally
launchec it was found to be too heavy.Some timber was removed from the
keel and the ship was successfully floated.(2)In 1741 the Company
declared that from I January,Il742,to 31 Uecember,1747,the two islands
could trade freely with Indian ports and with France and in 1743 the
directors advised the Governor to limit shipbuilaing.The administrators
were ordered to sell or rent all ships in the island squadron save the
Kenommée to private merchants.(3)The free-trade experiment was not a _
success but shipbuilding in Port Louis was discontinued.In 1746 1La -
Bourdonnais left Ile de France for Indie,

In becember,I733, the directors reorganised their merchant fleet.
The ships of the Company were divided jinto two sections,the 'premiere
navigetion'which comprised ships with a freight-carrying capacity
exceeding 450 tons,and the tgeconde navigation' which containea smaller
ships with a freight-carrying capacity of 200-300 tons.In fact,the
division indicated the kind of voyage underteken by the ships;those in
the ‘'premiere navigation' were used for voyages beyond the Cape of Good
Hope;those in the 'seconde navigation' were used for communications in
and between the islands in the Imdian Qcean and for slave-trading in
Madagascar and West Afgica.There wae a difference in the scales of pay;
captains in the 'premiere navigation' receiveda 200 livres per month
wnereas in the ‘seconde navigation' they were paid 150 livres per month,
In 1757 there were 25 ships in the ‘premidre navigation' and ten in the
tgeconde navigation'.The normal life of a ship in the first category was
14 years and that of & ship in the island squadron was from 4 to5 years(4)

in 1731 there were 5 ships in the island squadron,the Legere, the
oubtile, the Indien,the Oiseau and the Hirondelle.ln the following year
a Portuguese interloper wvas siezed,renamed the St.dean 1'igvangeliste
and added to the squadron.The Diane which arrived from Surope in 1732
was retained in the lsles and the fstree joined the island fleet in the
same year.The Atalante was added in I734 and the Vauphine in I73%.Two
other ships,the Griffon and the Jupiter were also in commission by
1735. (5)fhen La Bourdonnais arrived he found that the squadron had
been neglected:"De toutes les embarcations que J'ai trouvées aux Iles,"
he wrote,"ii n'y en avait pas une qui ne fut dans un état pitoyable."(6)
Owing to the lack of harpour installations and the shortage of food, ships
were sent to winter in Madagescar and they frequently remained there
for nine or ten months in a single voyage.This made 1t aifficult to
arrange tor the exchange of sailors,who had served in the Isles for
three years or more,for newly-arrived sailors.moreover, a Uompany
shipping office which could arrange for the payment of sailors in the
'sedonde navigation' had not been established and crews were given bills
of credit waich could be drawn on the head office at Lorient.These,
however ,wers freguently lost or sold for food and drink, (7)

(I)Lougnon.Gorrespondance.Vol IV.Introduction.p.XXXVIII.

(2 )Recueil Trimestriel.Vol I.Ile de France towards I755.A Dalrymple.p.J60.
!

The Insulaire ended its career in India.
(3 )Lougnon.Yorrespondance, Vol iV.Introduction.p.XXXIX.
(4)Cuttru.bupleix.p.24-27,p.34. :
%5)Méhoire(1740)ﬂote 68.p.134;uLougoon.Lorrespondance. ¥61.1¥.Introd.p.XL.
6jIbid.p.27. A -
{7)Ibvid.n.27.
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The new Governor established a shipping office and all accounts
were in future sent to the head-office at Lorient.The shipping office
also arranged for the exchange of crews.5hips in the island squadron
were overhauled and renovated and instructions were given to ship§
captains that voysges to Madegascar should not take more than three
months.furthermore captains in the 'seconde navigation' were given an
allowende of 35 sous per day to provide food and wine for their officers.
Before the arrival of Le Bourdonnais the Company had provided the food
and wine served at the captain's table but thls had proved expensive.

During the seventeen thirties there was a constant shortage of
manpower for the ships in the island squadron and although the Company
engaged sailors in Lorient for service in the Isies La Bourdonnais
tried to find alternative sources of recruitment.He realised that it
was too expensive to keep European sailors in the Isles and he wanted
to replace members of the lower deck by lascars,and French officers by
colonists. from Bourbon.Lascars were already recruited for the seconde
navigation' but they were coastal sailors who rarely ventured out of
sight of land and they did not prove satisfactory for the long and
arduous voyeges of ships of this class.In the report of 474v ia
Bourdonnaie suggested training selected colonists who woula slowly
replace all French officers in the squadron."Cependant, *he wrote,"le
mieux serait d'avoir des officiers comme il faut,capables d'inspirer
des sentiments aux jeunes gens des colonies dont il faudrait peu & peu
composer la merine des Iles."(I)

In 1741 the directors advised the administrators in Bourbon to
publicise the fact that the Gompany was prepare to accept ensigns ‘ad
honores and student pilots aboard ships of the 'premiére navigation'.(2)
At this time there was no place in the economy of Bourbon for young
men without capital and the directas hoped that service at sea would
provide an alternative career to that of planting.The colonists, however,
were unwilling to go to sea;Bourbon did not possess a good port;
navigation was extremely difficult and therefore there was no tradition
of seamanship.Furtheruore,if a colonist joined the crew of a ship his
action led to almost complete social ostracism;it was only the poorest
class of white which performed manual tasks.

When help was needed in Pondicherry in 1741 La Bourdonnais was
hard pressed to find a sufficient number of recruitis to man the ships
for the expedition.He again tried to recruit local men by promises of
free food and regular promotion if they would sign on in the island
squadron,but he does not appear to have been successful and he was
forced to ask planters for faithful slaves who wished to be sailors.

He was  therefore compellea to ask the directors to continue the
recruitment of sailors in surope.In March,1740, there were 282 French
sailors in the Isles;la Bourdonnais needed 4U0 to enable him to
organise an equitable system of reliets.In i741 the Company sent 200
men to the Isles,in I742,150 and in 1743, 150.After I745 recrultment
ceased because the Company hada given permission for free trade in the
Isles and the old system of teking a limited number of sailors from
ships arriving from durope was reestablished.In 1744 when La Bourdonnais
was preparing his expedition to Indla the shortage of sailors was so
acute that he was constrained to recruit faithful slaves.|(3)

From 1735-1740 two of the ships in the island squadron were lost
at seaj;in 1737 the Atalante disappeered during a cyclone and in 1739
the Subtile was lost off the Malabar Coast.luring the same period,
however ,the fleet carried 3,500 slaves,b,0U00 oxen and over 1,v00,000
pounds of rice to Ile de France and Bourbon.ln 1740 there appgar to have
been 7 ships in the squadron,the uriffon{450tons), the Fuivy de 1'Inde

(1)Mémoire (1740)p.71.
{2)Ibid.vote,p.4195.
(3 jLoug¢non.Lorrespondance.Vol IV.Introduction.p.aLIi-XLIII.
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\4U0 tons),the Hirondelle(180 tons),the Aigle(7v tons) and 3 smaller
craft.This number was wholly insufficient for the needs of the Isles.
The report of 1740 contains an estimate of the number and type of ships
required for service in the 'seconde navigation'!.i10 ships are listed;

2 ships of between 450 anc 800 tons with isuropean crews,for carrying
slaves and oxenj;2 of between I50 and 200 tons with furopean crews,for
carrying slawes;4 of between 80 and 100 tons with Lescar crews,for
communication between the Isles and for tramsporting turtles from
Rodrigues;1 store ship of 600-300 tons and a ship of 300-400 tons for
emergency duties. (I)

During La Bourdonnais' second tour of duty the island squadron was

. neither able to maintain adequate communications between the lsles nor
to bring in a sufficient quantity of slaves and food.The directors hed
intenddd to replace unseaworthy ships in the squadron with ships which,
like the Fulvy de 1l'Inde,had been built at Pegou in lower Burma,but after
L1740, shipbuilding and even repair work was impossible in this port owing
to internal troubles.la Bourdonneis tried to increase the number of ships
in the 'seconde naviggtidn' by meens of & shipbuilding programme in
Port Louis but from 1741-1745 additional ships from lndia and Surope
were neeagg to safeguerd supplies of skees and food.In I74I the Jupiter
ana the ieron brought 50 slaves from Senegal;In 1743 the Duc d'Orléans
and the St.Géran each brought 50 slaves;in 1744 the Héron and the St.
Géran carriecd 60 slabes and a private merchant imported an unknown
number in 1745.The Governor who wished to establish trads relations with
China,&ast Africa and the Cape was hard pressed to find ships for thgse
projects and in I741 he was forced to retain two ships of the ‘premiere
navigation' for the expedition to Pondicherry. (2)

In 1755 La Bourdonnais drew up plans for the construction of a
factory in the N.W.Port.The Company had reserved a large area of land
in the.port for the building of a fortified trading post but prior to
the arrival of the new Governor most of the buildings were of a
temporary character.Two engineers,de Sornay and Cossigny,had submitted
. plang to the provincial Council but they were unable to put them into
operation;from I731-1735 the only buildings completed were a lime kiln
and a house for the chief-engineer.In I735 an engineer named Gerbaud
was supervising the construction of a windmill and a warehousé but the
workmen,aczording to lLa Bourdonnais, were incompetent, "acotitumes a 1°
ivrognerie et & la license,fruits d'une grande oisivite."(3)In addition,
materials were scarce and expensive,the roads were non-existent and the
only form of transport was by slave labour,

Shortly after his arrival La Bourdonnais issued a code of
regulations for the Company workmen in order to improve discipline.ln
1751 he tried to check drunkenness among the workmen by the introduction
of a new scheme for 'allocating brandy.At this time skilled workers
reckeved a brandy allowance valued at 9 livres per month and unskilled
workers an allowance worth 6 livres per month,with the result,according
to La Bourdonnais;"Ils ont plus qu'il ne leur faut de boisson,puisqu'ils
sont presque toujours ivres."(4)From January,1738, onvards ,brandy could
omly be obtained in exchange for a voucher which the workers bought at
the Company store.imployees who did not drink or who did not wish to
take their full allowance of brandy were thus able to tise their
allowance for buying food and merchandise.(5)The Governor also introduced
an apprenticeship scheme in the workshops and on the building sites and
by 1740 there were I37 apprentices(64 slaves and 73 Indians).Finally,
the issue of tools was regulated and in I739 workmen were given a tool
allowance which varied according to the status of the individual.(7)

(I)Memoire(I740) p.71-72.
(2)Lougnon.Correspondance.Voi 1V.introduction.p.XLI1I-XL¥.
(7 )Memoire (1740) p.53.
4)Ibid.p.105.
(5)Ibia.Note XIV.Regulations,lec.I737 and April,I1739.p.I103-I10.
(6)Ibid.p.35,Note XXIX.p.143.

(7)Ibid.Note XXX.Regulation,22 April,I739.p.I435-153.
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g Communicaﬁgops_were improved, The tracks between Port Louis,Moka and
Pamplemouases were widened;carts were constructed and dreught oxen were
imported from Madagascar.The price of wood dropped congiderably as a
result.In 1735 timber cost between 2 and 3 sous per foot,but in 1740

the price was only 6 or 7 deniers.(I)Transport facilities improved and in
174v Le. Bourdonnais reported;"Presentement dens les deux les une pidce
de bois ne colite que 35 sous rendue au port,bois et charrois compris,
tandis qu'autrefois elle colitait des 120 journdes de noirs de tirage
seulement et quelquefois plus."(2)

The Superior Council of Bourbon frequently made contemacts with
private individuals who agreed to supply building matericls and
occasionally to construct buildings and roads.La Bourdonnais extended
this system.,A lieutensnt in the garrison in Bourbon,de Granville,signed
a contract with the Governor to supply planks and he brought a group of
workmen to Jle de France.La Bourdonnalis gave him a loan of I6 slabes
from his own plantation but de Granville failed to fulfill the contract.
Another agreement was made with de Roman,an ex-officer from the garrison
in Ile de France,and contracts were also given to de St.Jean and Mallet.
i1t appeers that a regular supply was bbtained and timber prices dropped
by at least two thirds of the prices prevailing in 1735.(3) Contrects
were made with two merchants,d'Ache and Danelle who agreed to supuly
lime.In 1735 the Company paid 2 livres I0 sous for a barrel of lime;in
1736 .d'Ache received a loan of 8 slaves from the Company together with a
further 10 and a waggon from La Bourdonnais and he agreed to suyply lime
at 30 sous a barreli.In 1738 the price dropped to 20 sous and in the
following year another merchant cooperated with d'Ache and the price
dropred to Ib sous.Similar contracts were made with planters with
large slave gangs in Hourbon for supplying wood and constructing concrete
platforms for drying toffee.(4) _

In all of these transactions La Bourdonnais had a private interest
since he supplied the contractors with slaves and waggons from his own
estate.He also made use of Company work gangs.He took a proportion of
the profits and since he was personally involved procuction increased.
it appears,however, that the members of the Superior Council of Ile de
France were not entirely satisfied with this state of aftairs and they
put forward a proposal for the setting up of a lime and timber office..in
April, 1739, La Bourdonneis called & meetihg of the Council and read a
report on all contracts made with local entrepreneurs.After hearing the
report the councillors voted that the system should continue and asked
for further tenders to be bubmitted to the Gouncil. (8)There can be little
doudbt that the system led to abuses but La Bourdonnais and his associates
at least produced the necessary materials and moreover, prices fell,The
Council in Ile dé France did not-have at its disposal & sufficient number
of workmen to supply lime and timber and the participation of La
Bourdonnais was probably necessary:"Personne ne voulant rien entreprendre
que je ne fus son associ€ s'imaginant ne pouvoir perdre.* (6)

The report of i740 contains a list of the buildings completed in
Port Louis from I735-1740.(7)1t would appear that about twenty public
buildings were erected duringgthe Governor's first tour of duty.Iin
addition a number of queys,walled gardens and fortifications were built.
By 174v lLa Bourdonnais had succeeded in creating a factory in Port Louis.
The settlement contained a government housga chapel,several warehouses

- and shops,a powder megazine,an armoury,a’ canal for supplying fresh water,

(1)Mémoire(I740) p.35.
(2)ivid.p.14. .
(3)Ibid.p.57~58,note,p.187.
(4)Ibid.note XXX.p.I145-153.
(5)Ibid.p.147-148,

(6 )Ibid.p.58.

(7 )See-appenaix, [bid.p.14u-I42,



two windmills,a number of defence works and a hospital. (I}

The French East India Company maintained a number of hospitals in
the overseas sttlements owing to the prevalence of scurvy among ships
crews.in I735,a wooden hut containing about thirty beds served as the
hospital in ile de France.Shoriiy aiter his arrival La Bourdonnais built
similar huts and a stone kitchen,a temporary arrangement until a suitable
site had been chosen for a new hospital.lt was found that scurvy cases
did not improve in rort Louis and in I736 huts were built in Baie des
Tortues. (2)0fficers were sent to the Governor's private house,Monplaisir,
a property in Pampiemousses which he had purchased in 1736.(3)In I738
the Company decided to buy the house for use as a hospital.The outhouses
were converted inio wards accommodating 160 men,while in the house itself
were twelve private rooms for the officers.(4)

La Bourdonnais realised that the hospital in Pamplemousses could
only be oi' a temporary nature because his successor might decided to
reside there during the summer months.He therefore began work on a
hospital in Port Louis,betwecen the Bassin des Chaloppes and the Trou
Fanfaron.An aqueduct was built to bring a supply of fresh water to the
hospital and provision was made for at least 240 beds.In Harch,I74]
St.Martin,the pirector of ¢ommerce in Ile de France,wio was at that time
Acting Governor,wrote to Orry,"d'ai fait aussi achever 1'hopital que
M. de La Boq;rdonna.is avait fait commencer,et ou il y a actuellement 300
lits pour retablir et rafraichir les dquipages de tous les vaisseaux de.

_ la Compagnie?(5)

There appear to have been a number of complaints about corruption
and mal-administration in the hospital in Port Louis.In March,I739,
Cossigny informed QOrry that whilst the Governor,councillors and guests
were celebrating the opening of th: new agueauct the patients were dying
of hunger.(6)In the report of 1740 La Bourdonnals explained the difficulty
of providing fresh meat,especially during the cyclone season,and he
claimed that he personally hed supervised the administretion of the
hospital."Je m'étais fait une régle cette derniere année,"he wrote,
"d?aller tous les jours a hiit heures de matin a 1'hopital,et y
emmener le major de semaine,un officier des troupes et un de chaque
vaisseau, je visitals les malades, jugeais les differens,voyais ls nourriture
du jour et commandais un officier de terre et de marine pour se trouver
a4 la digtribution qui s'en faisais."(7)The dishoncsty of the civilians
who worked in the hospital prompted the Governor to suggest that it
should be administered by a religious order but it was not until 1770
that the nospital was taken over by the Order of St.Paul de Chartres, (8)

(I) Seg diagram.p. /&

(2) Memoire(I740)p.I5-I6.

(5) Recueil Trimestriel.L'Ancien Jardin du Roi:ie Monplaisir,Vol I.p.486.

(4) Mémoire(1740)p.16.

(5) Ibid.Note 80.p.126.

(6) Ibid.p.127.

(7) Ibid.p.2I.

(8) Ibid.p.58. In Bourbon a hospital with accommodation for 100 patients
was built in St.Paul in I734.The directors were dissatisfied with
the administraticn of the hospital and in the same year they
recomuendeds ®une administation plus active et plus regulifre,” and
they criticised the administrators for failing to provide a
satisfactory ration of food and also for leaving sailors who were
ill with scurvy for hours on the sand before they were finally taken
to hospital.(Lougnon.ﬁorrespondance.vol 11.The Company to the
Superior Council of BBurbon.Il October,I734.p.249.)In the report to
Orry La Bourdonnais stated that he was satisfied that the hospital
was functioning efficiently. (Mémoire(I1740).p.68.)
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i,a Bourdonnais fortified the factory.In 1736 he constructed a
gun position near a windmill which lay east of the hospital(batteite
a la paiat Desforges) and in L738 he built another battery on the site
of the Place d'Armes,facing the sea,which was called batterie de la
Salut.(l)in the following vear he bsgan work on two small forts on the
Ile aux Tonneliers and on 1Ile du Fort Blanc.Work was probably begun in
the same yezr on a fortified trench which ran from the salt pans at
Caudan to the factory. (2)The Governor,however,was dissatisfied with
the fortifications and in the report of I740 he pointed out thair
weaknesses: "Il est vrai que l'entrse du port du N.0. sera défendu...
Mais les. ennemis peuvent venir par terre attaquer le port sans craindre
les fortifications e l'zntrée..a loge gue nous faisons peut Dbien nous
mettre & 1l'ebri d'un coup de meain,mais six conons de campagne y Teront
une bréche en six heurss.Tous ces inconvenients m'avait fait penser
qu'il nous faliait une citadelie."(3)

During hls second tour of duty it apv-ears that La Bourdonnais
intended to concentrate all the Compuny warehouses in one locality,to
construct a strong fortified wall arcund the settlement and to build
forts and gun positions on the slopes of the mountains behind the port
in order to defend the factory from an attack by land.A rectangular
wall was built which enclosed the Place d'Armes and the parade ground
and look-out posts were constructed.The entrence to the harbour was
already guarded by two fortified islands and after 1741 the
forzafications weres strengthened.rlhe breadth of the channel between
the islands was about 500 yards wide and therefore all ships entering
the harbour came within range of the cannons.The Goveraor also plannca
to buiid a citacelie on the plateau on the slopes of the Pouce which
lay behind the town. (4) ) .

The direcdors approved of the Governors pians to build additional
forts to yrotect Port bouis from an attack by sea but they forbade him
to construct an elaborate defence system.They believed that batteries
constructed in Urande Riviere Bay and Bale du Tombeau would prove
adaquate if an attack were made by land.In I744,moreover,thsy ordered
La Bourdonnais to suspend all building operations in the port.

La Bourdonnais was disturbed by the temporary nature of much of
the property in Ile de France and he encouraged planters,Company
workmen and others to build permanent homes.In the report of 1740 he
described this problem which was common to all French colonies in the
eighteenth century."Généralement...les Frangais qui sont aux iles
songent & amasser du bien pour s'en retourner dang la vatrie,"hgwrote,~
"les crecles sont trop faineéants...pour concevoir ie dessiin de '
s'etablir mieux que leurs peres:de la vient que nos colonies...
ressemblent toute la vie a des colonies nouvelles...Ne dans un pays ou
quand on a du bien on se procure non seulement la necessaire mais méne
l'agréable,rien n'est si naturel que de voulolr y retourner,parce quse
rien n'est si charmant que de vivre avec agrément.Ainsi pour retenir
ou retarder au moins le deépart des colons il faut donec...leur procurer
non sculement L'utile mais encore l'agreable.C'est pourguoi j'ai
commence” par les engager a batir solidement & la ville at 2 ia campagned5)

during his firzt tour La Bourdonnais d;empted to create & town of
Bort Louis.He planned to build 2 number of workmens cottages but his
partner,retit,withdrew from the scheme and the pian did not go forward. (6)
A public market was set up in Port iouis and the Governor encouraged
workmen from India to seéttle in the town and open shops.lUrants were
made to this end and by 1740 there were a number of goldsuiths, tanners
anc ropemsk:rs established in the town.(7) It appears that La Bourdonnais

(2 ghﬂe/moire(INO) Note,p.i31.
(2)Toussaint.Port iouis.p.36.
(3 )lscmoire (I740) p.64.
(4)Lgygnon.Correspondance. Vol AV.introduction.p.)-l/, Tousaseint.Fort Louis.
“ (5 Muéinoire (1340 )p.5-6. p.37-38.
6)ibid,.Note I.p.8)5.
i" )lbidlposo )
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built fubiic assembly rooms at some time during his second tour. (I)A
supply of fresh water wes brought to the town by-means- of a canas

7,200 Yards long,rinning from Grande Riviére,about one mile from Port
Louis to & public fountain in Rue de la Pompe and subsidiary pipes
carried water to the hospital and the harbour.(2)
- The directors did not approve $e-buiof the plan to develop a town
round the harbour of Port Louis and,probably in 1739, they wrote to
La Bourconnais:“Nous ne comprenons pas votre maniére de penser;vous vous
éloignez trés fort des vues de la Compagnie qui ne vous a nomme
Gouverneur que peur lul falre constrinire des magesins,faire les logements
pour les empioyés et les ouvriers,metire les lles en Stat de défence par
de simples batteries,et lui procurer des...vivres...pour la relache de
ses valsceauX...si vous réunissez tous les habitants dans une ville que
deviendront les habitations ou la presence du maitre est nécessaire?Par
gui scront-elles gardees,les maltres etant absents?Le noir marron aurait
un beau jeul®"(3) o

La Bourdonnais advised the directors to continue the work of

building a town when he made his report in 1740."Wu les noirs ouvriers
que la Compagrie a présentement, "he wroteb“;..les matdriaux qui sont a
grand compte,et...que la machine est montee et~entrain d'aller;vu...
tous ces avantages, je serais du sentiment dg'b&tir tous les ouvrages

gue l'cn peut prevoir Etre necessaire. pour établir les lles au mieux...
ainsi avec le temps les Iles parviendront...& un point de perfection ou
on ne lzs verra jsmais si une fois l'on interrompt le cours des travaux? (4)
When La Bourdonnais returned to the Isles in I74I,however,conditions
had chenged;3urope was at war,and he-expected that the conflict would
spread to India.During his second tour he concentrated on fortifying
the factory and on shipbuilding.ln 1744 the Company ordered him to
suspend &ll construction work and to reserve the materiels at his
disposel for raepairs when necessary.Company workmen were to be sent
back to France or hired out to private contractors.Shortly afterwards,
La Bourdonneais' energies were to be diverted elsewhere.

e

Memoire (1740 )Note.p.85-86.

Ibid.p.I17-18,Note.p.125-126.C0ssigny who was ingénieur du roi aux
Iles from I736-1739 wrote to Orry in Harch,1739,criticising the
construction of the canal.In fact,it nad to be rebuilt in 1749 and
again in 1756. : '

St.ilme le Duc.lie de France.p.43,

Memoire(1740)P.74, : :
Lougnon,.Correspondance.Vol 1V.The Company to the Superior Council of
Iie de France,lI April,i744.p.l41-142,

——
N =
e g

P-’\’\.
(S, ¢ R W]
S St S



20

11. Public Works : Iransport and Communications in

Ile de France and Bourbon.

Internal communications in the two isiands were almost non-existent.
In Ile de France there were several paths,"faits aus hosard selon que
les passans les avalent freyes,"(l) and in Bourbon.likewise footpaths
were the only.means of communication between the various settlements,
although in 1730 two private contractors had compieted a road from -
St.rPaul to St.Denis.(2)The usual method of transport was by means of
slave labour."C'est par ces cherins," La Bourdonnais informed Crry in
1740, "cue tout venait des habitations sur le dos des noirs. f[igurez-vous,
Mongieur,quel travail c'est de transporter a force d'homme par monts et par
vaux deux & trois millions de livres per chague annce,soit cn caffée
ou autres denrées de dix- et méme vingt lieus de distance."(3)The
labour of betwesn 40 and 50 siaves for three days was reguired to
transport & beem of wood from the forests in the interior to the
coustal villages.The transport of masts for ships which had been
damaged was a major operationjin lecember,4731 the Superior Council of
Bourbon informed the VYompany:"Il a failu cent hommes pendant huit jours
pour rendre au bord de la mer un mat de hune de 55 pieds de long que
Bous venons de fournir au Royal-~Philippe.®(4)

The problem of communications was particularly acute in Bourbon
where the tracks had been allowed to deteriorate.The island had a
rapidliy expanding populetion,coffee-production was on the increase and |
in addition there were a number of plantations,notably in the Quartiere
Riviére d'Abord,which were so isolated trat local planters were unable
to transport their coffee to the Company warehouses in St.lenis and
St.Paul. (5)%hortly after his arrival in the Isles La Bourdonaais
surveyed Bourbon and selected a number of routes which appeared
syitable for road construction;as he himself wrote in the report of
I740:"Je sais que de la facilite de transport depend la richesse des
habitants de tout pays."(6)However, he quickly discovsred that the
Company lacked both the men and the materials to build new roands and he
therefore decided to re-imposec ordinary corveées for road building.

The Company had seigneurial rights in Bourbon and Ile de France
and one of the most important was the power to exact a corvée.lle de
France was a snali and underdeveloped colony in 1735 ana dt is probable
that the administrators frequently waived their right to exact statute
labour.In Bourbon.hwever, which had a population of 8,000(2,000 zuropeans
and 6,000 slaves)in I735,the planters were expected to contribute
slaves for public works and to cooperate with the Company in developing
the colony.There were two kinds of stutute laebour,ordinary corvées and
extracrdinary corvées.ln 1724 the former were fixed at 2 days unpaid
labour each year for every slave owned.The Company used this unpaid
labour for road repairs and for building purposes.sxirzordimary
corvees were levied when the LCompany needed labour or meaterials for
urgent wvork;for example,in L7535 La Bourdonnals, wno had received
instructions tof fortify Bourbon,ordered the pianters to contribute
timber in bheams or in planks in return for which the Company agreed to
accept coffee crops for sale in sdurope in proportion to the amount of
(1)démoire (I74C) p.13.
{(2)1bid.Note 32.p.I1I.
{(3;Iibid.p.13. )
(4)1lbid.p.13,80te 35,p.i1I-112.
{5)ibid.p.12.

(6)1lbid.p.L3.
(7)Ibid.Note33.p.112.
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tinvor suppsleﬂ-\Ll
Corvees were very unpopular,and,in the absence of e strong eexbral

central authority in the island,it is probable that the planters failed
to contribute either slaves or materials The colonists in Bourbon had
protested against the corvée regulations introduced in I724 snd two
years later the directors agreed to limit contributions.In 1726, corvées
were levied in proportion to the.number of adult working slaves owndd
and ordinary statute labour was restricted to building operations for
the Compeny.Although the nevw reguletions were an honest attempt to find
a reasonable method of assessment the Company did not benefit.FPlanters
normally submitted false returne and,moreover, the aaministirators were

. desperately short of skilled workmen and builcing meterials and

conseguently when slave gangs from various plantations were assembled
in the Compeny workshops or on building sites it was aifficult to find
them any work to do.After 1726 the slave gangs do not ap.ear to have
been used for the work of repairing existing tracks and when a new road
was built from 1729-1730 the Superior Counciil of Bourbon made a private
arrangement with local entrepreneurs.(?)

The re-imposition of ordimary corvses for road building in 1735
did not produce any improvement in communications.Gangs of slaves were
recruited from planters in the various aistricts through which trucks
ran or through which the new roads were to be built but thz Superior
Council could not find any skilled rosa makers to direct the activities
of the siave gangs.The Council introduced further measures in 1737 but
ho progress was meae and therefore in the foilecwing year two roed-
surveyors were appinted.They were given a miiitady runk en annial
salary of 1080 livres and certain emoluments,"juscu't i'entiare
perfection dus chemins,®(3)Under the new regulations of 1738 all
pianters were recuired to contribute two days unpaid siave-iabour for
every siave ownad of hoth sexes and all ages ard the Council announced
that they must be strong snough to undertake the work,otherwise tne
road-surveyors had the power to send them back.If uny planter fziled to
send his guota and it was proved that his slaves were physically fit
he was required to make #ood the time that ad been lost.The surveyors
were authorized to move and rebuild houses which lay in the peth of
projected roads.The Council was to provide tcols;and if bridges hsd to
be buiit, t.ie administrators were to send skilied worikmen,if they were
available, to take charge of operations.The surveycrs were instructec to
buy food for the slaves from iLocal pranters by means of chits which
could be exchanged at the Company offlce at st.Denis, (4)

The levying of ozdlna;y corvdes,"par chacue tite d'escipve,gu il
s'agit d'un noird'une négresse,d'un negrlllon ou d'une négrite,"was
bitterly resentec¢ by the planters and in 1739 the Company issued new
regulations.From I January,1740,ordinary corveées were reducec to four
days unpaid labour for each working slave,mzie or female,betwezn the
age of fourteen &nd sixty.rthe siaves were recuired to work two cays on
the roads and two cays on eompany building sites sach year.The corvde
wis made general ana ell slave owners in the island were affectesd;zven
the priests were ord:red to send siaves if they had more than sixteen
on the land attas$ched to the church.fach month a stetement of the
number of slaves required from individual planters wes to be drawn up
and nohce of contiributions was to be given well in advance.Receipts for
corveed quties wiich had been fulfilled were to be given to plgnters
who ,when they wished to deposit coff'ee in the Uompany wurehouse,of to
buy goods,were reyuired to present them to the chief storekeepar.
Planters wio failed to produce their cuotz of slawes were to be fined,
the money being used Tor the hiring of other sl°ves.(5)

(I)Memoire(i740idote 55.padil.
(2)Ibid.p..i2.

(3)Ibid.p.i42-113.

(4)Ibid.p.112,

(5)Ivid.Note ZXXILI.p.162-163,174.
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L8 nouraoﬁzuls tried to rnmhdy the shortage of labour and
haterials by recourse to extraordinary corveées.He considerad that the
digcount on the repayment of loans to the Company justified the
1m0031tion of this kind of tax and in I735 he demanded an extraordinary
corvee which was assessed in timber.In the same year jhowever, a
deputation of colonists persuadad him to abaddish thlq measure in return
for an extraordinary corvée for genaral building purnoses at the rate
of one days unpaid labour for =very twenty slaves on a plantation,male

d female alike, between the age of fourtzen andthirty five.This
regulation was to remain in force until December,I736, but in August of
that year La Bourdonnals extendad it for a further twelve months.In
January and February,I737 there were two cyclones in Bourbon and the
Superior Council decidad to suspend extraordimary corvees yalthough they
made it clear that they were still legal.This statement was inserted
in the orders which weres issued after the cyclones because many of the
planters had failed to contribute their quota of slaves in the previous
year and the councillors intaded to claim these unfulfilled duties when
the emergency had ended.The colonists however, had no intention of
fulfilling thelr oblizations and lat er in the ysar a groups of 62
planters prescnted a netition to the dirsctors in paris: MemoLre des vols
et concussions exercds sur les pauvres sujzts de S.H. trés chrestienne
le Roi ﬂe Frence,les habitantis de 1'lle de Bourbon ,par la2s srs.de
La Bourdonnpis...et d'Heguerty,procureur du roi au Conseil Superieur?(l)

The directors sympathised with the colon;sts and pointed out to
the Superior Council that extraordinary corvées in Bourbon were far too
heavy.In February,i739, they expressed the opinion that ordinary corvets
should be sguf flclent for the needs of the Company."Il est bon, "they
wrote,"qu'ellesne subsistent plus et que vous ayez fait rendre aux
habltunts leurs noirs.”.s nourdonnai.,,ho“ewr explained ithat
extraordinary corvees were essential for the development and
- maintenance of public works(Despatch of 20 Novembur}I739) and in 1741
the Company agreed to re-impose extraordinary corvees, although, the
colonists were allowed to commute these labour services for a payment
of I0 sous per slave par day.(2)

It is therefore not surprising that very little was achikved during
La Bourdonnazis' first tour of duty.By L1740 ,however a road from 3t.lenis
to Ste.Suzanne was almost complets and work was in progress on a road
from St.Paul to Rivisre d'Abord.Much remainsd ts be done and in the
report of I7T40 La Bourdonnais warned Orry that Bourbon would not have a
sat19factory road system for many ysars to come.'"Ne croyez pas," he
wrote,"...que les chemins soient un ouvrage prét a finir,il s'en faut
bien:c'est encore un travail de 15 annees a 800 noirs pour avoir dand
les Iles tous les chemins qui sont necessaires & la commodits publique” (3)

It became increasingly clear to La Bourdonnais that ag improvement
in the internal communications in Bourbon could not be ffected by any
scheme of joint action between Vomjany andcmlonists which involved
statute labour.By 1742 it appears that many of the colonists refused to
contribute slaves either for ordinary or extraordinary corveéas.In July
1738 a planter named Philippe u'Achéry was imprisoned for thirty déys
by order of the Superior Council for refusing to contribute his guota
of slaves for statute labour.Shortly 9fterwa,rds he visited France and
obtained a special writ from the Conseil Prive du Roi and when he
returned to Bourbon in 1742 he not only refused to comply with the
regulations but he also claimec damages against the Superior Counc11 on
the grounds that all corveées were illegal.¥inally the adminisfrators
were forced to ask the Company to issue a special decrse but it was not

(1) Memoire(I740) Note 37.p.1I18-I19,

(2) ibid.p.119~-L20;Lougnon.Correspondance.yol IIl.The Company to the
Syuperior Councid of Bourbon.25 March,1741.p.162-163.

(3) Lbid.p.i5-14;Note XVI.p.II2-116.
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until I750 thut the uirectors announced that the ordinary corvée would
henceforth be exacted at the rate of 2 days free labour for every slave
possessed. (1) _

La Bourdonnais called an assembly of the leading planters in Bourbon
in 1742 and proposed that- the roads should be maintained by the
unofficial association of slave owners known as the commune,Originally
the commune served as a private insurance scheme and all slave owmers
paid a yearly premium based on the number of slaves owned.The money
was deposited in a central fund and it was used to compensate masters
whose slaves had turned maroon and had either been shot in the forests
or captured and executed by order of the Council.The financial
obligations of the commune had steadily increased;it paid a reward of
30 livres for each dead maroon and it assumed responsibility for the
corvées of the priests and the payment of missionaries' salaries.Each
year the planters chose representatives for the annual meeting at vhich
a financial report was read and the various items of expenditure were
discussed. (2)

The pdanters discussed the new scheme with La Bourdonnais and
finally they agreed that the commune should assume responsibility for
the upkeep and extension of the roads of Bourbon and,in addition, that
it would build and maintain a road-repairing station with a permanet
labour force of 120 slaves.An inspector-general of roads and bridges
was appointed and paid by the commune.The budget of the association
increased considerably and in 1745 the Company ordered the colonists to |
elect syndics who would work with the councillors and audit the annual
accounts.The directors intended to limit Company participation in the
scheme to an annual payment pepresenting the number of slaves owned by
the Company in Bourbon.The financial resources of the commune, hovever,
were"inadequate and the Company was constantly calied upon to subsidize
the association.When Bourbon was transferred to the Brown in 1767 these
loans exceeded 300,000 livres. (3)

In lIle de France the paths between Port Louis and Moka and from
Port Louis to Pamplemousses were widened and a road was built linking
Grande Riviére and the port.The regulations governing ordinary and
extraordinary corvées were presumablr in operation in the island but it
is probable that the Governor preferred to use Pompany slave gangs for
construction work in the port and for the building of roads.The island
was poor and undeveloped,the number of slave-owning planters was small
and therefore the corvees which the governor sould legally have claimed
were totally insufficient for the needs of the island.In 1740 La
Bourdonnais gave instructions to the Acting-$overnor,Bidier de Bt.Martin,
to use slaves sent out by the gompany for road building 1q’order to
lighten the burden of corvées on the planters.'§'ai eherge l.de St.
Martin,"he wrote,"...au cas qu'il vint des noirs pour la Compagnie de
les employer .a.cet ouvrage,tant pour soulager les habitants que pour
les dédommager des corvees extraordinaires qu'ils nous ont fouenis pour
les travaux de la Sompagnie."(4) ' - .

La Pourdonnais introduced new methods of transport in fBourbon as
an alternative to slave labour and in 1736 he formed a team of carriers
with 30 oxen and horses to convey goods from St.Pierre to St.Paul.ln
the following year the scheme was abandoned owing to the difficulty of
finding reguler supplies of feeding stuffs.Later emé draught oxen were
brought from Ile de France where transport facilities appear to have ;
been more highly developed and in 1740 La Bourdonnaiq wrote in the
report to Orry:"On a vit pour la premiere fois avec etonnement rouler
a Bourbon des machines dont les creoles avaient jusques la ignore 1l'usage !
et 1'invention."(5) ;

1) Lougnon.forrespondance.?ol V.Introduction.p.XL-XLI,
izg Memoire (I740) Note I31.p.192-193.

(3) Ibid.p.I93.

(4) Ibid.p.I14.

(5) Ibid.p.14.This statement has been challenged by historians in Reéunion.
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Il.Public Works : Building Operations in Bourbon.

In 1727 the headquarters of the French East lndia Company in
Bourbon was situated at St.Paul.Most of the buildings in the settlement
were constructed of wood and the only stone buildings were a powder
magazine,a bakery with two furnaces,a small guardroom and a warehouse
which contained the Company office and quarters for the chief store-
keeper.No provision had been made for a hospital and the @ompany had
not authorized the Council to begin work on a house for the Governor.
In 1721 de Nyon(Governor of the Isles,172I-1725) visited the island
whilst proceeding to Ile de France and in the same year he submitted a
report on the existing buildings together with a series of recommendations
for strengthening the settlement at St.Paul but the directors did not
approve of the plans.in 1726 Lenoir,the Governor of Pondicherry,who was
visiting Bourbon in order to set up a Superior Council, submitted
another plan for the construction of a fortified trading post.At this’
time,howeverlthe directors wished to devote all available capital and
manpower on the development of the N.W.Port in Ile de France.levertheless,
the Superior Council was instructed to build some stone houses and in
1726 the Company sent 50,000 slates to Bourbon to be used instead of
thatch and,in addition, the administrators were authorized to construct
gun-emplacements, (1}

Unfortunately there were very few skilled workmen in Bourbon. The
Council had a small group of muropean workmen,a number of slave-gangs,
and the administrators could call on the colonists to provide ordinary
and extraordinary corvées.The slaves,however,were totally unsuited to
skilled labour.The Company sent a few masons and lime-burners to
Bourbon and the administrators encouraged these men to take slaves as
.apprentices,offering them another slave in payment if_their training
bore results.But the experiment failedjartisans from Kurope were
normally of poor gquality and there was much drunkenne2s in the
settlement;moreover it was impossible for an illiterate Buropean
workman for whom slavery was a new and demoralising experience to take
a slave as & pupil. (2)

In 1728 Dumas(Governor of the Isles,I727-I735) engaged 95 Indian
workers at 3 pagodas a month,together with food,and work was begun on
a stone warehouse in St.Biénis.But there was still a shortage of
Comrgny workmen and the Indians were usually needed for repair work or
for' cutting and dressing wood for naval supplies and therefore progress
was very slow. (3)The Company sent a number of cannons,probably in 1728,
but stone empdacements were not built and in 1730 the cannons lay
rusting on the shore.Shortly afterwards the guns were taken to India
and as late as 1732 it was understood that warning of a slave revolt
would have to be given by means of bells.In this year, however, a number
of gun-emplacements were finally buiit.In I73I the Council built two
stone houses,one at St.Paul and one at St.Denis,but the Company was so
short of accommodation for its employees that the administrators purchased
several houses which had been constructed privately.One of them was
equipped as & hospital.(4)

(I)Lougenon.gorrespondance. Vol I.Introduction.p.XXXVIII-XXXIX,
(2jIbid.p.XXXIX. o

(3)Ibid.p.XL.

(4)Ibid.Vol II.Introduction.p.XXX,
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Chdfpentier de Cossigny,wio had been sent to make a survey of
harbour facilities in the Isles,arrived in Bourbon in October,32.He
inspected the Company buildings in St.Paul and recommended that the
headquarters should be transferred to the Parc du Jacques,some distance
away.The settlement had been built on the edge of a freshwater lake
and Cossigny thought that the sandy soil would not support heavy stone
buildings and that the settlement might easily be fdddded.He therefore

 drew up plans for a new fortified trading post on the landward side of

the lake.The Council had already begun work on a stone warehouse in
St.Paul but Cossigny was unwilling to complete it since he believed that
the foundations were inadequate.He left Bourbon in January,I733,and visited
Madagascar.On his return to Sourbon in March of the same year he agreed
to complete the warehouse in St.Paul but he insisted on commencing

work onthe new trading post at Parc de Jacques,where he constructed a
stone base for a windmill.(I1)In May,I1733,he quarrelled with Dumas and
during the next twelve months he refused to cooperate with the Council(2)
From 1734-1735 the sSuperior Council of Bourbon completed the warehouse
at St.Paul,equipped a building with beds to serve as a hospital and
built a number of gun-mounts in the town.A warehouse was also built at
St.Denis. , ' '

The directors ordered La Bourdonnais to build gun-emplacements and
waregouses at St.pPaul and St.Denis,to reorganise the hospital buildings
and to construct sleeping quarters for the Company slave-gangs in the
various districts where they were working. (3)Cossigny's stay in Bourbon
had proved very expensive and La Bourdonnais was instructed to cut down
building opentions to a minimum.The councillors in Bourbon,however, had
plans to make St.yenis the seat of the Company since it was more
conveniently placed for receiving ships from Ile de France and had good
natural defences.Gun-emplacements were therefore built in 17135-1736 in
St.Denis and although La Bourdonnais intended to set up a battery at
St.Paul, the Superio_r Council,in August I736,stopped all further building
in that town and went forward with their plans in St.Denis.In March

1741,5t.Denis became the capital of Bourbon and the Youncil transferred
their headquarters from St.Paul.The new factoery was completed by about
1742.1It contained a house for the Governor and for the Commander of the
garrison,offices and shops,a number of warehouses, barracks and workshops.
The facetry was defended by three batteries and a small fort.(4)Two years
later the Council was instructed to suspend all further building
operations, o

The Governor built a floating dock in St.Penis.In I735 he installed

a large raft,attached to #he shore by means of a cable and in I737 he
secured the raft with chains.(5)The chains were found to be inadequate
and therefore La Bourdonneis asked the Company to send strgnger chains
which appear to have arrived in st.Denis in I738.In the report to Orry
in 1740 La Pourdonnais described his'pont volant':"lequel saille sur la
mer de I5U pieds et est soutenu par une mature quil'gst elle~-méme par
de bonnes chaines qui rendent eette machine si solide qu'elle n'a ete
.nullement ebranlée dans les deux derniers ouragans qui ont passe;ce qui
rend la detcente a St.Denis aussi sure a present qu elle avait éte
Jusques la dangereuse et difficile.”(6) -

zI)Lougnon.ﬁorreppondance.vol II.Introduction.p.xxx;Méﬁoire(I740)p.136-7.
2)Crépin.gossigny.p.II-IZ. ‘

(3)Lougnon.Gorrespondance. Vol II.The “ompany to the Superior Council of
‘Bourbon.II October,I734.p.25I,The Superior Gouncil of Bourbon to the
the Company 12 4ugust,I735.p.280. : '

(4)Memofre.é}740)p.35,ﬂote 85.p.142, _

~(5)Lougnon, {orrespondance. Yol II.The ®uperior Council of Bourbon to the
| Company.f2 August,I735. 'p.28I.

(6 )¥emoire (1748) p.3I.Note 14.p.135-136.The’pont volant' existed until

I1760.1t is described by Grant in the History of Mauritius.p.I60.
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I1I.Agriculture :Coffee Growing in Bourbon.

Until 1715 Bourbon was regard.d so.ely as a revictualling centre
for €ompany ships on their way to and from lndia but in that yeer coffee
plants from Moka in arabia were imported into the island.Boreover, &
native coffee bush was found growing locally.Arabian coffee had first
been introduced into France in 1660 and it immediately became very
popular.During the last quarter of the seventeenth century and the first
decade of the eighteenth century beans from the Yemen were carried to
fastern Medlterranean ports where the cargoes were transferred,ususlly
to Lutch vessels,and taken to larseilles.Arabian coffee was regarded as
a luxury and its price was high.At that time most of the coffce drunk in
France was purchased in Surat from the Butch Comzany .Buring the early
years of the eighteenth century the French East India Company tried to
buy coffee direct from the growers in Arabia but they failed and it was
not until I709 that the Societé Maritime de St.Malo succeeded in openiag
trade relations with lioka.A few years later coffee plants and cuttings
were obtained for the Company settlements abroad.The directors had
recommended coffee as a suitable cash crop for Bourbon as early as 1711
and in December, 1715, the administrators ordered all colonists in the
island to grow trial crops on theér plantations. (i)

in 1717 the first samples of Bourbon coffee were sent to France and
in the following year they were examined by a committee of the directors
of the “ompany, presided over by the Farmer-General.The committee decided
that the coffee had a commercial value and the administrators in Bourbon
were advised to encourage the colonists to concentrate wholly cn coffee
groving.By 1719 about a quarter of the plants from lioka had teaken hold
and in 1723 the area under coffee had considerably increased.Frogress
however, was slow.The directors hoped for quick returns but the coffee
plants took several years to establish themselves and large numbers of
bushes died when they were transplanted.Moreover,the planters were
conservative and they waited to see whether the crop would be a success
before embarking on large-scale production,(2)

The Director-General of Bourbon,Desforges-Boucher(1723-1725),
believed that the colonists were to blame for the slow rate of progress
and in becember,i724,he persuaded the Council to issue an order
threatening to confiscate the estates of those planters who had not yet
planted coffee.At the same time he gave warning that the Council would
demand the death penalty for the crime of destroying young coffee bushes.
The Company, howexer, forbade the introduction of the death penaity and
criticised the administrators for failing to introduce sound measures to
increnge coffee production.In 1725 the directors asked one of the most
capable of their officiais,Pierre Lenoir,who was visiting Bourbon in
order to set up a Superior Council,to write a report on coffse growing.
Lenoir spent a month in Bourbon in 1726 and he reported that a
substantial crop should be available for export in 1728 and 1729.In May,
1727,the direcotrs received his report and in the same month a cargoe of
22, 8001bs.of Bourbon coffee arrived in France.(3)

When Sourbon was first colonised there were few planters,land was
plentiful and generous grents were made to any colonist who offered to
clear it and grow food.lhe only condition of tenure was the payment of

(1)Guet.Bourbon. p.251-25§,261 Recueil Trimestriel.Memoire sur 1'Ile

Bourbon adrpsse par la Gomwagnle..au Gouverneun@arat I711.Vol V., p.186-276

(3 JLougnon. Gorrespondance.lol i. Introduction. p.XII-XIV
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a small rent in kind;in a census made in St.paul whicnh hzd I,2I6
inhabitangs in 1719, the 'état de medevances'was 7501bs.of corn,I80
fowls,8I01bs.of rice,2 goats and 5lbs.of wax.{1)The early contracts
between the Com any and the colonists were normally vague and
unexacting but after 1715 the conditions became rather more onerous.
The new contracts stated that if the land was not producing at the end
of two to three years it could be re-annexed to the Company demesne.
The development of a cash crop and the subsequent rise in land values
in Bourbon caused the directors to introduce a uniform payment inkind
and in 1727 the Company fixed & feudal rent of 4ozsfcoffee for each acre
under cultiivation.The Superior Council, however, was slow to register this
cuitivated land and in 1730 the Company threatened to send out a
commission to survey the island and to confiscate all land which was
inefficiently farmed.Paradis,a senior official in Fondicherry,actually
received orders to carry out the survey but he does not apoear to have
visited the island.In fact the surfice features were very irregular and
the Council lacked both $he equipment and the personnel to carry out aa
comprehensive survey. (2)
of fee production expanded rapidly after [727. Humas who was
hovernor of the Isles in this year was very optimistic regurding the
future and in a despatch to the directors he wrote:“Rien de plus
~admirable que les plantations de caffé qui multiplient & 1'infini...
Cette ile sera dens peu capable d'en fournbr au deléa de la consommation
de tout la royaume...quelle difference de porter son argent aux Arabes,
comme on 1l'a fait jusqu'a present au de tirer le caffe directement de
chez soi."(3)His confidence in the future of the island appeap to hzve
been justified because in 1725 the French zZast India had been given the
exclusive right to import and sell coffee in France.

Progress in dourbon ,however, was not meintained.A seriss of

.disasters in 172%-1731 almost brought the colony to a standstill.In
1728 a smallpox epidenic, introduued by Indian labourers,caused the death
of 800 psople in one .parish alone and probably some I, 200 persons died
"during the epidenmic, the majority of them slaves. bwarms of locusts ate
the food crops and cyclones gtruck the island in tea successive years,
Volonists who had lost their slaves and their crops were compelled to
apply to the administrators for further loans.From 1727-1731 the islend
exported over 1,250,000 1lbs.of coffee and the colonists rcceived as '
payment 557, OOOIivres from the Company,but in the same period they
appsar to have borrowed more taat twice this amount.Thus the increase
in coffee production depended ultlmately on the willinglness of the
Bompany to lend money to the colonists.(4)

From the very first the bompeny experlenoed considerable difficulty
in finding a market for Bourbon coffee.In the sarly years great care was
teken in drying,packing and transporting the beans but the quality was
poor.After 1725 the Company refused to buy the native coffee and the
colonists were instructed to grow only Arabian coffee.The directors ,who
expected the quality to improve, decidzd tlat it would be unwise to

“attempt to seil the coffee in France where it would get a bad reputation
and an alternative market was found in Holland and Hamburg.''he profits,
however,were very low and in I730 the directors lowered the purchase
price of Bourbon coffee from 8 tc 6 sous a pound.(5) .

The decision of the Uomgany to lower the purehase price caused a
storm of protest in Hourbon.The colonists decided to send a deputation
to France and in L7§1 three planters presented a petition to the
directorsvof the ompany.ds a result of thne dl“GhSSlonS in Paris the

(I)Guet Bourbon.p.275.

(2 )Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol 1I.Introduction. p.XIV-XV
(3}§uet.Bourbon¢pumas to the Company.5 April,.1728.p.296-299.
{4;uougnon.@orreSpondance. ol Ll.Introduction.p.Xviii.
(E)Ibid vol 1. Introductlon.p.va-XXJI
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directors agreed to pay 8 sous per 1lb. for coffee until 31 8uly,4732,
and the administrators in Bourbon were advised to accept coffee at the
old price.The pdanters, however, were required to pay a freight char@e

of 2lbs.per I00lbs.of coffee shipped to France,a money payment of i
denier per acre and a corvée of 2 days unpaid labour each year for all
privately owned slaves over the age of fifteen.ftThe directors promised to
abolish all additiondrents in kind and to imgose a uniform rent of 4oz.
of coffee per acre under cultivation..i)

The planters were thankful to have found a crop that could withstand
cyclones and insect pests and they continued to devote more of their land
to coffee growing. lhe population grew rapidly owing to the suc:essful
development of a cash cropj;in 1740 there were about 1,300 coionists and
slaves in the islandj;in 1732 there were 7900 and three years later the
total population had reached 9,5000.The acrsage under coffeec inc:ecsed .
considerably and from 1732-i735 the island groduced over 2,250,000 1lbs.(2)
#yt the quality of the coffee did not improve.blave lebour was inefficient
and it was very difficult to train slaves to pick oniy the rije berries.
Moreover, once the berries were gathered they were spread out on the
ground to dry.The average zlanter did not possess sufficient cagital to
build a concrete drying-platform and since the isiand had a daup
climate the bsans deteriorated rapidly.Unfortunately Comgany ships were
forced to collect the crop during the rainy season when they returned
from india on the K,i.Monsoon.Berries which had been picked in Lecember
and January were imperfcecctly dried and added to the dry berries which
had been picked in thg previous 3u1y.goffee which was collected by
ships of the 'seconde navigation® and tramsshipped in Ile de France was
frecuentiy spoilt¥In 1731 the administraférs in Ile de France informed
the 8ujerior Qouncil in Bourbon:"Il s'en perd toujours considérahiement
dans les chargements et les dechargements,les sacs Stant mal cousus ou
percés." (5 )The Company encouraged the administrators to experiment with
new methods of drying and packing the berries in order to iamprove the
quality of the coffee.However it is doubtful whether the Coupany would
have found & steady market in France even if an improvement had been
effected,since those who could afford to buy it preferred Moka coffece.

By 1755 when ia Bourdonnais arrived in the isles the economy of
Bourbon was endangered by the overproduction of inferior coffec.The neuw
Governor realised that although the problems of over-production and
quality were ciosely connected,an improvement in the guality of Beurbon
coffee could only be effecctea after many years of experimert and '
supervision.As a long-term policy he encouraged the plantars to try new
methods of curing and packing the beans but he was well aware of the
fact that immediate remedies were needed to strengthen ths economy of
Bourbon.The problem was tackled in two ways.Rirstly, La Bourdonneis
believed that adternative morkets could be found in the Middle fast and
in iIndia and he tried to establish trade relations with these two arees.
Secondly, he pointed out the dangers of a one-crop economy and atteupted
to persuade the colonists to grow other cash crops such as indigo,cotton,
tobacco and Turkey rhubarb,

.8 Bourdonnais searched for alternutive markets in India and in-
countries bordering tihe hed Sea and the Persian Gulf.In i735 he arranged
for the export of 83,000 1bs. of coffee aboard the Prince de Conti and
the uuc de Bourbon to the French factories at Pondicaerry and
Chandanagore.In the same year another cargo of 10,0001bs was sent to
India aboard the Subtilej;ia Bourdonnais hoped that this coffee could be
sold in the towns along the Malabar Coast.In 1736 he sent 100,0001bs of
coffee on the Subtile to.ports in the Persian Guif and over 28,0001bs.

(i)Lougnon.Gorrespondance.Vol 1I.lntroduction.p.XVII3-XIX;The Superior
Council of Bourbon to the Company.l5 October,I731.p.22-26.,

(2)1bid.p.XXVIil;Guet.Bourbon.p.230,

(3)}Ibidep.XXII-XX1iI;Recueil Trimestriel.Vol Vll.gorrespondance des

Administrateurs. The Frovincial Qouncil of Ile de France to the
Syperior Council of Bourbon.23 November,i731.p.il6.
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of coffee on the Jupiter to the French factories in India.({)

' The administritors in Pondicherry,Chandanagore and Mahe, were hard
pressed to find a market for the coffee once it arrived in India.The
cargoes which were disembarked at Fondicherry could not be sold and
although 40,0001bs of coffee was re-exported to Mahe the authorities
there were only able to sell gfew thousand pounds to Fortuguese
merchants from Goa.The cargoes which had been stored in warchouses in
Chandanagore remained unsold;ard in Bengad, the Indians preferred Arabian
coffeelhe Council of Chandanagore sent some of the coffee they had
receéved fom the {zles on special ships to Patng,ljeddah and Basra in
the Persian &ulf,in the hope of finding a maxket for it.A small amount
was sold in Calcutta but at a very low price.(2)

After 17356 the French Zast India “Yompany was faced with serious
competition from coffee producers in the West Indies.Flanters in
Martinique petitioned the king to allow them to sell their coffee in
France and in I7j2 they were given permission to land the coffec in
certain ¥rench ports,provided that it was re-exported for sale abroad.
In 1736 ,however, the French Bast India Company lost its monopoly of
importing coffee into ¥rance and after this date about 4,000,0001bs.per
annum.entered France from the liest Indies.dAt this time the total
consumption in France did not amount to more that I,000,000lbs,.per annum.
and therefore alternative markets had to be found in Turkey and the
Levant,Holland and the German States.The wholesale price of #Hourbon
coffeﬁﬁn France sank to 12 sous per 1b. (3)

“lthough the news from India was disappointing, ia Bourdonnais
continued to search for alternative markets and he concentruted his
efforts on the Persian Gulf and the Hed Sea where sales had bsen
somewhat more encouraging.lhe coffee had sold fairly well at Djeddah
but freight charges were high and no profit had been made.it was hoped,
however, that freight charges would be reduced and the captain of the
Subtile reported that Persia could absorb the entire crop afp zosurbon,
fommercial relations were established with the Shan through' the ugency
of the French consul in Basra and in 1738 I60,0001lbs. of coffee were sent &
Djeddan.Nevertheless it seems that a high proportion of the cargo
remained unsold. (4) :

~ La Bourdonneis' efforts to establish a Middle dastern market were
hampered by an acute shortage of sh.ps in the Isles and by the antagonism
of the Council of Pondicherry.The ships in the island commend were
needed for transporting slaves,oxen and rice and therefore la Bourdounais
did not have a sufficient number of vessels to organise a regular trade
in coffee.Furthermore,the Council of Pondicherry felt that if La
Bourdonnais were allowed to make commercial treaties with sSaderfh powers
without reference to Pondicherry it wculd endanger tiie prestige of
the Council in India.They complained to the “ompany and in I737 the
direcctors ordered &a Bourdonnais to limit his trading activities to
East Africa,the Commores and Madagascar.in futyre all shipments of .
coffee were to be sent to Fondicherry,lahe or éhandanagore and re-exported
to Djeddah or Basrah.(5) -

In 4737 40,00V1bs of Bourbon coffee was shipped fom Jahe to Sasra
but the French consul was Unable to dispose of it.In the following year
.8 Boudonnais sent I00,0001ps. to Fondicherry on the Paix;part of the
cargo was sent to Bengal and from there re-exported to Basrajthe rest
was sent to France in 1740.In the following year 30,0001bs. was shipped to
gasra but when the ships reeached the port it was found that the consul
was dead and there was apparently nobody in the town able to negotiate
with local merchants.It is likely that_the coffee remained unsold. (6 )
(l)Lougnon.ﬁorrespondance.Vol i1i1.The Superior Council of Bourbon to the

Company.25 September,1736.p.48-49,
(2)Ibid.introduction.p.X1V-XV,
(3)ibid.p.dX;Recueil Trimestriel.§ol 1i.p.I30.
(4)Ibid.Vol 1II.p.XIV-XV.

5)1bid.§.XV-XVI.

6 )Ibid.The Company to the 8Buperior @ouncil of Bourbon.I7 Feb.1738.p.118.
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In 1758 the purchase price for Bourbon coffee dropned from 6 to
5 sous per 1lb. and in the following year the dirdctors informed
La Bourdonnais that they could not continue to buy cofifee even at this
low price.The coffeec was sold in France at 12 sous per lb. but vhen the
S8ompany had pald freightage and insurance and disposed of the coffee,
which had often further deteriorated on the long voyagc to Burppe, the
margin of profit was negligable.ia Bourdonnais, however managed to
persuacde the Company to buy the crops for the next three years at 5 sous
per 1b, (1)

La Bourdonnais returnec to France in [740.His search for a new
market for the coffee crop had proved unsuccessful and alternative cash
crops had not been developed but he believed that a free-trade policy
for the two islands would help to solve the problem of over-production
by placing responsibility for ine disposal of the crop on the shoulders
of the planters.In addition,an alternative source of wealth would be
crected if the colonists built ships and engaged in inter-oceanr commerce.
He tried to persuade the directors that the Company trade monopoly was
harmful to their interests and finally they agreed to introduce free-
trade although they were more interested in escaping their seigneurisal
obligations rather then in benefitting the Isles.Colonicts in Ile de
France and Bourbon were given permission to trade with Indis,lMadagascar,
dast africa and France from I January,1742, to 31 December,i747.The
introduction of free-trade,however, was not destined to produce the
desired resultis.The planters did not have the necessary contacts in
isurope and Indie,ship.ing facilities in the Isles were inadecusate and
the planters lacked the necessary capital for building up even a small
merchant fleet.

Meaenwhile coffee production continued to rise;in i740 it exceeded
2,000,0001bs. and in 1744 it reached 2,500,000 1lbs.In 1742 and again in
1743 the direcbdrs statea that they were not prepared to buy more than
1,800,000 to 1,800,0001ibs per annum.The plunters were thus feced with a
difficult cheicej;they could either continue to grow coffee and make
private arrangements to dispose of it themselves or they cruld reduce
the acreage under coffee on theer plantations and grow other crops.(2;
Nevertheless it seems probable that La Bourdonnais allowed the
administrators in Bourbon to accept the total coffee output of the
island in the Company w.rehouses during the period of free-irazde.The
Company however, continued to lower the purchase price;in I744 coffese was
Bought at 4 sous per 1b. and in 1745 at 3 sous per 1b.In spite of all,
the situation remained the same;the planters persisted in groving coffee
and La Bourdonnals continued to send surplus crops to Inéia to be
re-exported to the Fersian Gulf.But when the price of Hoka coffee in
Basra fell in I743 and again in 1744 even this market dried up and a
cargo of Bourbon coffee which arriveu in tne port in 1744 remained
unsold. (3)

1n April, 1745 the Company announced thet it was prepared to tais
as much as 3,000,000lbs. of coffee per annum in a system of prioritics;
firstly,coffee sent by debtors;secondly,coffee sent privately on the
Company ships by local merchants or planters;thirdly,all other coffee
grown in the island.In the following year, however, the Council of State
cancelled the concession granted to the ¥West Indian planters to sell
coffee in France and re-granted the monopoly to the Zast India Compgny.
At this time coffee output in Bourbon was declining owing to a Slight
but during the next twenty years conditions improvea .The price of
coffee steadily increased and by 1771 planters were being paid 10 sous

per 1b.(4)

(1)Recueil Irinestriel.¥ol I.Motifs sur lesquels la Compagnie fonde la !
déstruction du traite fait ...entre elle et les habitants deputés de _
1'Ile Bourbon.p.338-342;Lougnon.@orrespondance,%ol Ili.Introduction.pXIX.!

(2 juougnon, Correspondance.Vol IV.Introduction.p.XVI. '
i))lbid.%rXI;Recueil‘Trimestriel.?ol Il.p.146.
4

J1bid.Vol &.1Introduction.p.XIV-XVIIjRecueil Trimestriel.Vol II.p.146-47. '}
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Le Sourdonnais tried to convince the planters in 5ourbon of the
need to develop alternative cash crops.Tobacco,indigo,cinnamon, Turkey
rhubarb, vines,cotton, tea, jute and other plants had been introduced into
the island durirg the seventeenth century but none of them had so far
proved worth while and once the pianters realised the advantages of _
growing cofiee these crops were almost entirely neglected..ra Bourdonnais,
however belicved that the island ¢ould produce & rich variety of crops
owing to the diversity of soid and climate and during his term as
Goverior he paid spscial attention to the development of indigo, tobacco
and cotton crops.(I)

The directors of the Company were very interested in developing
the cultivation of indigo in Bourbon.Hot ail parts of the island were
suitable for this erop as it neceded a high rainfall.The parish of
Ste.Suzanne seemed to be the likeliest place.indigo plants, hewersr,
requirsd careful cultivation and constant supervision and large numbers
of siaves were needed.in I734 the dircctérs informed ths Superior
Council that planters who wished to grow indigo on a large scale would
qualify for a loan of 15,000 livres payeble in slaves. (2 )Many of the
colonists who were heavily in debt and who required additional slaves
- obtained the loan but failed to gTo%w any indigo.The directors therefore
restricted the credit in slaves to those planters who had cleared all
~their deois.In I741 the sbheme wes abandoned.,

The Qompany fixed the price of indigo at 2Y sous per ib. in I736.

Indigo waB an expensive crop to cultivate and the planters found that
this price was far tos low.The directors,although they refused to increuse
the purchace price,continued their efforts to stimuiate production and in
1738 they sent two slaves who understood the cultivation end preparation
of Indigo from St.Uominique to iie de France.it was expected that ths
slaves would train a group of Company siaves &nd that the coionists would
be temptzd to grow the crop.But the experiment failed;a planter in Ile de
France signed a contract to grow indigo but he was not suciessful;one of
the slaves turned maroon and the other slave was sent to Bourbon.In the
repert of 1740 La Bourdonnais advised the Yomyany to increase the grice
paid for indigo and in 1741 the vompany agreed to pay 36 sous per 1ib.The
increase in price appears to have encouraged some planters to grow the
crop because samples were.sent to France in I743 and again in i744,Most
of the experiments appear 10 have failed however,and indigo wes never a
successful crop either in Ile de France of Bourbon. (3)

La Bourdonnais also eéncoursaged plantsrs in Bourbon to grow tobacco
and cotton.Tobacco had been introduced into “ourbon in the middle of the ’
Seventeenth century and in 4735 the island prebably produced sufficient
for its own needs.usfforts were made to improve the guality during
La Bourdornnais' first tour and sai;les were sent to France.ﬁut the |
tobacio was Wwery poor and it nsver became an important cash’ crop. (4) ,
Cottor. growing was rather more successful and it appears that a large -
amount was grown in the Bivisre d'Abord district but the purchase prices J
offerred by the Company were wholly inadecuate:in 1735,3 sous per ib.for
ginned cotton and 1 sou per 1b.for raw cotton.at this time the Conpeany f
agents in Bourbon despaired Jf developing a cotton crop.“1l est inutiie,® :
they wrote to the Council off Pondicherry,in 1735,"de penser cue 1l'Aabitant J
veuille =t puisse méme donnsr le coton écale aux prix ¢cue vous aous le .
 andez.Il n'y a en cette ile ni mStier ni moulins propre a en separer la |

raine.?ls feudrait cu il le fit faire a la main,ce qui serait...un ouvrage
1 long que quand bien"weme il 1e s_occuperait quéa ce seul article,
l'avantege qu'il pourrait en retired ne suffirait assurement pas pour la aseu
ourriture et vetements desg esclaves."(5)

(1)sémoire(I740) p.l2.

(2) Lougnon.¥orrespondance. Vol 1l.iniroduction.p.XX¥, Vol i1l.Introduction

P.XVii-avilli;Hecueil Trimestriel, Vol 1I.p.373-380.

(3)uougndn.go:rquondance.Vbi III.Introduction.p.X?lII,Vol IV.Introduction

. DeXV1I-RLX;HMemoire (17407p.67.
(4)Ibid. Vol 1il.The Company to the S.C%ouncil of Bourbon,25 March {741.9.189.
8)abid. Vol Iil.introduction.p.aVi;Recueil trimeltriel,Vol !I.p.é38—239.




32

La bouracnnals persuaded the directors to increase the price peid
for cotton and in 1738 planters were paid 4 sous per 1lb.for ginned
cotton and three years later the price rose to 5 sous per 1lb,.Three
gnters in fourbon appear to have owned large cotton plantations and in
1743 one of“them perspaded the Council of Pondicherry to send a party
of spinners and weavers to the island but on arrival they refused to
work.Production however, did improve and in I770 Bourbon was exporting

about 100,0001bs. of raw cotton each year teo India.(I)

During the governorship of La Bourdennais the plenters in Bourbon
were encouraged to improve methods of curing end packing coffae’ beans.
That higher prices for Bourbon coffee could be obtained by careful
handling of the beans was proved in 1737 when & small expsrimental crop,
grown and cured by the Director of Commerce in Bourbon, sold for 17-18
sous per lb. in France.At this time ths normal price for Bourbon coffee
was LI-12 sous per 1lb.In 1734 the Company had asked the administrators
to experiment with wooden platforms for drying the beans and to
determine whether coffee dited in the sun was of better quality than
that diied in the shads.la Bourdoniais favoured concrecte platforms and
- in 1736 he organised a private Company to construct such platforms but

- the venture was not successful and in 1739 his partner was expelled from
Bourbon.In i739 he promoted another @ompany to construct concreste
platforma with a labour force of I05 slaves and a nuabar of workasn who
had been recruited in India.Several platforms appear to have been built.
La Bourdonnais also appolnted a curing-expert and a staff of workmen to
supervise the drying of the beans but the guality of the coffee was not
noticeably improved. (2) '

(1)Lougnon,Gorzquondancg.{ol 1ii.introduction.p,XVII-XVI1I;Vol IV,
Extrait du ﬁegistro-gener&i 91Xl April,1744.p.155;Vol V.Introduction.
p.EVI-ZVI1i. ' '

(2)Mémoire (I740)p.12,Note XV.p.110-211.
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III,Agriculture:Cash 8rops in Ile de France.

When Ile de France was first colonised by the French the
administrators informed the Company that both socil and climate were
favourable for the development of a wide variety of cash crops.The
number of planters began to increase after I727 and the Company
recoumended the cultivation of coffee,pepper,Turkey rhubsrb and suger.(I)
The early experiments in growing cash crops on a large scale were
unsuccessful owing to the shortage of labour and the difficulty of
clearing the rocky ground.After 1733 the directors regarded Ile de
France primarily as a refitting and revictualling centre and therefore
.they advised the administrators to concantrate on food production rather
than cash crops.They sent all manner of livestock,fruit trees,cereals
and root crops to the island but they felt that the development of one
all important cash crop would not be in the best interests of the
Company.They were afraid that the planters would neglect food production
and that the Company would be callsd upon to invest an inordinate
amount of capital in the island during the trial period.

La Bourdonnais however, decided that sugar cane was particularly
suited to the soil and cliimate of Ile de France.It could resist the
local animal and insect pests;it was well suited to a siave econony;
above all,it had proved itself able to survive severe climatic
conditions.The Dutch had introduced cuttings from Batavia as early as
1650 and although the crop failed another attempt was made in 1630
when all the freemen in the colony were ordered to plant sugar.The
essistant surgeon in Mauritius had learnt how to prepare sugar in
Surinam and a sugar mill was built during the sixtesn elghties.Samples
were sent to eterdam and the Cape but the aree under cultivetion
probably never exceeded four or five acres during the Dutch occupation.
¥hen the Dutch left the island they destroyed the plantetions and the
sugar mill at Flacq. (2)

La Bourdonnais is usually given the credit for introducing sugar
cane into lle de France but in fact cane which had been introduced by
the Dutch was probably growing wild in the island during the early part
of the French occupation and cuttings may well have been sent from
gourbon.Sugar vas grown in Bourbon in the early eighteenth century and
Bost planters seem to have had a sugar patch on their land for making
frangorin,or sugar wine@iit is,however,beyond doubt that La Bourdonnais
gave an impotus to the growing of cene and the extraction of sugar.0ddly
enough the ‘report of 1740 does not contain eny reference to sugar
-production.There are three possible explanations for this ommission.
Firstly,it appears that he had a large stake in the early factories and
did not wish to publicise the fact;secondly,in 1740 he was faced with a
commigsion of enquiry and he was obvicusly unwilling to reveal the fact
that he had disobeyed the orders of the Company regarding cash crops;
thirdly,it may well be that the first canes to be grown on a commerciia
basis were planted during his second tour in 1743 or 1744.

It is clear homever, that by 1742 La Bourdonnais was planaing to
develop sugar production in Ile de ¥rance,since in this year he asked ths

(1) Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol I.The Company to the Provincial Council of
Ile de France.3’0 July,1728.p.8I. :

(2) Forth-Coumbes.The firet Hundred Fears of the Mguritian Sugar Indkstry.
Bulletin Annuel de la Societe de L'Histoire de.l'ile Maurice.Vol 1;
See also.North-Goombes.fhe evolution of sugar cane cuture in Mauritius.

(3) Lougnon.ancienseVoyages.quoting B.P.Geubil.S.d. Bourbon en 1724.p.209.
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Soapony LP SCAU Spdliai CouiulohbB [uF wodifig wrowh Sugul aad Af gossible,
a machine for refining'the sugar.in Apr11,1744,tq§ directors replied:
1,8 Uompagnie a marque & ce Conseil qu'elle ne desirait rien tant que

de voir les iles dans 1'état d'opulence ou il panse qu'elles doivent
etre en peu d'années par la réussite des differentes entreprises que

M. La Bourdonnais...étatt sur le point de former...qu'elle les
favoriserait en tout ce qui pourrait deépendrs d'elle pcurvu qu'elles ne
luil occasionnent aucunes dépenses.slle lui a d'ailleurs observe sur ce
sujet qu'elle ne pensait pas que jamais le sucre ni le ris devinssent
les objets de commerce avantageux.” (i) *

Certain technicali improvements were developed from 1735-1745.The
planters had used & wooden mortar and pestle,called & fram@rine,for
exiracting juice from tne cane,but auring th: governorship of ia
Bourdonnais aany of them ddopted instead the fangourinier.This was a
heavy wooden table with a shallow gutter runaing round itja heavy wooden
rolier was used to crush the cane and the juice flowed through opesnings
in the centre of each narrow side of the table.It was then poured into
a cauldron and tken boiled..La Bourdonnais epparentiy imported more
complicated machinery in order to increase the yield of juice from the
cane.Lt is interesting to note that the St.Géran,which sznk off Ile de
France in 1744,was carrying caularons for boiling sugur and possibly
crushing machines.A factory was built in the district of Famplemousses
at Villebague, (2) and another at L'#nfoncement des Hollandais in the
district of Grand Port.(3) _

After the doparture of .La Bourdonnais the fectory at Pamplemousses
was taken over by two ex-ca,tains wno had served in the Company fieet.
In 1750 the island was supplyinsg 60,0001bs.of sugar per annum. to the
Comgany.Grant described the state of the industry in 1753 in one of his
latters to his family in France."'"'They have established a hendsonme
factory but it is so iil-conducted that the sugar has the u; earance of
Norman honey;it costs 2 sous a poind and is quite disgusting.lhe sugar
is employed to cover houses in the Italian manner and being incorporated
with chalk,forms & kind of mastich,and being spread on fine planks
becomes a2s hard as pavement."(4)

Another observer,the jnglish geographer,lalrymple,who visited Ile
de France about 1755 wes impressea by the organisation of the sugar
industry in the island.He stated that it produced enough to supply the
needs of lle de France and Bourbon and also visiting shiss."There are
three different mills employed for yressing canes,"hs wrote,“one a
windmill,another wrought by oxen and a third waich is the most
complicated and curious is turned by w.ter!(5) The acreagec under sugar
appears to have deciined temporariiy and a visiter in 1769 observsd that
the only sugar-growing district at that time was in Pamplemousses. (6)

At the ciose of the eighteenth century suger cane wccounted for ten per
cent of the area under crops,only eighteen per cent of the land of the
colony being cultiveted at that time.(7jThe sugar was largely used for
making wines and spirits;in 1772 there were I25 licensed drink.ng houses
in Port iocuis alone.

A mzjor caBdhk crop was not developed until the British occupation.%his
was partly due to the action of the French Company which paid low prices
to the colonists and tried to dictate to them what they should grow.
loresgver the planters had little capital and they had no technical
knowledge.Commenting on this Grant wrote:%The inhabitants have wandered
from project to project and endeavoured to cultivate gvery kind of plant
but without persevering to secure success...Coffee,cotton,indigo, sugar,
pepper, cinnanon, tea,mulberry,cocoa...have been cultivated in their turn
but witiout that knowiedge and attention that were necessary."(8)
(1)Lougnon.gorrespondance.Vol 1V.dxtrait du Kégistre.il Aprii,l744.p.140.
(2 )The manager was iLa Bourdonaais' cousin,Ribrétiere de la Viliebague.
(3)dortn-Conmbes.The dvolution of Bugar Cane Bulture in dauritius.p.1i3-14.
(4 JGrant.flistory of Mauritius..ett&rl2.15 August.i753.(see Bibiiography)
{5)Hecueil IrimestrielVol L..'ile de France vers 1755,
(G)Wicklinsky.Voyages aux illes de France et de Bourbon.i769-70.
(7)ﬂorth-eoombes.p.14.(8) Grant.&istory of Mauritius.p,35.
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I11.Agriculture: Food Growing in the Isles.

In 1735 Bourbon and Ile de France imported a2 high proportion of
food sup.lies from Surope,Indie eand Madagascar.The plan%ezs in Bourbon
devoted fut too much of their land to coffze growing while agriculturc
in Ile de France was disorganised and the >lanters were barely able to
feed themselves.There were a number of factors which contributed to this
situation.The Councils of the two islends wers responsible for feeding
the clerks and workmen, the soldiers,the officers and men in the island
squadron, the Coumpany slnves and the crews of shidps in the 'premiére
navigation' which callesd at the islands.lt was extremely difficult to
feed thess msn, even when food was fairly plentiful,but when & cyclone
struck the islands the crops were fluttened by wind and rain, the
livestock was decimated and the simple houses of the 1nhabitants blown
down.The food supply then depended upon the success of huntling and
fishing expeditions and the inhabitants were often reduced to storvation.
Added to this was the problem of the depredations of rats,locusts,
monkeys and wild dear,

De Maupin,who arrived in Ile de Prance in 1729,had been given
instructions to speed up the development of the colony and to encourage
the colonists to grow more foo0d.On arrival he found the island:"Gepourvue
entidrement de farines,ris,malis,viande salée et autres choses...lss
habitants....sont obliges de chercher leur vie dans les bois au bout du
fusil,et cela sang chiens sparcequ'ils n'y en a dans les deux ports
appartenant 8 la ompagnle que douze,que l'on fait chasser unicusment
pour fournir ‘de la viande aux vaissesux."(1)In the previous year the
supplies of salt heef,wine and brandy had been exhausted and the soldiers,
"tous crier la faim et la soif,"were allowed to hunt every day in the
surrounding forests.

A cyclons struck the N.W. Port in I727 and again in 1I731.Cne of _
the administrators in Ilie de France,lioret,described the effects of the
cyclone of I751."0 le bon pays que&'ll» de France ou slf 1'on ne perlt
pas d'une fagon il taut se résoudre perir de l'autre, je Jyeux dire de
famine!Tout le monds,bians et noirs,sent dans les bois a vivre du gibier
faute de ris:nos mugasins sont absoluement vides de tout;il nous reste pour
tous vivres cing quarts de farine .ue nous alions partager entre 1'état
major,les ouvriers qui restent et 1e. troupe,de fagon gu'en ne mangeant
qu'une agemi-livre ce pain par jour nous pourrons attrayer le fin de
mars,."All the ships except one small pircgue had been destroyed-a
dangerous situation when hunting and fishing were the sole means of
providing food. (2)

In Bourbon the food situation was equally precarious.The population
of the islzand in 1732 was 7,800( 2,u00 free and §,500 slsves) and yet
the planters concentrated on the growing of coffee.The island therefore
relied mainly on imports of rice and wheat from India.In July, 1732 the
Superior Council wrote to the Council of sengal:"Nous avions 300
personnes au moins a nourrir:scldats,ouvriers et noirs:la traite du ris
& Madagascar est tres psu de chose:les sauterelles mangent tous nos
plantages:ainsi le secours de l'inde nous est indispensable."(3)Locusts
appear tc have been a very serious problem in Bourbon.In October, 1751,
the Council informed the direcddrs:"il y a quelre ou cing meis de l'annice

(I)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol Vli.Correspondance des Administratwars.The
Provincial Youncil of Ile de France to the Council of BoLroon 29 Aug.
1729.p.56.

(2)Ibid.loret to the 8 "ouncilof Bourbon.21 and 22 Feb.I731.p.65,67-68.

(3)Ibid.The S.Council of Bourbon to the Cou:cii of Bengal! July,;732 p.219.
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ou tous les noirs des habitations ne sont occupé; qu'a faire la guerre avx
sauterelles.” (1) .

In 1733 there was a good hirvest and surplus rice and maize were
sent to lle de rrance.(2)But in the following year a cyclone struek
Bourbon and this was followed by a drought.The administrators in Bourbon
wrote to the Council in Ile de Prance:"Nous sommes...dans une extreme
digette caggeé par les quatre ouragons...qui ont €té suivis d'une
affreuse secheresse depuis 8 mois:de sorte cu'il ne reste plus dans
le magazin...nil chez les hsbitants,aucune espdce de graine...et la
grande sechsresse a méme fait perir toutes sortes d'espdces de racines
et de légumes send que nous avons aucune rssgsource dans la chessc ni
aang La pesche...ltous serons yeutétre forces de faire tusr des chevaux
et des véches...Qatte iie si abondante en haricots ne nous en & pu
fournir...cue tres peu,la plupart des habitants les ayant donnés a leurs
noirs faute d'autres choses."{3)luring this period the main article of
diet for almost the entire population was cvabbage palm hearts{paloiste)
and wild purslane.ilost of the @owmpany employees,slaves and solidiers mwere
sent into the forest to fend for themselves.The workmen wio were needed
for rebuilding progerty dan:ged in the cyclone were given prefarence in
the allocation of food. '

Ile de rrance suffered in a similar manner but the colonicts were
saved from near-starvation by the arrival of e cergo of rice froa India
on a Swedish ship.in February I735 however, de ileupin ves forced to send
all the scidiers,workmen,sailors,Indian servants and slaves into the
interior to forage.Some of the colonisls had alrsady taken to the
forests owing to the shortage of food.Commenting on this state of
affeirs in the report of 1740 Lo dourdonnais wrote:"I1 Stait comme d'une
régle annuelle que les soldats,lesd ouvriers et les habitants de 1'Ile
" 'de: France fussent uns partie de 1'ennde dand le bois & vivre de la
chasse," (4 )The ddminigtretors in the island asked for help from Bourbon
where in fact conditions may well have been worse.'La famine gui nous
‘afflige,"replied trne superior Council,"depuis plusieurs mois,lzs c_is
de toute lv colonle sembaient exiger de nous de ne point soanger a
secourir Lzs eutres pendant que nous sommes a deux doigts de notre .
perte,mais nous somames aussi touchés de votre situation que sensible 8
la notre.*(5)

The problem of food production became evan more acute in Ile de
France after the arrival of La Sourdonnais.The cirsctors of iths Coampany
had instructed him to build a depot in the N.W.Port which they intended
to make their chietf revictualliing and refitting station on the route to
Indla.Ships returning to France woere expected to carry five months
provisions for each meuber of the crew and »a aversge 8U0ton ship
had a complesnent of 200 officers and nen.The dirsctors order=d £1ips
captains tc surrender any food ioft in the hold before teXing in new
supplies but this ruls was difficult to enforce.wWhen two ships of the
'premiérz nevigation' ertived in the N.w.DPort it :s Guite probable that tie
total number of officers and men was greater thenm the population of the
port.In adaition,shipys which had bzen danaged either in the crossing
from India on the N.E.'Trades,or in rounding the Cape,had to rewsin in
the harbour until repeirs were completed.Uccasionally ships returning -
to France were unable to round the Cape and forged to return to the
Isles where they reimained until the #gsterlies had moderated.¥rom 1135
to 1740 three such ships haé to be revictualied in ile de France. (6]

(1) Leuvgnon.Cerrespondance.Vol Il.The Superior Council of Bourbon to the

Company.20 October,1751.p.142,

(2) Recusil Trimestriel.vol Vii.Correspondances des Administrateurs.p.i52.

(3) lbid.tuperior Council of Bourbon to the Provincial Council of iie de
France.20 duly, I734.p.160,164,

(4) MéToire(l740)p.10.

(5) Rgpu?il T;}mcsﬁriel.Gorrespondance des Administrateurs.p..i65.

(6) Mémoire (1740)dote X1il.p.403;Lougnon.lorrespondance. Vol Ii.
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Finally ,the unproductive section of the population increased considerably
after I735.Lerge numbers of workmen and slaves were needed to build the
depot and to staff the harbour;the garrison was strengthened in order

to defend the factory and hunt down maroons;the 'seconde navigation'

was augmented in order to safeguard the supply of food and slaves and

a hospital was built.

Bourbon,as a well-established colony, was expected to send food to
Ile de France and La Bourdonnais introduced a series of regulations to
compel the colonists to grow more food.ln 1735 the Com_.any declared a
discount on outstanding debts but La Bourdonnais announced that in order
to qualify for the concession planters were to bring certain foodstuffs
to the Company warehouse,in proportion to the amount of coffee they
wighed to sell.Colonists were fequired to surrender 22 lbs. of wheat or
rice,10 1bs of maize,91lbs. of beans and 91lbs. of meat for each 1,0001bs.
of coffee purchased by the Company.Furthermore after July;l?}S debtors
were not to be allowed to plirchase imported goods from the Company store
unless they paid for them in food. (I)

In 1737 there was a serious shortage of food in both islands.The
rice crop on the Coromandel Coast had failed;it was difficult to obtain
rice in Madagascar and a ship bringing a cargo of rice from Bengal to
Ile de France had been lost in the Ganges.Therefore in December,1737,
the Superior Council of Bourbon introduced yet another regulation with
a view to increasing food production.From 1, January 1738 imported food
and textiles from India ‘could only be obtained from the Company in
exchange for food grown in Bourbon.Posters were désplayed in all the
parishes in the island announcing this new regulation.(2) Colonists
continued to evade the ruling,however,since goods from Burope and India
could be obtained from ships of the Company which always carried a large
amount of private cargo.(3) :

The colonists in Bourbon were not in fact interested in increasing
food production.They probably had sufficient food for their own needs,
save when a cyclone struck the island,and they were quite indifferent
to the problem of feeding the slaves who formed three quarters of the
population.In the report of 1740, La Yourdonnais wrote:"Je remarquai
que plusieurs colons n'en gardaient ni n'en pouvaient avoir assez pour
leurs noirs, je fis faire une autre déliberation...que chaque habitant
aurait une certaine grandeur de terrain destiné pour planter des vivres
et ceux qui ne se trouveraient pas...on les obligerait d'avoir moins de
caffes."(4)This regulation was introduced in Yourbon in September, 1739.
In the introduction La Bourdonnais stated that the colonists were growing
too much coffee and an insufficient amount of food,"de fagon que leurs
" esclaves se trouvant dépourvus de vivres et d'Habillemens sont forces...
de s'adonner au brigandage,ce qui les expose a se faire tuer ou...de se
rendre fugitifs."(5)Slave ouners were ordered to give their slaves 21lbs.
- of rice,potatoes,or maize esach day,and to store food for the difficult
period between harvests.If they failed to obey this regulation their
slaves could lodge a complaint with an official who was authorized to
inspect plantations and,if necessary, either to order new land to be
cleared or to uproot coffee trees and plant food crops.(6)

By 1740 tne food situation in Bourbon seems to hzve improved,though
whether this was due to the measures introduced by La Bourdonnais or to
a good harvest is not known.ln November, I740 the Superior Council dumped
a large quantity of beans into the sea and in ths following year the
flirectors advised the @ouncillors to buy cereals in relation to the
needs of the garrison and the crews of Company shipg.(7)%hen La

(1) Méﬁoire(1740).p.98;Recueil Trimestriel.Vol VI1.p.30I.

(2) Ibid.Note XI.p.97.

(3) See page

(4) Ibid.p.lI.

(5) Xbid.Note XI1.p.I00.

(7) Lougnon.“orrespondance.Vol IV.The Company to the S.Council of Bourbon.

25 March,1741.p.170;Vol V.Introduction.p.XVIII. .
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Bourdonnais left the Isles in 1746 Bourbon was producing sufficient
for her own needs regarding wheat and maize and although the cyclone of
‘that year ruined the crops,food production from 1747-I749 increased
steadily and huge quantities of cereals were sent to Ile de France and
to Pondicherry.In December,l1749,a cargo of flour and salt provisions
which had arrived from Surope was re-exported owing to the abundance of
food in the Isles.(I)

In 1le de France La Bourdonnals set out to increase the number of
domestic fowls.Fresh meat was needsd aboard ships of the ‘premiere
navigation' owing to the prevalence of scurvy and the only known means
of obtaining a regular supply was by having on board a large number of
live poultry for meat and eggs.The Governor estimated that he would
need between 14,000 and 15,00§ fowl eacg year to supply the demand.In
1735 he introduced a regulati ﬂft3°g891§ 8ir seigneurial rents in poultry.
These rents had originally been fixed at 40z.of coffee per acre under
cultivation but since the island did not produce much coffee the rent
was normaliiy paid in cereals.The new regulation stated that in future
‘the rent would be calculated on the basis of 16 head of poultry for each
156 acres under cultivation. (2)

In i737 he introduced another measure.ln the introduction it was
stated:"Le Conseil voulant animer les habitants a apporter tous leurs
soins & la multiplication de la volaille et ne cherchant qu's favoriser
ceux qui temoignent le plus d'émulation...a cru ne pouvoir mieux fairg
pour les engager que d'attacher aux fournisseurs...les recompenses.”(3)
Ships captains were to receive 'billets de volaille ' from the chief
storekeeper which were exchangeable for poultry received from the
colonists.fach colonist who furnished I@Q00 birds in twelve months and
who could produce the requisite number of 'billets de volaille'! wes to
have the first choice of male slaves which arrived in the island.Those
who had furmished 600 head of poultry were to have the first choice of
adult female slaves.For providing 500 a colonist had the choice of the
best boy slave,for 400 the best small boy,and for 300 the best girl
slave. (4 )When the first distribution had taken place the remaeining
slaves were allocated in proportion to the number of 'billets de volaille'
held by colonists.In the report of 1740 La Bourdcnnais wrote:J'y déclarai
publiquement que d€sormais on aurait ni noirs ni autres choses que .
proportionellement au nombre de billets...ce qui fit que tel habitant qui
ntavait point de basse-cour en forma bientdt plusieurs."(5} The measure
proved effective and captains of ships which anchored in the N.W.Port
appear to have been able to purchase as many birds as they required e
except in ‘time of drought or after a cyclone.(6)It is,however, possible
thet in the long run this policy was harmful because the colonists wers
more interested in producing large numbers of birds then in trying to
improve existing strains.(7)

Shortly after his arrival La Bourdonnais bought a plantation in the
district of Pamplemousses and in 1736 he built Mon Plaisir,a small country
house.Various experiments with new crops were made on the estate and they
appear to mave been successful.When,in 1738 ,the Com_any was negotiating
with'La Bourdonnais for the purchase of Mon Plaisir as a hospital for
ships officers they took into consideration the availability of fresh
farm produce. (8)

(I)Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol V,Introduction.p.XVIII,

(2 )Memoire (1740)Note 19.p.95. :

(3)Ebid.Note X.p.95-96.

(5)Ibid.p.I0.

(6)Ibid.p.I0.

(7)Ivid.%ote 20.Yossigny to Urry.16 March,1739.p.9.
(8)Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol II1l.The Company to the Superior Counmcil of

Bourbon.I7 February,I738.p.I14I;Recueil Trimestriel,L'Ancien Jardin du
Roi.Vol I.p.486,
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From 1735-1742 the directors sent a wide variety of fruit trees,
cuttings and seeds to the island tog:ther with detailed instructions
regarding the best methods of cultivation.In the latter year however,
they suggested to La Bourdonnais that since the ;lants deteriorated on
the long voyage from France,it would be advisable to obtain further
supplies from the Cape.(I)The directors were ignorant of local
conditions and they drew up paper schemed for growing cereals in the
island although the sgoil,climate and social organisation were more
suiteé to sugar,coffee,indigo and rice growing.Cereals were attacked
by locusts and rats,the grain deteriorated rapidly in the granary and .
the planters found that the purchase price fixed by the eompany was far
toe low to cover the risks entailed.Morecever the colonists had cleared
large areas of forest arnd this appears to have altered local climatic
conditions;the clearings near the coast did not receive sufficient rain
for cereal growing and the crops had no protection against high winds. (2)
ﬁu ring La Bourdomnais' second tour cof duty he encouraged the
colonists to grow manioc,a roct crop which he had apparently obtained
in Braz$l in 1741.He wes not,however the first to introduce manioc into
Ile de France.In I738 manicc roots from 8enegal were sent to the Isles
by the Company and two years later a further supply from Cape Verde
arrived. (3)%hen La Bourdonnais returned from Mahe he devoted much
attention to this crop.He grew manioc on his own estate and probably in
1742 he ordered the colonists in Ile de France to grow manioc on their
plantations. in the proportion of 500 sq.yards for every slave owned. .
Menioc was particularly suited to the soil and climate of the isles and '
it was one of the few food crops wnich was not attacked by local insect
and animal pests.Nevertheless, the planters attempted to evade the order
believing that manicc was poisonous but La Bourdonnais persuaded one of
the most respected of the colonists to make flour from the root and a
reception was organised when cassava loaves were distributed emong the
guests.On the following day the loaves were inspected and eaten by
Company officials and slave owners in Port Louis.(4)
The directors supported Le Bourdonnais in his efforts to popularize
the growing of manioc and by the end of 1742 the root was being grown
on most plantations in the island.Planters in Bourbon realised that '
manioc was well suited to local conditions and they alsc began to grow
the crop.The directors supplied the administrators of both islands with
specigd epparatus for making cassava bread and within thirty years
manioc,together with maize.formed the staple diet of the slaves in bothe
islands.Charpentier de Cossigny considered that the introduction cf
manioc was La BourBionnais' chief contribution to the welfare of the Isles.
In the'Mémoire sur 1'Ile de Krance',wrltten in 1764,he wrote:"Le plus '
grand bien que ce gouverneur ait fait & 1'Ile de France et dont 1! S
avantage se fers sentir 4 le colonie dand tous les temps & venir,c'est i
d'y avoir porte a son retour des racines de manioc de Brésil...cet
arbuste qui crdit et se multiplie en fort peu de temps et qui brave les
dlus fiers ouragens,et,..les...sauterelles,met les colons et tous les
noirs dans le cas de ne jamais manquer de subsistancez(S) i

(1)uougnon. Correspondances vol IV.Extrait du Registre-Gensral.26 dune, _

1742.p.42. n
(2)Grant.{listory of Mauritius.p.36.
(3 )Zbid. Hoiignon.Gorrespondance.Vol 111.The Company to the Superior ;

Coy ncil of Bourbon.l0 July,1738.p.I43;Recueil Trimestriel.Vol I.p.423-432.

ﬁsM

(4 )Resgeni . Documents Réunis. P-2U. _ ﬂ

{5)Crépin.Cossigny.p.64-65. |




4o

IV. idconomic Affairs : Commerce.

Until 1742 the French sHast India Company had,iqﬁheory,a monopoly
of trade in dourbon and lle de ¥rance.iach yesr the directers made &
rough estimate of the needs of the Isles,based on detailed lists drawn
up by the administretors and sent to Paris.oupplies were then purchassd
in France and ,in sadition, the gouncii of rondicherry was instructsd to
send merchandise from India.The main requirements of the colonists were
food,mainly rice and wheat,slaves,wines and spirits,textiles,metal
goods and also coin and billis of exchange redeemable in Pondicherry ard
Paris.When the cclonists in Bourbon began to produce a substantiaa
coffee crop,imports from Furtps were incressed but famine in india from
1728-1730 prevented the Cduncil of Pondicherry from sending thzsir quots
of goods.It epears that from 1732-i735 imports in both islands were at
8 high level but after the arrivar of La Bourdonnais tnere is evidence
that the volume dropped considerably.The credits aiiowed to colonists
from I729-i73%4 were so large that the Company decided to restrict inports,
in the belief that a reduction woulid,by restricting the opportunitizs
for spending,induce the colomnists to repay their debts.(l)

It is extrexely difficult to give an accurate estimats of the
anmual amount of merchandise sent by the “Yomrany to Bcurbon and 1le de
France after 1735.in 1736 over 110,000 livres worth of merchandises at
invoice price entered the Corpany warechouses;Bourbon received goods to
trie value of 87,000 livres and Ile de France to the vadue of 23,00v
livres,it hag be2n estimuted that the stock in the rarehouses in Peurbon
rarely excesded 40,000 livres becauss at lewst one half of the imports
consisted of materizls nsecded fcr public works and shipning.lt msy ve
assumed that goods to tne annual value of sbout 1I00,0001livrss arrived
in the two islands in the years from 1735-174i.41e de France probzbly
received one fifth of tnis adocunt and therefore it would ap.sar tirat

‘the value of stock in the Pompeny werehouses in Port L¥uis rarely

exceeded I0,0001livres.(2)

 Ugods imported into Bourbon and Ile de France were alwuye very
expensive.The administratoss sgcld the uwerchandise at prices wiich were
fized in Paris.wropean goods uwsuvally fetchea a hrofit of 1ud ner.cent,
and indian goods, 50 per cent.until the arrival of uLa Bourconasis *he
prices were fixed in livrss,but since the colonists paid in piastres,
the Comjany almost doubled its profit owing to the favourable exchange

-rate for piastres in Europe.The Company sent gold,silver ana copper

coins to the lsles.Thd silver Spanish piastre was the standard currancy,
although there wers other coins in circulation such as the Indian gold
pagoda and copyer coins of various kinds.The Spanish piastre was valued

at 3 livres I2sous in the Isles but in gurope its value was Y livres §

sous.lIn June,l735, however, an ordinance of the Superior Council of
Bourbon announced that all “muiropsan merchandise would in future be sold

‘at prices which conforued to the exchange rate in the 1sles.in other

words an article which cost 3 livres iI2 sous in Burope would henceforth
bs socld at not more than 7 livres 4 sous or 2 piastres.(3)
Taere ware coastant complaints from the administrators and the

colonists regarding both the quality and the duantity of imports.The

colonies appear to have beaan dum.ing-grounds for inferior a~rchandise

(I )Hecueil Trimestricl.Vor il.3squisse partielle d'une histoire aconouicue
de 1'iles de Bourbon peliant la régie...de Lo Bourdonnais.p.136-142.

(2j1bid.p.i36-~242. ‘ - )

(3jlaénoire (1740 )liote 10.p.36-37,H0te 1V.p.89,
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wlich frequentiy aeteriorated further on the voyage from France or
Indie.After 1735 the directors cut down imports in order to encourage
the colonists to repay their debts and,in addition they often sent
stores which they considered vital rather than those which had been
asked for by the administrators.For example,owing to the development
of Port Louis a sustantial proportion of the exports to Ile de France
 were naval stores,tools and building equipment.The colonists,the
Company employees and the troops had money and bills of exchange but
there was very little to buy.This state of affairs was particularly
resentsd by those colonists who had discharged their debts to the
Company."Combien ai-je entendu crier,"wrote La Bourdonnais in 1740,
f"contre un pouvoir qui ne veut pas fournir en payant les besoins des
colons...Toutes les années nous sommes contraints de faire une liste
de distribution de ce gque ‘nous pouvons donner proportionellement & un
chacun, " (I)La Bourdonnais frequently asked for a greater variety of
merchandise but the directors in Paris and thz administrators in
Pondicherry believed that his demands were exessive and they continued
to restrict the export of luxury articles to the Isles.(2)

Nevertheless the colonists could purchase sup;lies from other
sources.Before the arrival of La Bourdonnais foreign ships occasionally
called at the +sles with cargoes of merchandise.From I723-1725 some
knglish ships trading from Madras visited the $eclands but in 1727 the
directors sent specific instructions iastructioms forbidding the
colonists to purchase supplies from interlopers and in the following
year an English ship was confiscated.As a result of this action interlopers
rarely visited t.nhe Isles although a Portuguese shipe was skdézed in 1732,
The colonists, however, continued to obtain goods from officers and men in
the 'premiére navigation' and the island squadron and even from the
administrators themselves,who occasionally chartered a ship for a
private trading venture. _

Officers in the 'premiere navigation' were aliowed to carry a
limited amount of cargo which they could sell in French settlements
abroad.A captain was permitted to carry free of charge and over a period
of twenty months-the normal voyage to and from India- cargo valued at
16,000 livres;a first-lieutenant,5333 livres and a second-lieutenant,
3200 livres.In wartime the officers were allowed to carry extra private
cargo and during the twasnty month voyasge, a captain could carry a further
i2,000 livres of goods,a first-lieutenant, 4,000 livres, and a second-
lieutenant,2,400 livres.ln eddition officers had the right to purchase
small cargoes of Indian textiles,pepyer and coffee and carry ihem free
of charge.Thus a ship of the 'premiére navigation' with an average
complement of eight officers cerried private merchandise on their
behalf to the value of 31,U00 livres.inwartime the amount was much
greater since the ailowance was incrcased and the complement of officers
might well be as high as twelve or even fourtean.The crew also had a
limited right to trade privately;a common seaman could purchase 30 livres
of merchandise and a cabin boy,10 livees durin; a normal voyage."On est
au dessous de la verité,"writes Cultru,"en evaluant au dixieme de la
charge du vaisseau les marchandises qu'il e€tait permis d'y placer en
vertu méme des reglements.® (3] _

These regulations,generous as they were,seem to have been constantly
abused.lt was literally impossible to calculate an allowance of cargo to
be cerried free of charge in terms of money and over a period of twenty
months,.Moreover, the allownaces themselves were so complicated that even
a strict and honest captain could not check the malpractices of dishonest
subordinates.®ost captainsprobably allowed free cargo space much in

(1) Mémoire{I740) p.40.
{2)Ibid.p.42.
(3)Cultru.Dupleix.p.27-28.1 have not found any information regarding tr
trading privileges of the officers and men in the isiand squadron.
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excess of tnat authorized Dy The Comjpany.SMUggilng apLears to nave wooo
the rulejit was,of course,extremely difficult to check the illegal
importation of goods in isolated and undermanned settlements and the
Gompany even failed to control smuggling in France.There were eiaborste
fules for the entry of goods at Lorient and mantes and customs launches
accompanied the ships indo harbour but thesre were fleets of small boats
operating off the coast of Brittany which met lndianmen some niles out
to sea and loaded the smuggled goods.(ceoasionally contraband was s#ezed.
In 1730 cottons velued at 200,000 livres were discovered at poriant and
two captains who were involved wers heavily fined end lost their
commands ena taeir merch&ndise.ﬁut few capteins were in effact caughti;
ins_ectors coulé be bribed and Some of the Compcny diractors ajjear to
have connived themselves at smuggling, (4

Company officialis in the oversess settliements also hnd the right to
trade privateiy.Whiist in the service of tue Vvemzany bath Lunleix ana
La Bourdonnais made fortunss by irading in%Far sast and thé Indian
Ocean on their own account.ln 1727 the latler wic had resignec from the
'premiére navigation' was the cajtain of = ship which was carrying
merchandise for Lenoir and the dirsctors of the Ccuncil oF rondicherry,
This branch of commerce which was callea 'Commerce 4'lnde en Inde! had
at first been a Cowmgany nonopoly but it was opered 1o ssnior 8nm any

employees in 1722.The main articles of comiierce aj;enr to hive bosn:

dates,copper and currants from Basrajteak from Achsmjcowrl sheils from
the Meldives and Manills;pepper from Mahé and Calicut;sait psire,siver
ware and rice from Chandanagore;;old,mercury, crnphor and porcelzin from
china;l.ight woollen materials end parfumes fron Fersia and coffse {rom
Moksa. (2)

The Lompany peid inadecuate salaries and therefores posts usuaiiy
attracted men whoge nain interest was this 'commerce particulier'.in
his study on smplelx Cultru describes the prevailing attitude of the
Company emp.oyees: lous ies en.loyss gtaient sans sutre fortuns ue
celle qu'ile awlent pu gagner dans la comasrce :articuliler;ieurs
appointements leur psrmettziemt & peine de vivre et iss malversions
paraissent entroc:assds en cottume."(3)Thus the private iracinz ventures
of Company employees in the tndian fuctories and in the E¥sles ware very
extensive snd a prime consicderation of tne officisls involeed.vhen war
broke out pnetween France and Bnglend in L[744 wupleix snd La Sourdonnais
suffered szrious personal losses when a number of their shine were
captured and the expedition to Madras was originally conceived as a
means of rsde=snming *heir losses. )

The di:ectors were celermined to enforcs their trade mononoly in
the Isles and La Pourdonnals recelved instructions to check smugsling.
Before 1735 soldiers were used to patroi tne shores anc¢ to supervise
the unloading of cargo but the system wes not sstisfactory..a bourdonnois
continucu to em.iloy scidiers out he also recrulted indien veons and a
compary of slaves to guard the shores when ships were in port, ali
confiscated goods wers Givided av.ong tie guards.levertheless, tnere were
no trained customs officers to direct the crcrations and no fast
launches and therafore smuggled merchendise could be unicac~é by night
and taken to one of t.e rany landing pleces along the coast.Since the
colonists were determined to purchase coatraband and the jersonnel of
goumpany ships were eageor io sell it waes virtualiy lmpossible to take
effective measgurss.furthsrnore,a sSourdonnais and the courciiiors
sympathised with the colonists;the formner remsincad the Cenany on many
occasions tre.t it had crested s situation wiich made smuggling
insvitabls. ' :

(I)'Cultru.Bupleix;p.ZO,éﬁ,G9;Méﬁoire(l740) p.44.

(2) Ibid.p.I129,141.

(3} Ibid.p.49.
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in 1739 iLa Bourdonnais,acting on orders from Paris,introduced
a comprehensive ordinance to check smuggling in Bourbon where the )
problem was more acute,owing to the size of the population.The ordinance
.mas mainly concerned with the illegal importation of slaves from Madagascar
and éast Africa but it also provided against the iliegal entry of
merchandise.Informers were ordered to lodge complaints either either
with the military commander of each district or with the Procurer- -
General.A fine of 500 livres was to be .aid for all smuggling offences
and the money wa#to be aivided between the informer and the hospital.
Gompany officials who were prosecuted for smuggling offences wsre to
be dismissed.lstachments of soldiers were to be posted abozrd Company
ships when they were anchored off St.lUenis and St.Paul and ong or tJo
soldiers were to accompany any long boats sent loaded to the shors.*he
Superior Council dso asked the diresctors to mark all msrchandise wvhich
vas exported by the Company. (1)

In 1739 the directors attemptec to limit tha extent of privuts
trading in the Isles in two ways.Firstly, they withdrew the trading
priveleges of officers end msn in the 'premidre navigation'.Hencsforth
the Company was to invest the capital which officers end men intended
to use for private trading in major coumercial enterprises and s thirty
per cent dividend was to be paid.(2)Secondly, they decided to increase
the quota of goods sent to the [sles and in I740 and cgein in 1741 they
informed the Council of Pondicherry tiat they were allocating 6,000marks
(250,000 Livres) per year for the purchase of slaves and merchindlse
in India,for export to Bourbon and Ile de France.In the latter year
the touncil of Bourbon Was assured that all reasoneble demands would
be met by the factories in india.it appears thd a greatly inc-ased
volume of Indian merchandise was sent to tne IBles in I741 but when,in
the following year,freze trade was introduced,the allocction of money for
the purchase of goods in ilndia was drasticslly cut and efter 1743 no
allocation was made. (3j

In the regort of 1740 L& Bourdonnais sxzlained thet smuggling could
not be stopped by pureiy administrative measures,"parcacue les
ordonnances qui sont contre le bien,ou 1l'opinion general,n'ont aucun
effet dés gque 1 on n'est pes dans i'état ce las faire exscuter.”(4)

He set out to prove thai the trading monopoly exercised by the Frgnch
sgst India Company was a major cause of the economic .ryblems of Bourbon
and Ile de ¥rance.The Company was primarily a trading corporation“but as
seigneur of the Isles it was responsible for the weifare of the
inhebitants.“Comme ssigneur,"he wrots,"elle doit chercher & y mettre 1'
abondance,a rendre son peuple heureux par des lois justes qui les
maintiennent dans leurs droits;comme negotiant,esile dolt profiter de ses
privileges pour s'attirer les benefices gui lui sont poszibles,"These
two interestss however,were difficuit to reconcile and thaerefore,"la
vompagnie ss piant souvent des Iles ot les iles sont toujours mécontents
de ia Gompagnie.™(9)

La pourdonnais,who had been influsnced by tne teacnings of the
eq;%y phy§iocrats,advocated a free trade policy."Le plus sur moyen de
remedier a ses inconvenients,he wrote,"est ¢e s2 gouverner par des lioic
naturslles.ll est de fuit que 1'on ne conduit Le public au point cue 1!
on veut que par son interet puriiculier,ou par une force superieure a la
quslle on Golt s'attendre cu'il se derobera autant qu'il lui sera
possible.™(6)In the report cf 174V he argusd that free trade would

(1 )udeaoire (1740) Note XXXI111.p.160-162,172,475-177.

(2 juougnon.Correspondance, Vol Il.introduction.p XXII-XX1II.4 have not
discovered how long this new arrajgzement was in operation.it is certein
that smuggling continued on e ilarge scale.

{3)ibid.Vol 1V.IRtroduction.p.XuIV-aliy.

(4 )Memoire(1740) p.44-45.

(5)1bid.p.75.

(6)ibid.p.76.



strengthen the economy of the lsles,8evelop ship ing,free the ﬁompany
from its obligation to purchase the entire coffee crop of BourBon and
encourage the colonists to grow alternative crops.Smuggling woulg no
longer be profitable."Cet arrangement,"he wrote,"est avantageux a la
Compagnie enke que cela la débarasse de toutlpe qu'elle ne voudra
point faire,est lui assuré des droits d'entree sur tout ce que feront
les autres." (1) ,

The directors studied the report and in 1741 they informed the
vouncils that,from January,1742-to December, 1747,the colonists could
trade freely with Indian factories and in Madagascar and sasg’ﬂfrica.
La Bourdonnais was given instructions,"pour donner la liberte é 1!
habitant de se procurer par luil méme les marchandises propres & son
usage et d'envoyer traites pour son commpte des noirs."(2)in I741
when he returned to the *sles La Bourdonnais addressed a letter to the
Councils advising the colonists:"Ehercher la fortune par toute la
terre,et de rapporter chez eux l'abondance,sans nul empacpment qu'un
médiocre droit d'entrée sur les noirs et les marchandises. (3)The
directors agreed to place the ships of the Com _any at their disposal
in return for a ten per cent freightage charge and a payment of 50livres
for each slave carried to the lsles.When merchandise and slaves
arriyed in theé JIsles the importers were required to pay a five per
cent entry charge for merfhandise and an import duty of 50 livres per
slave. (4)

¥hen ,in 1742,.a Bourdonnais returned to the lsles after the
expedition to Mahe he discovered that the relaxation of the Bompany
monopoly had not led to any marked increase in trade.In August,bI742,
he reissued the Company orders of the previous year and later he tried
to stimulate interest by organising two societies in Bourbon.These
joint-stoack companies were formed to provide capital to fit out two
ships, the Aigle and the Renommee,to trade with lndia.The shareholders,
however,were unenthusiastic and the plan fell through.The Governor had
soon realised that the frese trade experiment was not likeiy to succeed;
in August, 1742, he announced that wines,spirits and textiles were to
remain a Company monopopy,a measure intended to safeguard supplies of
these vital imports.In 1743 ,however, he received instructions(dated
October,1742, )from the Company ordering him to free all articles from
monopoly restrictions,announcing at the same time that colonists could
trade with France.The Councils were advised to promote trade and new
regulations were issued:all merchants intending to trade with India
were required to carry the merchandise in Company ships to vompany
depots in 1ndia where entry dues were to be paid.The administrators
were required to issue permits for all trading ventures and any ships
which had not obtained the requisite certificates were liable to be
s@ézed as interlopers.(5)New freight charges were announced;merchants
who imported goods from India were to pay a freight charge of ten per
cent on light goods and twenty per cent on heavy goods.fThese charges
were increased by five per cent for the importation of goods from
France. (6) :

. lespite the abolition of the Company monopoly,the framing of
elaborde rules and the efforts of the Governor to encourage the
colonists to form trading companies,the experiment was a failure.In
Ile de France the populatione was small,the island did not have a
satisfactory cash crop and the colonists lacked capital.In Bourbon
there was a larger population and a cash crop wheéth the Company was
prepared to purchase despite tne difficulty of seliing the coffee in

(I)Mémoire (1740)p.T8. . _

(2 Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol IV.Introduction.p.XII1I.
(3)See Recufil Trimestriel.Vol II.p.38-58,

(4 )Ebagnon. Correspondance.Vol 1V.Introduction.p.XIII-XIV.
' (5)Ibid.p.XIV-XVI, .

(6 )Recueil Trimestriel.VYol 1I1I.p.217-220
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Burope but the average colonist was heavily in debt and could not
contemplate participation in trading ventures.There were admittedly a
number of rich planters in the island but they were unwilling to risk
their capital.After 1742 war between England and France seemed imminent
and in I744 hostilities finally broke out.Trade with #urope and India
thus became virtually impossible.

Although a small number of merchants availed themselves of free
trade conditions and imported articles in “ompany ships,making a huge
‘profit,yet the volume of imports shrank alarmingly and finally the
colonists begged the directors to reestablish the Company monopoly.On
30 March, 1745, the directors announced that free trade was to continue
until 31 ﬂecember,1750,but in March, I746,the monopoly was reimposed.
Colonists were forbidden:"d'introduire,de vendre ou faire vendre...aucuns
noirs,boissons,marchandises tant d'Burope que de Uhine et des Indes,sous
peine de confiscation et de mille piastres d'amende.“(I) This
reimposition of the Com_.any monopoly did not bring about an immediate
increase in imports.War conditions restricted shipping and from July,
1744, to October, 61745, the Company lost 12 ships.In the next few years
there was a grave shortage of consumer goods and the situation was
further aggravated when,in i746,La Bourdonnais stripped both islands for
his expedition to Madras.The plight of the colonists in Hourbon may be
Judged from repeated appeals for help from the Buperior Council;in
Uctober, 1749, they informed the Company that,"lajplus grande partie des
277V blancs et la totalite des II,860 esclaves étaient nus aux point
d'exciter la compassion du coeur."(2) .

La Bourdonnais had believed that the economic problems of Ile de
France and Bourbon would be solved by the introduction of free trade,and
although the Company gave some measure of support, the plan failed, due
largely to the lack of capital and initiative on the part of the colonists,
La Bourdonnais' other project,however,of bringing prosperity to the
Isles by the creation of an entrepot in the N.W.Port,met with strong
opposition from the Company.Ile de France seemed to be an ideal centre
for the collection and distribution of goods from France,India,Ghina
and Bourbon,since it lay in a central position between .urope and India,
La Bourdonnais wanted to build a number of large warehouses in the
N.WsPort to receive merchandise from éurope and the #ast.He was confident
that the Company would benefit financially if ships in the 'seconde
navigation' brought merchandise from India,@hina and Bourbon to Ile de
France,where it would be unloaded and stored.Ships in the 'premicre
navigation' would deposit their cargoes in the Company warchouses to be
transshipped by ships of the 'seconde navigstion' and then returned
loaded to France. '

This gan had three advantages.firstly,it would have diminished the
cost of equipping and refitting the Indiamen in the 'premiére navigation'.
These ships were exgected to make six voyages to India,each of about two
years duration.The Company paid between 120,000 and 180,000 livres for
a large merchanﬂbhip and the cost of fitting out an Indiaman lay in the
region of 75,000 livres.In addition there were wages to be paid and food
and naval stores had to be provided during the voyage. (3 )If the Indiamen
had picked up the iastern merchandise in Ile de France the voyage would
have been shortened by one year and the expenses incurred by the Company
would have been cut by at least one third,since ships of the'seconde
navigation' were cheaper to maintain.In the second place ,the creation of
an entrepot was expected to stimulate shipbuilaing as more ships would
be needed.Finally ,with the development of the K.W.Port sprivate shippipg
and mercantile companies would have sprung up, bringing new prosperity to
the Isles. : .

(1)Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol IV.Extrait du Registre General.30 March,1746.
p.246;6 April, 1746 .p.249-250,

(Zglbid.Vol”'V.Inti'oduction.p.IX-X.

(3)Cultru.fupleix.p.26,34,
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The directors were not to be won over by these arguments and in
November, I737, they informed La Bourdonnais ghat the COmpany,?tout
murement considst€...ne pensera jamais & former un entrepot & 1'Ile de
France."They went on to say that they were not prepared to finance the
construction of additional ships for the 'seconde navigation' or to
build new wirehouses,and they pointed out t.aat it would be necessary to
employ many more workers,to build additional naval stores, to strengthen
the fortifications of the island, to inc.ease the size of the garrison
and to recruit an artillery regiment for service in the lIsles.Apart
from the considerable capital outlay entailed, there were, they suggested,
a number of yroblems involeved in the trans-shipment of merchandise:

" pertes souvent de marchang;ses danglies deéhargements,transports et
chargements dont les employés aux indes ne seraient plus responsables,
avaries qui peuvent arriver...les megezins exposés a la fureur des noirs
marrons.”(I) '

La Bourdonnais believed his scheme to bs sound and when the work

of equipping the N.W.Port was progressing satisfuctorily he turned his
attention to shipbuilding as a first step towards the creation of an
~ entrepot.By 1740 a schooner had been built and another shipe was due
to be launched in a few months time.The directors disapproved of this
modest shipbuilding progremme and in March, 1739, they had ordsred La
Bourdonnais to abandon the scheme but he ignored their instructions.
Horeover, he built two new wings of a hospital in the N.W.Fort which
could be converted into warehouses and shops,if,as he explained in a
report of 1I740,"un jour on pensait autrement sur 1l'entrepot.”(2)

There is surprisingly little evidence regarding La Bourdonneis!
activities in the period from 4742-1745 sbut it seems likely that he
was still interested in the formation of an entrepot.The directors
continued tof be suspicious of his intentions.In 1744 they forbade any
further building operations in Ile de France and Bourbon and tareatened
to surcharge the Governor and Councils if they built without first
obtaihing permission from the Company. (3)In the following year they
informed the Council of Pondicherry:"L'intention de 1la Compagnie,
suivant cu'elle s'en est expliquee avec M,de la Bourdonnaye,n' §tant
point d'entrer dans tous les projets d'etablissements qu'il travail a £.;
former a 1'Ile de France,elle a révenu ce @onseil qu'il ne devait
mettre a execution les demande8@ qui pourront lui etre-faites a cet effet
qu'autant que 1'on lui remettra les fond necessaires pour les pouvoir
‘remplir."(4)

This survey of commerce in Ile de France and pourbon would not be
complete without some reference to the organisation of the slave trade.
A constant flow of siaves was necessary if the economy of the Isles was
to expand.The problem was particularliy acute in Bourbon,where the
number of colonists had increased considerably owing to the deveio_ ment
of a successful cash crop.In 1732 there were at least 800 plantations in
gourbon,needing a minimum of 20 slaves apiece if they were to function
efficiently,yet in this year there were only 5,800 slaves in the entire
island.In Ile de France it would ap.sear that the guestion was less
pressing since no suitable cash crop had been found and the pro:ortion
of slaves to planters was appreciably higher than in Bourbon, (5)

(1)Memoire(I740)Hote.p.124-125.

{(2)Ibid.p.I7. _

(3)Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol IV.The Company to the Superior Council of
Bourbon.9 April,1154.p.2041/ .

(4)Ibid.sxtrait du Registre ueneral.lS June, 1745.p.475-176. ¢

(5)Ibid.Vol I1.The Supefkor Council of Bourbon to the Company ,15 October,
1732.p.19-34; Bemoire(1740) p.9 -According to La Bourdonnais, there were
in 1735,64 nale colonists and 648 siaves,
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Nevertheless,if the island was to fulfil the role designated for it by
the Bompany and become the chief revictualiing station in the Indian
Ocean, then a considerable number of slaves was needed to clear land and
to labour on the new plantations.In addition,slaves were mequired for
a wide variety of jobs;the maintenance and extension of rbads;building
operations;shipbuilding and harbour dutiesjand domestic service.They
were even employed as militiamen for hunting maroons and in an emergency
they were trained as soldiers.Regiments of feithful slaves took part in
military operdtions in India. _ i

The French #ast india Company had a monopoly of slave trading in
the Isles.un the whole the traffic was very lucrative,although the
transport of slaves from ®est Africa was a risky opsrationj first-
class male slave from $ke West Africa or Madagascar fetched 600 livres
and in I736 the Superior Councii of Bourbon estimated that the annual
profit from the sale of slaves in the island exceeded 100,000 livres.
Slaves were purchased in four markets:West dfrica,Madagescar,Bast
Africa and India.The main slave depot of the Company was situated in
Senegal at Fort Louis and the Company also had another slaving ceatre
further south at Goree;Madagascar was to become the chief reservoir of
glaves owing to its proximity to the isles;a regular trade develo,ed
between ﬁozambique and the Isles af.er 1732;India provided a smaller
number afid they usually served as workmen or servants rather than
plantation workers. '

From 1727 to 1731 slaves from West Africa vere transgorted to t.e
isles direct from the depots at Senegal and Boree but t.e trade was
discontinued owing to the iength of the voyage.The mortality rste was
appalling as may be. judged from a letter which the administrators in
lle de France wrote to the Youncil of Bourbon in 1731;"ue vaigseau,
la Badine...venant de Sénégal mouilla en ce port...de 200 noirs dont il
gtait charge il nous en a remis 37 en trés mauvais état et dont 8 sont
de¢ja morts;le reste est morte pendant la traversee," (1)For some years
after I751 the imports of slaves from West Africa were very small and
when,in 1737, the Company agreed to send a greater number, the '
organisation of the trade was modified.Slaves were sent from the west
coast to Lorient and small groups were put aboard ships of the 'pre.xére
navigrtion' which were either calling at the isles on their uwuy to
india or collecting the coffee croy in Bourbon.For exagply,in I741,the
Heron and the Jupiter each brought 50 slaves from Senegal and_in 1745,
the Triton and the wuc d'Orleans brought 50 between them.¥hen war
broke out in 1744 ,however, the system was abandonned and the directors
made a priv: te arrangement with a shiy owner from #lantes who agreed to
transport slaves from West Africa to the Isles. (2)

lMadagsscar .roved far more satisfactory as a reservoir for slaves.
It was only a few days sail from the Isles and furthermore sup_.lies were
good.Control of the trade appears to have been in the hands of a
- Malagasy king,Andrianababa,or as the Frencn calied him,Adrien Baba,.lhis
ruler was on friendliy terms with the administrators in the lsles and in
1732 he soid Ilg Marotte to the uvompueny in the hope that a permanent
slave depot would be established there.The directors might well have
gone ahead with the plan but,in 1739,17 members of the crew of the
Lééére were murdered in the island and the project was abandonned.in
1740 the king approachea the Acting-Governor of Ile de France,st.Martin,
with further proposals.The latter ex_:lained that thescheme was
impossible,although he invited the Malagasy ruler to set up en entrepot
on his-own account.in the folliowing year Andrianababa promised to
coliect 1,000 slaves and 600,000 lbs., of rice for export to the I32es

() Recueil Trimestriel.Vol VII.Correspondance des Administrateurs,
The Provincial Council of Ile de France to the Superior “ouncil of
Bourbon..47 June, 1731.p.74. _ :

(2) wougnon.vorrespondance.Vol iV.Introduction.p.XulV.
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but it is not known whether he honoured his promise and whether trade
trade continued on a large scale. (i) During the 'period under review,
moet of the slaves from Madagascar were purchased by the Company
through its agents,the Superior Councils,but there was an illegal
traffic in slaves from Madagascar and in I739 La Bourdonnais introduced
- & measure to check it. ’

Indian slaves were purchased by the Councils of Pondicherry and
Chandanagore and sent to the isles and a regular trade developed during
the seventeen twenties.After the arrival of La Bourdonaais the Company
allowed the colionists to make private arrangements to buy slaves in
India,provided that Company ships were used for transport,at a charge
of 200 livres per heed for fcoc and passage.This rarticular brahch of
the slave trade was especially sinister for it eppeers that many of
the Indians who were brought to the Isles had either been kidnapped
or else recruited under bogus schemes for paid contract lebcur.A
merchant named Judde ran & very profitable business on these lizes in
Pondicherry and there were others of his kind in Chandanagore.The
Councils in India failed to put a stop to this miserable traffic ,
éithough they expressed concern about the effect of these operations
on Company relations with local princes. (2}

Slave tading with gast Africa was not directly controlled by the
French #ast India “Yompany,although their ships apgear to have been used
to transport slaves to the Isles.Foreign ships were forbidden by
Portugal to trade with their settlements in Hozambique and the Viceroy
had received orders to seize all interlopers.ihe trade, houever,aprears
to have developed after 1752 when Pumas, Governor of the Isles,sent the
Vierge de Grace to Bozambique,The ¢aptain returned with 368 negroes
and the success of this voyage encouraged further enterprises.ila
Bourdonnals continued to exploit this trade in coliaboration with other
senior officials and in 1742,the #igle and the Parfaite,and in 1744, the
dupiter ana the Farfaite,brought cargoes of slaves from this area. (3)

Slaves from Madagascar,Inaia and Mozambigue were usually carried in
ships of the island squadron.There wers during the governorship of
La Bourdonnais between six and eight ships in this fleet anda they were
used to bring rice,textiles and siuves to the tsles. rhe s¢uadron, hovever,
was too small -to meet the demands made upon it'and ships of the
'premiere navigation' and special slave ships from Vest Africa were
"called upon to assist.for example,the Medusa,which carried 237 slaves from
the Guinea Coast in 1729,remained in the Fsles until Decenber, 1731, and
during this time it made three voyages to’Madagascar and carried nearly
1,000 slaves.Again,in 1731, the Duc de Noailles brought 50 slaves from
Hest Africa and then sailea to biagagascar,bringing 361 slaves for Qourbon(4)

Reliable figures for imports of siaves are difficult to obtain,
since it is possible that the administrators submitted false returns to
the Company and withheld information regarding their private ventures
in Mozambique.in addition slauves were imported privately from India on
vompany ships and smuggled in from Madagszscar.From 17201731 ,according
to official figures,Bourbon received about 5,500 slaves,2,000 from
Madagascar,I,u00 from West Africa,and 300 from India(5),bringing the
total figure,in 1732,to 5,500 in the whole island.BDuring the next four
years imports included a further 1,I00 slaves from Madagascar,about
300 from Mozambique end I00 or so from India.The flow of slaves
continued steadily and by 1749 the sleve population of Bourbon was

estimated at II,BGU(G),including_presumably slaves born in the island

(I)Lougnon.Cog;qppondance.Vol IV.Introduction.p . XLVI-XLVII,Bxtrait du

”

Registre ueneral.26 June,1742.p.4Q;4;.
(2)Ibid.p.XuV¥I,Extrait du Registre General.Il9 June, I743.p.84.
(3)Ibid.p.XL¥il-XLiX, :

(4)Ibid.Vol I.Intréduction.p.XXZIV-XXXVII.

(5)Ibid.p.XXXVIIX.

(6)Lbid.vol V.lntroduction.p.X.
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aibnougn tnis internai iricrease was no avuvt cvamaaiicéu Oy wsaths due
.to epidemics which regularly swept the Isles,and by the numbsrs of
slaves who escaped into the forests.From 1735-1740 the slave
population in lle de France increased fourfold,reaching a figure of
2,612.(1) : :

’ The distribution of slaves was always a source of friction,not
only among the colonists,but also between the Councils of the two
islands.Since ships usually called first at Ile de France,it is possible
that the administratoss sslected the best slaves from each cargo and
took more than their fair share;the Superior Councili of Bourbon
frequentliy complained of unfair distribution,the more so as Ile de
Prance seemed to have a surplus of slaves, es exemplified by the steady
flow of slaves from Ile de France to Hourbon whesre the need was greater
and prices higher.ua Bourdonneis himself exported a batch of slaves to
Bourbon in 1738, )

Internal distribution was determined by the Governor and Youncils,
who usualiy appropriated a mixed group of between I5 and 20 slaves from
each 100 new arrivals,for the Company slave gangs.In Ile de France
La Bourdonneis decided that slaves should be distributed in relation_ to
the number of ‘'‘billets de voleaille' held by a colonist.In Bourbon a &aﬂ’
was passed in I739,steting that all slaves were to be kept by the
Council until December of each year,when there was to be a big auction,
details of which were to be published throughout the island in October.
Before the sale the slaves were to be divided inbo batches of I5;the
Council then drew lots for the Company quéta and the remainder were
distributed according to the size of the plantation and the number of
slaves already owned.It is not clear,from ia Bourdonnais!' report,uvhether
this system,with its obvious drewbacks,was maintained anf vhether it had
the desired result of ensuring a fairer distribution.(2)

(I)Memoire (I74C) B.9,3%.

(2)Ibid.Note XXXI11.p.160-I61,175. As an additional preceution it was
stated that uompany officials who obtained sluves through private-
-trafling ventures were not to sell them for twvo years,nor were they
to sell them under assumed names.
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IV.Economic Affadrs :The Public Debt.

In the early eighteenth century the French BEast India vompany
considered tnat the most effective method of controlling the activities
of the colonists was'de rendre l'Habitant tcujours débiteur & la
vompagnie."(1)This policy,however defeated its own ends and when, in
I1730,the public debt in sourbon and ile de France exceeded 4,000,090
livres,the Company began to agitute for repayment.The development of a
successful cash crop in Bourbon led to a considerable increase in the
1sland's population.New colonists were allowed to borrow glaves,tools
and foodstuffs to tide them over the early years.Theg wvere expected to
repay the loans in coffee which was accepted in the ouipany warehouses
at a price fixed in I1722.Some of the planters who had been in the island
for a number of ysars had managed to pay off their debts but in the
seventeen twenties there were a great many planters who had been in the
colony for about ien yeers and who had not been able to pay more than a
small fraction of their debts.By I730 the directors realised that the
situation was getting out of hand.As the population increassd the
Company wes called upon to provide for the newcomers, the majority of
whom were entirely without financial resources,and there was little hope
of recovering thase debts for a number of years.Horeover,colonists who
vere already established, showed no signs of honouring their debts.(2)

The situation in Bourbon was aggravated by the outbreak of a
smallpox epidemic in 1729 which caused the death of a large number of
slaves.In the seme year the colonists suffered considerable losses on
account of locusts which attacked the food groving areas of the island,
To add to the general hardship the period from i729-I732 was remarkable
for the violence of the cyclones.The effects of these varied disasters
were serious and far-reaching.planters who lost their slaves and their
crops were forced to borrow from the Uompany,which was faced with a
decrease in production and an increas@ in the demand for further credit.
The directors accepted this policy in- the hope that the island would
soon produce sufficient coffee of high quality to justify the new
advances.

The situation in Ile de Krance was somewhat different.Ilt was not
until 1727 that the Company decided to meke serious efforts to develop
the island.luring the next few years several families from France and
pourbon, some marrieda soldiers discharged from the garrison in
Pondicherry and a& number of wonen from Brittany settied in Ile d= France,
Yihen,in I751,the directors deciced to use the N.W. Port as a port of
call and revictuslling station for Company ships, the need tor food beczme
more pressing ,and anyone who wag prepared to gettle and 8row food was
offerea land and generous credit.Colonisation wag slow and the call on
Company credit correspondingly small.However,the colonists do not appear
to have made much effort to develop their plantations;as La Bourdonnais
remarked:"Je remarquai...qu'une quartite ae personnes se falsaient
habitants sedement'pour vivre des avances que la Compagnie donnait aux
nouveaux colons;et que\lors’qu'il s'en trouvait de fainéénts,taut
tombda.t en pure perte a la Compegnie"(3) In spite of this,the Company
was forced to support the planters in these early years,if the
colonisation of Ile de France was to prove worthwhile.

(I)Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol I,The Company to the Superior Council of
Bourbon.I0 Gectober,1725.p.7.

(2)Ibid.Vol iI.Introduction.p.XVII-XVIII.

(3)Memoire(1740) p.8.
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in 1735 'the planters in Bourbon owed the Company between 1,200,086
and I,40Q000 livres;figures for ile de France are not known,but the
total debt was probably less than 150,000 livres.Nevertheless the
directors tended to regard the lsles as one administrative unit and |
therefore the machinery for the recovery of debts applied equally to |
both islands, the colonists being expected to repay their debts by the
sale of produce to the Company.The administrators were supposed to
rstain two thirds of the purchase price of all produce accepted in the
Company warehouses for the repgyment of debts and the colonists were
allowed to buy imported goods in proportion to the remaining one third.
In Ile de France this policy was quite unrealistic because the colonists
were not yet established and they rarely had any food or cash crops to
sell and,in addition,almost unlimited credit was needed if the island
was to function effectively as a fefitting and revictualling station.

In Bourbon the policy of the Company proved to bs impracticable sincs
the disasters in the period from I729-1732 vpset the machinery for the
recovery of debts and increased the size of the debts themselves.

By 1734 the directors decided to restrict credit and to use all
methods at their disposal to recover outstanding debts.In Sourbon no
further credit,save for the growing of experimental crops,was to be
given.In Ile de France,wners the public debt was small,loans to newly
arrived colonists were to be restricted to 4,000 livries in slaves.(I)

La Bourdonnais was asked to devise new maGhinexry to spsed up the rate
of repayment.He persuaded the directors to declare en annual discount
on voluntary repayment of debts and later he tried to organise a system
of obligatory repeyments based on the number of salves owned.In if’6

a 40% discount was declared and a substantial number of planters appear
to have taken advantage of the scheme,but in the following years the
discount was reduced.In 1737 it was 334%,in 1738,25%,in 1739,20% and in
1740 it was only 163%.La Bourdonnais remarked in the report of 1740
that as the rate of discount fell,"1l'objet non €tait —nm nrsez
considerable pour engager les habitants deébiteurs & se hiter de payer."(2)
The system of annual obligatory repayments was introduced in 1739.The
repayments were to be levied in relation to the number of slaves owned
and if a colonist refused to pay his debts his slaves were to be siezed
and sold at a public auction.The policy however does not apnear to have
succeeded, {3)

Ali attempts by administrators in the Isles to recover even a small
proportion of outstanding debts were destined to tail because the
colonists had in ract no intention acquitting their obligations.They
knew that the administrafors could not sieze@ the property of alli
innabitants owing money to the Uompany;as La Bourdonnais remarked; "Tous
sont dans une securite parfaite...parcequé la Compagnie ne se déterminera
ni ne peut prendre un parti violent contre une colonie en entier."(4)

If a plantation and a number of slaves were siezed by order of the
Superior Council and put up for auction the colonists refused to purchass
them;if the Bouncil withheld imported merchandise from debtors they
purchased smuggled goods.Moreover,rather than depogit their produce in
the Company warehouses,where the greater part was s¥ezed for the
repayment of debts,the colonists preferred to make private arrangements
with wealthy planters who had paid off their debts to sell their crops
for cash,of alternatively they sold their produce to passing ships.4

The Company meanwhile used indirect methods to compel the colonists
‘to repay their debts.The directors oelieved that restrictions on the
export of Buropean and Indian merchandise,together with the regulation
of exports of coin,would create an economic atmosphere favourable to

rd
(I) Mewoire{ir40) p.8.
(2) Ivid.Note 1V.p.86.
(3) Ivid.p.7-8,Note VI.p.87~90,Note VIII.p.90-94,
(4) Ibid.p.7.
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to the repayment of Gebts.The resduction in imports,hovever,did not ieaa
to any improvement in the rate of repayment.Company ships caelling at
the Isles carried private cargoes which the colonists were able to buy
and L& Bourdonnais himgelf fitted out a number of ships which brought
supplies from India,the Cape and Hozambique.As the volume of exports,
from the vompany decreased,the prices of foreigy goods rose and ships
captains were tempted to exceed tineir quota of legal private trading
and to smuggle luxury @oods into the lsles.Morzover,colonists who haa
paid off their debts purchasec sup_lies in bulk from the Company
stores and resold them to debtors. ()

The problem of recovering outstanding debts was complicated by
the fact that the adminigtrators themeelves, were heavily in debt.ln
October,.1754,the diresctors warned the Superior Council of Bourbon:
"Les credits faits aux employes et officisers...absorbent prescve 1ls
tiers de ce qui est du en totalite a la Comnagnie...flle n'est pas
fachéé,que ceux qui sont & son service jouissent du benéfice...mais
les credits ont €té faits avec trop peu de mesure."(2)After I735 credit
was severely restricted in Bourbon but Company officials were able to
borrow money for growing experimental crops end there can be little
doubt that advances were mede to councillors and others who had no
intention of fulfilling the conditions of the loan.Moreover,Company
officials newly arrived in lIle de France could borrow 4,000 livres in
slaves.The Uoverncr ssems to have had special facilities for obtaining
credit;when La Bourdonnais left the Isles in 1746 he owed the Company
148,895 livres.(3) '

Thus the Govemnor and Company officials were bound to take the
part of the cclonists.In Kovember,i1736,the Superior Council of Bourbon
drew up a balance sheet,the object of which may well have been %o
persuade the directors to introduce a long-term system of repayment.
It was pninted out that the zrofit from the sale of coffee was only
one aspect of Bompany profits;apart from the returns from the receipt
of royalities of 40z, of coffee per acre,which in 1734 amounted to
31,292 1lbs.,the Compeny reccived transfer dues,a profit of Su% on
ilmports from Indiz,100% on imports from #urope and 100,000 livres per
annum from the sale of slaves.(4)The balance sheet,however,failed to
convince tiae directors and in YFebruary,I738,they advised the administrators
to cut down expenditurs and to pr2ss for the immediate repayment of
debts.

Although. La dourdonnais was well awere of the fact that the
colonists did not intend to honour their obligations,yet,as an
administrator,he was obiiged to formulate policies in order to satisfy
the directors who were for ever pressing for immediat=2 repayment.In
the report of 1740 he advised the fompany:"le plus sér(moyen) est de
convenir avec eux...l'un apres l'altre de ce qu'ils peuvent payer par
annee...si quelqu'un ne voulait pas entrer en composition,la gompagnie
est en droit de lul faire vendre son habitation et une ou deux
exemples de sévérité frappes sur les plus entetés rendraient tous les
autres traitzbles."(5) On his return to the iIsles in I74I he instructed
the Superior touncil of Bourbon to order ail colonists to repay what
they owed in instaiments,in relation to the number of slaves owned.In
March, 1741, the directors,acting on the adviee of La Bourdonnais,issued
specific instructions to the administrators in Bourbon to force the
plenters eithsr to make a solemn promise before a notary to pay their
debts in ingtelments or alternatively to pay & substantial lump sum as

(L )Lougnon.Correspondance. Vol 11.lntroduction.p.XXIX-XXliII.
(2)Ibid.The vonpany to the sSuperior Council of Bourbon.il October, 1734 pd9,

{3)Ibid.Vol V.Introduction.p,XIX-XXI,

(4)Ibid.Vol Li.lntroduction.p.XiX-XX.
(5 )Memoire(1740) p.6S6.
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a token of their good faith.Colonists who failed to comply with the new
regulations were to lose their houses,moveable property and land and
these were to be put up for auction.If they remained unsold after a
certain period the Vompany was to purchase them. (I)

In the report of 1740 La Bourdonnais put forward a number of
arguments in favour of feee trade.He believed that if the directors
agreed to annul the Uompany monoppdy of trade,the Isles would develop
more rapidly and their economic problems would be solved;as. the colonists
grew richer so they would be able to discharge their debts.de convinced
the directors of the sounaness of this policy and in I174I,vwhen he
returned to the Isles,he addressed a letter to the two Councils advising
the colonists to take advantage of the relaxation of the Qompany
monopoly.But the experiment was doomed to failure;the 1slé8nds lacked
capital;a career at sea was unpopular;there were few ships available
for private enterprise.In 1742 war with @ngland seemed likely and two
years later hostilities actually broke out .The maintenaxe of regular
trade relations between India and the Isles,even under the aegis of thg
Company,was precarious in peacetime,but in wartime it was impossible.
Thus the introduction of free trade did not increase the wealth of the
iglands and the colonists' debts remained unpaid.In I743 the colonists
in Bourbon and lle de France owed the “Yompany 1,320,000 livres and
700,000 livres respectively. (2)

By 1743 the directors were prepared to face the unpalatable truth
that the advances made by the Bompany were not likely to be recovered |
by administrative action alone.They had reduced the volume of imports;. '
harsh measures had been tried;they had permitted free trade.In 1741
La Bourdonnais informed Orry that even if the Superior Youncil
confiscated the estates of recalcitrant debtors,the majority of planters
would have had to borrow money in order to pay for the estates.therefore
the Company decided to tackle the problem in an entirely new way.lt |
appefrs that in 1742 a group of planters in Hourbon offered to farm '
the public debt.This offer was rejected,but in ﬂovember,1743,the
directors announced that the Pompany was willing to transfer the entire
debt at a high discount rate to ,"une compagnie bonne et solvable s'il
s'en présentait une."(3)They believed that the chances of recovering the
advances were so slender that they were prepared to cut their losses
and to declare a rate of discount of 50% in return for a reasonably
prompt repayment of the remeining half.(4)

In 1744 La Bourdonnais advised the colonists in Bourbon to take '
advantage of the'scheme, #zthough he proposed certain modifications.In '
July,l1744,he ordered the inhabitants to choose four delegates from each ,
quarter,who were to meet in St.Denis on 31 July.At the meeting he H
explained the new proposals and expressed the opinion that it would not !
be to the colonists advantage if a small group of speculators purchased w
the entire public debt at half price.Headvised the colonists to ﬁ
shoulder the public debt themselves by subscribing to a fund which,he
insisted,should be organised on the broadest possible babis.The deputies |
produced a scheme which was vetoed by the Governor and on 3 August he |
proposed an alternative scheme,The colonists dwed the Gompany I,320,000 l
livres and the Company. was prepared to se2l the debt fér 660,000 livres.

La Bourdonnais proposed to raise an immediate sum of 100,000 livres and j

to pay off the residue in six annual repayments.The deputies were asked |
to find subscribers and La Bourdonnais himself promised to participate i
in the scheme.un 8 August the deputies reassembled in St.benis and
announced that twelve colonists had promised to lend 25,000 livres

(I )uougnon.Correspondance.Vol I¥I.The Company to the Superior Youncil of

. Bourbon.25 March,¥741.p.168-169,171-172.

(2)Ibid.Vol IV.Introduction.p.X,XXIII.

(3)Ibid.Extrait du Régistre.Général.ll April,I744.p.149.

(4)Ibid.p.149-150.1t is not known whether this measure applied to fi®
Ile de France.




. $4
between them{They expected La Bourdonnais to provide the remaining
75,000 livres.(l)

Unfortunately the colonists suspected that La Pourdonnais was
hoping to benefit financially from the transaction and the deputies
expressed certain opinions which angered the Bovernor.They were
dismissed and on 12 August La Bourdonnais intfoduced a measure in the
superior touncil to crgate a sinking fund,administered by one of the
counciilors and a staff of four,a notary,a collector,a book-keeper and
a secretary.The eouncillor was to be given authority to borrow money at
10% in order to repay the Company within three years.Bonds at an
interest rate of 10% were to be issued and repayments assured by
remittances from the debtors,which were deducted from the sale of coffee
"to the Company. (2) '

In spite of La Bourdonnais' efforts,nothing came of the scheme.In
the following year the fund was closed by order of the Council of State
and the directors sent a severe reprimand to the Council of Bourbon:"Il
est bien disgracieux pour la Compagnie aprés tous les tempéraments qutlle
a pris jusqu'a présent pour le recouvrement de ses dettes,d'étre,pour
ainsi dire toujours au méme point.®lle ne peut voir qu'avec une vraie
peine que rien s'exécute;c'est une proposition une annéejla suivante
c'en est une autre qui détruit la premiére;une réflexion en a méme une

‘autre,le temps s'écoule et rien ne finit."(3) |

. David,Governor of the Isles from 1746-1753,was no more successful
than La Bourdonnais.On I April,1750,the §uperior Council informed the
Company:"Le meilleur parti est de temporiser et,en pressant les débiteurs
d'en arracher ce que l'on peut jusqu'a ce que les temps deviennent
meilleurs par les nouvelles cultures ou les nouvelles caffeteries que
l'on plante dans les hautes."(4)But better times did not arrive and

the Company never recovered the advances they had made.0ddly enough,

the colonists in Bourbon who had borrowed money privately from La
Bourdonnais,dischiirged their debts.When he left the Isles-he owed the

Company 148,895 livres;by 1752 his agent in Sourbon had collected the
entire sum which was deposited with the Buperior Council in acquittal
of La Bourdonnais' own debts. (§)

%%

(I) Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol IV.introduction P XXI1I-AXIII, .

(3) Ib;giThe Company to the Superior Council of Bourbon.9 ﬁpril,1745.
p. [ N - ” ) .

(4) Ib;f.fhe Superior Council of Bourbon to the Company.. April, 1750,
P.247. , .

{5) Ibid.vol V.The Superior Council of Bourbon to the Company.12 4pril,

1747.p.48;17 February,1750.p.221-222,




VY. Government and Internal Security: Administration.

At the beginning of the French occupation of Bourbon the island
was administered by a uonseil Privé which had the duel function of
enforcing Company policy and dispensing justice.lt was composed of six

elected members,the'élus',and a retired soldier who was probably

" nominated by the commander of the troops.Since the civil and military
authorities were independent of each other,with no clear division of
responsibilities, the president was either the senior civilian official
of the Yompany,who had the title of Governor or Lirector-General of
Commerce,or the commander of the troops.(I)

In 1711 a Provincial €ouncil was set up by royal edict.The new
council, which appears to have been & purely civilian body, wvas comp.sed
of the Uovernor,the priests and curés,who were regardzd as senior
councillors,and three locally elected members.the clerical members
absented themselives from those sessions when the Council sat as a court
of justice dealing with criminal cases but they took part in all civil
processes.ln addition they dealt with minor offenses,in what might be
termed the petty sessions,together with the commander of the local
militia and the councilior who lived in the parish where the offence
had been committed.Appeal could be mace to the Youncil,meeting in full
session at St.Dennis.When the Council sat as a court, judgements were made
by five counciilors in civil processes and by seven in criminal processes
and therefore the Governor and the elected members chose outsiders to
form a quorum.The elected members,who were probably Company officials
with large ylantations,were chosen by a system of sectet ballot,the
voting papers being placed in a box in the presence of a riest.Their
term of office was usually of one years duration,though they could be
re-elected,and they tool an oath of loyalty before the congregation in
the church of st.denis.The Council,originally created as a court of
justice,became almost wholly concerned with administration. (2 )Lavs,

hich might be Moyal Letters Patent,orders from the Bompany or bye-laus
and judgements of the Provincial Youncil,were read after mass on 8undays,
when attendance was compulsory,in the churches of St.Denis,St.Paul,and
Ste.Suzanne. (3}

The development of a cash crop altered the character of Bourbon.
The Provincial vouncil proved inadequate for dearing with the“complex
administrative problems of an island with an increasing population and
in 1725 a Superior Council was set up,with judicial,legislative and
‘administrative powers and composed of a president,the Governor(4),six
‘councillors,a legal advisor(procureer-Général) and a régistrar.The new
council was a lay body;the clerical members were replaced by senior
off'icers of the garrison,the other councillors being Company empyloyees,
though local planters and captains of €omgany ships were frequently
calleda upon to serve.(5) _

(I)Guet.Bourbon.p.213-214.

(2)This was yrobably due to two factors:in the ffrst place land was
plentiful and therefore land disputes were rare,and secondly, cases
involving siaves,who formed the greater part of the population,never
reached the court. :

(3)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol V.Mémoire sur 1'lIle Bourbon Adressé per la |
Compagnie...au Gouverneur Parat.p.254-256.

(4)The Governor had to vacate the seat if a Company director visited the
island,. _

(5)Lougnon.Lorresponda..ce.¥ol I.Introduction.p.XLI-Xull.
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The new council proved to be ineffective.From 1723-1727 the senior
councillors were usually officers from the garrison and this led to a
serious conflict between the civil and military authorities.In 1727 the
tompany appointed Pierre Benoist Dumas(1696-1746) as,"Gouverneur pour
te Roi de 1'Ile Bourbon,Président du Conseil Supériesur et Directeur-
Géneral des affairs de la Compagnie des Indes dans les {les de Bourbon
et de France."The new Yovernor was instructed to subordinate military
government to the civil authority."iL'objet primcipal de la Vompagnie
dans toutes ses concessions,"wrote the directors,"étant le commerce et
la culture des terres,elle a jugé & propos de diviser le gouvernement
civile du militaire,et en conséquence de régler les fonctions de plume
et de guerre,afin qu'un chacun applique particulieérement & son emploi,
en puisse remplir exactement les parties sans etre distrait par d'autres
soins,"(I)Dumas arrived in Bburbon in July,I1727,armed with extensive
powers.le was responsible £Or Vompany affairs,public order and shipping
and the commander of the garrison,de “ourchant,was required to take all
orders from him.In the same year, however de Courchant was recalled and
the Governor of Pondicherry,Lenoir,was made responsible for military
affairs in his capacity of Uommandant -Général de tous les Btablissements
Francaises dans les Indes’(2)

Dumas was required to spend three months of each year in Ile de
France.From I721 to 1726 the island was governed by an administrative
council,composed of six members, the Governor,the Intendant,who
represented the King,the Ggief-ﬁngineer,two Lazarist fathers and the
surgeon.When,in I723,a ouperior"vouncil was set up in sourbon,a
Provincial Youncil,subordinate to it,was established in Ile de Prance.(3)
The new council was not organisea until 1726 and it was,at first,
regarded as of minor importance.The Superior Council of Bourbon heard
appeals against Judicial decisions of the Provincial Uouncil and it
exercisea ctonsiderable control over the day-to-day administration of
Ile de France.The Company addressed all general orders to the Superior
Council,which was responsible for filling in the administrative details.
lhe Superior Council could issue laws which applied to both islands and
it scrutinised all grants of land made by the Provincial Council. (4)

- The Provincial @ouncil was composed of the Governor,the Intendant,
five or six councillors who were usual.y Yompany officials,a legal
advisor and a registrar.The Governor presided,save when the Governor of
the Isles or a director was visiting Ile de France.When the Council met
as a court of justice,civil judgements had to be given by three councillors
- and criminai judgements by five councillors,though outsiders could be
~ called upon to make a quorum.Royal Letters Patent,vompany orders and
Judicial and administrative decisions of the @ouncil were announced by
a priest in the church of St.Louis after Mass on Sundays. (5)

The new Vouncil did not function smoothly.From 1727 to 1729 there
were bitter quarrels between the intendant,de Brousse,who was Acting-~
governor from 1724-I1729,and two of the councillors,St.Martin, the chief
storekeeper,and Floch.The rivalry between de Brousse and St.Martin was
so intense that the Council did not meet from Yuly,I728,to March,1729,
when lumas arrived in the island and called a meeting of all the
inhabitants.As a result the Provincial Council was reorganised;de Brousse
was ap,.ointed president of the Council with responsibility for military
affairs and St.Martin was given the title of Chief Councillor,being
responsible for local law and order and the administration of the two
ports. (&)In the same year,however, the @ompany appointed a new Governor,
de Maupin.ﬁoth civil and military affairs were placed under his control
and the office of Intendant was abolished. (2)

(1)Guet.Bourbon.p.296. :

(2 )wougnon.Correspondance. Vol I1.Introduction.p.XLIII,
3)Pitot.lle de France.p.4-5.
4 )Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol ll.lntroduction.p.XLV-XiVII.

(SiPitot.Ilg de France.p.24-25,
(6 )Lougnon.Yorrespondance.Vol I.Introduction.yxk;Pitot.ile de France.p.8.

(7)Ibid.The Company to the P.u. of Ile de France.24 July,1729.p.89.
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The Superior vouncil of Bourbon continued to exercise general
supervision over the administration of lIle de France and appeals against
Judiclal decisions were submitted to it.Pumas was expacted to spend
three months of each year in the island,during which time he presided
over the Provinciai Council.In 1729 or early in 1730 he advised the
directors of the Company to create a sperate administration in Ile de
France,pointing out that Bourbon needsd a full-time Governor who could
devote all his time to the administration of that island.The directors
agreed and in a despatch datea December,l1730, the Provinciai Council
of Lle de France was given full responsibility for the internal
administration of the island.The Superior Vountl of Bourbon,however,
was to remain the final Court of Appeal;it was responsible for defence;
and since Bourbon at that time was the chief port of call flor ships of
the Company,it was to deal with all matters concerning ghipping.

Relations between the two islands deteriorated rapidly after i730.
The administrators in Ile de France strongly resented any interference
by the Superior Council of Sourbon in internal affairs of the island and
in October,i732, the Superior Council complained to the Company:"ues
messieurs de l'ile de France prétendent qu'ils n'ont sucunes ordres &
recevoir de nous."(I) Bad feeling petween the two acdministrations was
heightened by the fact that the colonists in Bourbon believed that the
merchandise and slaves,sent to Hourbon via Ile de France,vwas of inferior
quality,the administrators in Ite de France taking tieir pick of
whatever was sent out to the Isles.The administrators in Ile de France
for their part resented reversal of their judicial decisions by the
Court of Appeal in Bourbon.kelations grew more strained and in 1733 the

administritors in BSurbon wrote to the Company:"Nous espérions que la

Compagnie voudra bYen reprimer dans ces messisurs cet esprit d'
insubordination et d'anarchie qui leur esttrop familier."(2) In the
following year the Superior Council accused the Governor of Ile de
France, de Maupin,of fomenting bad feeling:"M.de Maupin,"they nrote,"est
le premier & se cabrer et a communiquer aux autresl'esprit desubordinati&ﬁJ
In April,I735,the Superior Bouncil informed the Uompany that the
Provincial €ouncil was withholding information aBout the voyages of ships
in the Isles:"Messieurs de 1'lle de France,"they wrote,"avaient expediés
un vaisseau pour Madagascar non seulement avec défense de venir ici,mais
meme encore que la caepitaine était porteur d'un ordre pour le capitaine
d'Atalante,de porter toutesa cargaison a Ils de France,"(4)

La Bourdonnais described the situation in the report of 1740:"il
‘régnait entr'elles une espéce d'antipatie qui influait sur touts les
affuires qui leur &taient cormunes,et la Qomyagnie ttait toutes les années
accablée de mémoires aussi ennuyeux qu'infructuecuz & son service.”(5)The
directors were wholly dissatisfied with this state of affuirs;an
improvement in the relations betwesn the two islands was deemed essential
as it was felt that Bourbon could help in accelerating the development
of her poorer neighbour.In Ostober,1734,they informed the adninistrators

n Bourbon:".a Compagnie n‘a pas vu avec moins de peine que l'étaplissement
ie cette 1le a excité chez vous une jalousie qui'queique mal fondegn'akt
as moins fait sentir toutes ies fois que vous avez l'occasion d'en parler
lans vos lettres."(6)in the same year ia Bourdonnzis was a ,ointed Governor
 f the two islands and a Superior Council,authorized by royzl edict on

November,i1734,was set up-in i1le de France.lt was also announced that

\1)Recueil Irimestriel.Yol VI.Correspondance des administratuers oPell.

(2)ibid.p.62.

(3)Ibid.p.i71.

(4 )JLougnon.(orrespondance.Vol II.The Superior Council of Bourbon to the

(5 )Mémoire (1740) p.4.

(6 Juougnon.torrespondance.V¥ol II1.The Company to the Superior Gouncil of
Bourbon.Il October,i734.p. 33
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each counéil was fully authoritative when the Governor himself presided.
They had equal powers but the Governor-in-Uouncil could issue orders
applicable to both islands. (1)

uring his first tour of fifty eight months,la Bourdonaeis spent
twelve months only in gourbon(Z)and therefore the Bupsrior Council of
Ile de France was bound to play a more important rols in the government
of the two islands.The councillors in Bourbon were soon aware of this
state of affairs and in &ugust i755,they compleined to the Company:"Hous
voyons avec chagrin que la Compognie ni nous ne pourrons tirer tout 1!
avantage que nous avions espéré de son attachement a nos intéréts,de son
activité ct l'abondance dss ressources et expedients qui lui gont si
naturels,puisqu'il aoit passer les trois cuarts de son temps a 1l'ile de
France."(3)It was,howzver,essential for va Bourdonnais to remain in Ile
de France from December to March of each year to supervise the refitting
of Indiamen which were returning to Surope.In addition his presence was
neceseary in the N.W.Port whilst the work of construction was in progress.

When they met in an administirative capacity,the @uperior Qouncils
were usually composed of five members.An examination of the regulations
which are reproduced in the report of 1740 suggests that the composition
of the @ouncil in Ile de France was faily constant from 1735 to 1740.In
Bourbonfhowever,there was much absenteeism and therefore the composition
of the gouncil changed freguently.In 1734 the VYompany ordered the
councilliors in Bourbon to attend all meetings at which Uompany dispatches
were to be read and at which the anaual report was drawn up but attendence
continned to be irregular and documents were circulated among absentees,
who wrote comments in the margin and ap;endea their signatures.vhsn the
documents were returned they were studied by a council which often
included clerks and viditing sea captains. (4)

ihe Company inevitably attracted adventurers and 'men on the make',
whose maln aim and interest tas to amake their fortune in privats trading,
Actual salaries were low but income was augmented in many ways.¥rom 1735
to 1740 the uovernor received some 6,000 livres per annum and the two
lirectors of Commerce had a salary of 3,500 livres per annum.in addition
they were entitled to a generous wine and spirit alliowance and the right
to trade privately from the Cape to “hina.Councillors were paid
according to seniority;the First Councilior had 2,000 livres per annum,
with four casks of wine and one of brandy;the second Councilior received
1,500 livres,three casks of wine and one of brandy;the remaining three
councillors had an annual salery of 1,200 livres,two casks of wine and
one of b.randy.(5)The councillors,together with the Governor and the
Directors of Commerce,also shared the proceseds of a 6% levy on coffee
exports firom Sourbon,a most valuable perquisite;from 1740 to 1741
La Bourdonnais alone received 27,831 livres from this source. (6)The
senior officials and counciliors in both islands ap;rear to have
appropriated a percentage of the rents paid by the colonists ang they
probably received gifts in return for grants of land in excess of that
authorized by the Comzany.(7)In addition Company employees were given
ample credit which could be turned to good advaitage and in 1734 it vas
estimated that one third of the public debt of Bourbon was owed by
Company officials.

(I)Lgugnon.Correspondance.Vol II.Introduction.p.XVIiI. :

(2)Mémoire(I740)Note 2.p.83.When the “overnor was absent from Bourbon, or
Ile de France,a Uirector of Commerce presided at neetings of the
€ouncils.in Bourbon this officer was Léméry-Dumont and in Ile de France
Didier de St.Martin. ’

(5 )wougnon.Correspondance.Vol II.The Superior Council of Bourbon to the
Company,I2 August,1735.p.278.

(4)1bid.The Company to the Superior Council of Bourbon.lI October,1734.,
p.250;Introduction.p.LX. :

(5)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol I.p.507-508,

(6)Lougnon.Correspondance.Vol IV.Introduction.p.iVIII.

> . "
(7)1bid.Vol V.The Com;any to the Superior Council of Ile de France.22 Feb.
1748.p.65. - ' '
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The counciliors were assisted by a staff of clerks.In Sourbon thers
were only two in 1727 and soldiers from the garrison were often
required to help out.In 1734 the Company increased the clerical staff
in the island to nine;three chief clerks,four ordinary clerks and two
copyists.The Council found that this number was still insufficient and
in 1736 thrse more were. appointed.fhe registrar and the secretary of the
Council had from 9u0 to 1,000 livres per anaum and a wine and spirit
allowancejchief clerks had 900 livres per annum,second class clerks had
800 livres per anaum and junior clerks 700 livres.dil clerks had & wine
and spirit sllowance.the Court usher had 300 livres per anaum and no
allowance. (I)The main cuty of the clerks was to draw up the annual
accounts and %o prepare a report for the Company.The finarcial year
ended in Pecember and the directors insisted that. the accounts for the
previous yesr should be completed by the time the vompany ships left
the Isies for fSurope in February or March.These rules were disregarded
and when La Bourdonnais arrived in ile de France he discovered that the
Vompany had not received any account books for years.(2)

iLe %ourdonnais set out to impreve the methods of book-keeping and
in 1738 he sent a report on income and expenditure in Ile de France to
the directors who had not received any accounts from the island for
several years.(3)In the same year,probably cn the recoommendation of
the Governor,a despatch from ths éompany,dated I1737,ennounced that the
vouncil in Yourbon was to be szllofled to close the accounts in October
instead of Fecember,in order that they might be ready when the ships
arrived in the new year.In lUecember,i739,La Bourdonnais informed the
Company that the accounts had been completed in both islands,yet when
he left for France in 1740 the accounts for #ourbon were not forthcoming.
In April,1741,the dirsctors wrote to the Superior gouncil in Bourbon:

"La Compagnie...volt avec...peine que plug elle vous ordonne He mettre
ses affairs en regle,et moins vous en faites."(4) In the following year
they asked the administratcrs to forward the accounts for 1739.The
accounts for I742 and 1743 arrived in Paris in 1745.(5)

Finally,the ouperior Councils wers responsible for the administration
of justice,proceedings being determined by three codes:the White Code,
based on Parisian Civil Law and adapted to conditions in cverseas
settlements; the Hcclesiastical Codejthe Plack Eode, which gave the
colonists the right to act as magistrates in cases involving their own
- slaves.The edict of 1754 gave the Council of Ile de France equal standing
with that in Bourbon and presumably either could act as a Gourt of Kppeal
if the Governor were presiding at the time.In criminal cases the pr2sence
of the fovernor or a Director of Commerce was essential and sentaace was
bronounCec by seven judges.Only fiIve Judges were required for civil cases
but it seems thgt La Bourdonnais usually preferred to deal with these
cases,at least in Ilg de rrance,in his capacity as Governor.in the report
of X740 he wrote:"A l'égard de la justice,on ne peut rien ajouter a la
fagon dont elle est rendue.Pour le civil le Gouvernsur doit €tre plutdt
l'arbitre que le juge des differens.in 5 ans nous n'avons eu a 1l'ile
de France qu'un procds de cette espce.”(5)

) Recueil Trimestriel.Vol I.p.507~508.

} Lougnon.Vorrespondance, Vol LI.Introduction.p.Lx;Méhoire(1740)p.46,
Note i03.p.182-183.

(3) Mémoire(I740)p.46.

(4) Lougnon.%orrespondance.Vol iIII.The Company to the Superior Council of

Bourbon.5 april,1741.p.I192-193.
(5) Ibid.Vol IV.Introduction.p.nIX;The Gompany to the Superior Council of
"~ Bourbon,9 April,i745.p.207.

o
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V.Government'and Internal Security: The Maroons.

Public security in Ile de ¥rance and Bourbon was endangered by

the .presence of bands of maroons,or runaway slaves,who attacked the
plantations and occasionally made massed attacked on the settlements.

These desperate beings,who were usually tortured and burnt alive if they

were captured,lived in the forests which covered both islands and it was
- extremely difficult to track them down.In Bourbon the problem was iese
acute since there was,by 1735,a well-established free population and a
clearly defined agricultural system.In Ile de France,however,the free
population was dangerously small and scattered;Abbé Gandon,who visited
the island in I732,described the tense atmosphere caused by ths presence
of these runaway slaves.No journsy could be madz without an escort and
the colonists wers afraid that a mass attack by the maroons would start
& slave rebsllion.The methods used to track them down were wholly
unsuccessful. "Pendant notre séjour;"he wrote,"on en fit un général de
toute la garnison et de plusieurs matelots.lle parcourirent pendant un
mois toute 1'3le sans en trouver un...on croit qu'ilé le sgavent
toujours et qu'ils ont des espions parmi les noirs du Eamp."(I)The
maroons had attacked the Camp(the N.VW.Port) in April,1724,and in June of
the same year the headguarters of the Company was transferrsd to the
N.E.Port.(2)In I735 it was estimated that there were more than 200
meroons in Bourbon and probably between 50 and L00 in Ile de France. (3)

In 1735 La Bourdonnais dscided to use soldiers to track down the
maroons in lle de France.There were three ianfantry companies in the
island and oné of them was res_.onsible for this duty;But the soldiers
were not skilled in forest werefare and in 1736 La Pourdonnesis asked the
Superior Council of Bourbon for assistance.The coionists in Bourbon had
long experience 1in dealing with runaway slaves and knew =here to find
their hideouts.The Superior Louncil had on previous occasions recruited
men to serve for a liinited period in Ile de France and in 1736 a group
of twelve creoles volunteersd to go to the island for a period of three
or four months.in the following year the Governor tried to recruit a
further fifty but the Superior Council claimed that the men were needed
to hunt the maroons in Bourbon.rhe Councillors rightly suspected Lpa
ﬁourdonnais of encouraging men from Pourbon to settle in Ile de France.
The men who arrived in i736 were probably used to instruct the soldiers
in forest tactics;they left Ile de France in the following year. (4)

In 1758 La sourdonnais began to use detachments of faithful slaves
to hunt dosn the maroons.se realised t.at they were the only members of
the population used to hard work and discipline and,moreover, they
understood the workings of the slave mind.In the report of 1740 he wrote:
Clest ce qui m'a déterminé 3 armer noirs contre noirs.J'en cherchai
d'abord dix fidéles;je les ai envoyés a plusiesurs reprises chercher ies
marons desquels ils ont presque toujours trouvé 1le camp et une fois entr!
autres,quoiqu'ils ne fussent que cing de ces noirs,ils attaguérent leur
camp,prirent leur second chef et deux négresses en vie."(5)This encounter
took place in October,1739,The second-in-command of the maroons was called
Sans Souci and he had lived in the forests for eleven years.He was broken
on the wheel and burnt alive in the {.W.Port in November 173¢. (6)

(I)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol V.Les Mascareignes vues par 1'Abbé Gandon en
1732.p.1717.

(2)0e Sornay.Iile de France.p.34,

(3)1émoire(174v) Note 42.p.122.

(4jIbid.Note 38-3%.p.120

(S)Ibid.g.14. '

(6)Ibid.Note 40.p.f2I-I22,
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Another detachment of twenty four slaves was formed in 1739 or
early in 1740.They were given uniforms and the same pay and conditions
of work as the Mufatte workmen from india.These *noirs hussards',as they
were calied,patrolled the shore and constructed a rumber of look-out
posts and small forts in the forests,"teilement que la crainte des Joirs
hussards empéche les marons de ca..per,lesqueis ne peuvent d'ailleurs vivre
au bord de la mer gque nos soidats guardent."The maroons were thus @riven
into the forests and deprived of fish,which was probably their main item
of food.As & result of these weasures iLa Bourdonnais was able to vrite:
"Iie sont contraints d'étre_errans,et patissent beaucouy,ce cul les a
acaablé/de fatigues et cetainement les maladies en detruisent une grande
guantité."(I)In 174G Le Bourdonnais estimsted that there wers not more
than twenty male and tuenty five female maroons alive in the island. (2)
The "noirs hussards' continued to exist during ia Bourdonnais' second
tour of duty and their number was increased to thirty six.In 1742 they
were given 2uQ piastres for capturing a Buropean soldier who had
murdered a fellow soldier and their leader .was freed.(3)

The maroons were not exterwinated in Ile de France during the
governorship of La Bourdonnais,but they were a nuisance rather than an
actual menace.The slave population of the island increased rapidly after
1755 and the Malagasy slaves who formed the bulk of the newcomers were
more difficult to control than were slaves from West africassome of them
even managed to return to hadagascar on rafts which they had constructed
in the island.By 1749 it would appear that the problem was more acute.
In a letter to his reiatives in ¥rance,Grant described the situation:
®de have here a species of hunting...lt is indeed of & cruel kind in
appearance but absolutely necessary..t consists in pursuing maroon
negroes or ‘deszrters in the woods and mountainsg whe¥e they are treated
as wild beasts;they are shot whenever an opportunity offers and this
geverity is absolutely necessary for our preservation.®(4)

In Bourbon a citizen militia had been formed prior %o the arrival
of La Bourdonnais to supervise the movement of slaves and to patrol the
forests."hen a gang of maroons was seen,a detachment of the militig was
was gsent to comb the forests in that area.In sach district the
detachments were commandsd by a captain and junior officers who were
colonists with a military title.The officers did not receive regular pey,
though the district association of slave-owners,the commune,paid
30 livres for each maroon taken dead or elive and the Gompany allowed
one barrel of wine per annum for the captain and a half barrsl for the
Junior officers.The reuwuneration was considered inadequate and the
militia was usually badly organised and inefficient.(5)In March,1738,
the Superior Council decided to uppoint a numoer of paid officials,with
military titles,to supervise the tracking down of maroons and the new
system was introduced in Qctober.Captains were to recéeve 400 livres per
‘annum and junier officers 200 livres.4n the following year the Council
introduced special allowances for forest dutiss, (6)
| The problem of deaiing with the maroons depended on the quality of
citizen militia in Bourbon ,and aa'ﬁburdonnais was particularly concerned
about the fighting capacity of ths Eolonists.In 1738 the Superior
Gouncil informed the Company that a detachment of creoles and 14
fusiliers had not dared to attack a gang of between 30 and 40 marcons,
'qui n'avaient pour toutes armes a feu qu'un fusii et qu'un pistolet,"(7)

(I)4émoire{IT40)p.I5.

(2)@bid.p. I5.

(3)Lgugnun.CorreSpondance.Vol IV.lntroduction p.LX1I,ixtrait du Régistre
General.27 Yune,i741.p.15-16.

\4)Grant.History of Mauritius(see bibiiography)p.297.A visitor to Ile de
France in 1772,4ohn Colpoys,stuted that there were between 3u0-400
maroons in the island.Barnwell.Visits and Lespdchss.p.154-168,

(5)Memoire(1740) Note 42.p.122,

(6 JIbid.p,I22~123.

(7)Ibid.p.122,
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This incident well illustrates the complete lack of martias spirit
among the colonists,who,according to La Boupdonnais,"mettent tout &n
usage pour étre dispensés de prendre les aries et Qe venir aux revues...
ceux qui ne peuvant avoir ce privilege sont regardés comme les hommes
de la lie du peupldIThe Governor,therefore,advised the directors to
stimulate public spirit by securing an increased number of commissions
for colonists and by awarding medels for brevery.In addition,La
Bourdonnais proposed the formation _of a full-time force of 60 mounted
men,maintained by the commune,"qui etaﬁt des hommes choisis eE faisant
point autre chose,parviendront & connaitre parfaitemsnt 1l'intérieur de
1'fle et détruissnt slrement les iparons,et restiendront les autres noirs
qui pourraient avoir des dispositions & le devenir tant qu'ils verront
une garde aussi regulibre."(2)

Operations agalnst the maroons were so unsuccessful in 1739 and
1740 that in September of the latter ysar the superior Council of
Bourbon announced that a first ciass male slave would be granted on
special c-edit terms for each wmaroon taken d=ad or alive.When La
Bourdonnais redtrned to the Isies in IT41 he was of the bslief that the
the apathy of the colonists would soon be. overcome,since the dirsctors
had agresd to act on hig ri:commendations.In the smme year the Coupany
awvarded a medal to an inhabitent of Bourbon named Frangois Caron,"qui
se distingue Qha poursuits deg noirs marons." (3 ;¥hen Ls Bourdonnaisg
sailed for India in I741 sone 80 volunisers from Bourbon sailed with
the sQuadron.fncouragcd by this response he organised the colonists into
special groups on his return:"gendarmes,dragons,grenadiers,bons habitents..
des léghes ou des,paresseex,et de ceux qui sont portés de mauveise
volonte pour -la defense de leur patris.”(4)A number of planters recésved
military tities &nd in 1744 & comuanding officer,de Fontbrune,was
apsointed to diresct the activities of the varicus detechments of the '
militia.%ut despite all Lu Bourdonnais' efforts,the enthusiasm and spirit '
of the colonists rsmained at a low ebb and -ogzerations against the maroons
continued to be unsuccessful.

) lidmoire(174v) Hote 42,.p.67 .
g Ibid.p.IY.
)
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iLougnon,Correspondancse.Vol 1V.Extrait du Rééistre Géndral.2j June,
i741.p.28, :
ibid. VYol V.Introducticn.p.XXXVIil,

—
F-N




63

V.Govérnment and Internal Security: The Troops.

Internal order and defence ageinst agression dspendsd ultimetely
on the maintenance of French troops in the twc islands.In the early
eignteenth century a citizen miiitie had been estabiiched in Bourbon
but eince this body was voluntiry and untrained its effectiveness vas
severely limlted.The Creoles disliked wilitary service and they razely
took part in the exercises organised by the Superior Council.In Ile de

-France La Bourdonnais formed two mixed companies of colionists and .
workmen,who attended a parade on the first Sunday of each month,"ou on
leur apprend les évolutions,afin qu'en ces a'occasion il puissent faire
corps avec les troupes."(Il;It is,however,safe to assume that in an
smerfgency such as a siave revolt or an attack by a foreign power ,tne
iocal militia would have provsd totaliy inadequate.

In 1727 there were four compunies of troops in the Isles,two in
Bourbon and kwo in Ile de France.At that time each company wes meant to
have a compiement of 50 officers and aen but the effective strength was
considerablyg less owing to the high mortaiity rats among soldiers on the
voyage out from France(2) and to deaths and desariions on the Isies,The
four companies,which probably had & total strength of less than 120
officers and men,were found to be quite inadequate for the duties of
defence, supervision of the movement of slaves and cooperation with the
militia in hunting down maroons,harbour duties and service abaard the
slave ships.The garriscn in each island was under the command of &n
officer with the title of wieutenant cu Foi,who was usuality at odGds
with the adminsstirators.in 172¢% the office was aboiished 1n Ile de
France and five ycars later in “purbon,and under the new system, the
tros;s came under the command of the Governor of the Isies.

In 1731 the directors announced that the strength of a ccmpany was
to be increased from 50 to 7U officers and men and that an extra
company was to proceed to the islies.at this time the gzrrison in
Bourbon consistea of 64 officers and men,but one third of this number
were recuired as Buards aboard the slave ships.The figures for Ile de
¥France are not known but it is probable that the numbers were even
lower.When the additional troops resched Iled de France they ware
kept in the island and thus for two years the garrison in Bourbon
remained Gangerously low.In 1734 the directors sent out 4 infantry
companies and the distribution of trocps betwe.n the two islands was
modified.Bourbon was aelilotted 3 companies,each with a strength of 86
officers and men,while Iie e France receeved a coumpany of 74 officers
and men, (3 When ia Bourdonnalg was apvointed Governor the distribution
of troops wes sgain wodified.Ite d: France was allotted 5 conpanies and
Bourbon 2 companies.in 1735 the strength of = compeny was fixed at 86
officers and men and two years later it was increused &g 100, (4)

The diseipline of ithe troups was a constant source of anxiety both
to the airectors and the local edministretors.8Soldisrs were usually
drawn from the poossst and most unstable section of the population,
service ovsrgeas was Unpopullar and pay was shockingly inadecuate. (5)

(1) Méhoire(l740) PeIe.

(2) Lougnon.4AnciensYoyages.p.215.

(3) Mémoire(I740)Rote 6.p.34.

(4) Lougncn.Corrsspondance.vol Ii.Introduction.p.XxXVi,

(5) Privates receivea 144 livres ger annum; drummers,fife-players and
corporels, 180 livres;sergeants, 216 livres;ensigns, 540 livres;second-
lieutenants, 600 ilivres;lieutenants,72u livres;captains, 1000 -1200,
Officers rsceived wine and brandy allowances.Recueil Trimestriel,

.v°1 Iopo 507-5080
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In the early seventeen thirties the troops in Bourbon were fairly well
disciplined since they were heavily outnumbered by the colonists and,
moreover ,since they were fully occupied for the greater part of the
year.In vctober,1734,several officers in the garrison in Bourbon decided
to resign in protest against a ruling of the Company wnich stated that
they had no special authority over the colonists,but some months later
they agreed to remain in the service.(1)In Ile de France,howeverb
discipline was very lax and there were constant quarrels betweenibivil
and military authorities.Life in the colony was hard and the troops
often sgent from two to three months of each year foraging in the
forests.In i727 four soldiers deserted and becae meroons and in February,
1733, thirty soldiers deserted.The Governor,ddiaupin,agreed to meet ths
mens compiaints and they were offerzed an amnesty.(2)in the following
year a more serious mutiny broke out and over half the garrison
deserted.Finally they agreed to couwe to terms and tne ringicaders were
executed.In the report of 1740 La Bourdonnais described the situation
when he arrived:®s£lles se sont révoltées plusieurs fois et ont pousse
1l'insolence jusqu'a arborer pavillon holandaise et faire capituler le
commandant de 1'Ile.le 18 juges des désordrss d'une soldatesque sans
discipiine.Elle se faisgditcraiddre de tout le monde,méme de cusiques |
officiers."(3) '
When lLa Bourdonnais was sppointed Governor he was ordered to
. . - Y 4 L 7’ - / « £ .
punish,"avec ia derniere severité ceux cui s'ecerteront de l'ob%igsence
et du respsct dl au gouvernement et aux officiers qui les commandent et
préviendra avec une vigglence extréme tout sujet et mouvement de
gsédition en faisant des exemples de punition de s premiers auxquels on
aurs quelque chose a reprocher sur cet erticle..."{4) He was furnished
with special powers for dealing with insubordination ,but sxcessive
severity was not needed and order end digcipiine were eventualily
re-established.Iie de France became an important refitting and =
revictualliing centre and the troops were kent fulily occupied,supsrvising
the loading end unloading of ships,saving aboard the sleve ships,
patroliing the coast,manning the look-out stations,hunting down naroons
and training the coionists in the use of firearms.ln 1740 La Sovrdonnais
“informed Orry that the troops were,* dans une suburdination si perfeite
' gque dés que 1l'on a besoin pour le travail publique ils y merchent amee
toute la docilité possible.”(5) La Bourdonnais probebly over-emphasised
the success of his policy in Ile de France,although there is no direct
evidence for this.In 5ourbon it would appear that the troops were rather
more troublemsome at this timej;in 1738 the administrators informed the
Company that the soldiere were,"des Bag-Bretons et qui cornséguemment n'
ont que la face d"hommes,ou 8e sont de jeunes libertins,engagés la
lupart dans les prisons ou Q.giqgtres,qui denués de tous sentiments d°f
education,de reiigion et devoués a un libertinage affreux,ne sont car-ebles
que de fuire mal." (6 _

. When La Bourdonnais returned to France in 174u he asked the Company
to send additional troops to the Igles.Owing to the disturbed condition
of Burope ana the fear that hostilities might spread to Indiz the
‘directors acceded to his request and in I74I he returnec to Ile de France
with four infantry companies and e company of artillery.un arrival he
found thut many of the troops in the garrison hagd been sent to the relief
of rondicherry.de decided to sail for India and it aprears that three
infantry companies,with a total compiement of 17 officers and 282 men,
took part in the expedition.The troops returned in 1742 but they were
not intended for the permanent establishment and during the next twelve

(I)Lgpgnon.uorrespondance.Vol 11 Introduction.p.XXXVI,

(2 )Mémoire(1740)Note 7.p.85.

(3)Ibid.p.4.

(4 )lgmoire (175v) P.J.p.4.

(S)M%poire 174v) p.5. '

(6 )Lggnon.Correspondance.Vol 1I.The Superior Council of Bourbon to the

Company.24 Febrary,4738.p.128.
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months four infantry companies left the Isles.(I) :

- After the departure of these troops there were,from 1742 to 1746,
five infantry companieg and one company of artillery stationed in the
Isles;two in Bourbon and four in Iied de Fraace.In I743 the directors
ordered de Rostaing,who was in charge of the artillery company, to
proceed to India with two thirds of his men but he ignorsd the -
instructions. (2) La-ﬁourdonnais,realising that the troops were not
sufficient for the defence of thne Isles,introducsd legislation in #ugust,
1742,for the compulsory military ttaining of the colonists,but the
scheme does not appear to have fired the enthusiasm of the planters
and when in I746 he asked for voluntesers for an expedition to India
the responge was negligeble and he was forced to strip the Isles of
troops. ' ' '

(I) Lggnon Corresponda, L -
| . spondance.Vol IV.Introcduction.p.LIX-LXI%
(2 wo?ndﬁd-atiMahé receivsed a special gratifigétifnLXIlI
) Ibid.sxtrait du Réglstre Géndral.il April,I744.p.164-165:dSmos
(174v)dote I3u.p.192. | PR A TbIstenol re

« Troops
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| VI.L a Bourdonnais in India.

In November 1738 La Bourdonnais asked for permission to return
to France.He had lost his son in February of the same year and in the
following May his wife died in childbirth.Criticism of his wokk as
QOV°rnor-general had increased.Charpentier de VYossigny,who had returned
to 1le de France in 1736, descriged the recently erected buildings 1n
the Aorth-West port as un31ght1y,temporary and amateurish and during
his second tour as ingineer-in-8hief,from 1736-1739,he bombarded Orry
. and Orry de Pulvy with libellous reports about the incompetence of
us Bourdonnais(I).captains of ships in the ‘premiére navigation'
accused the ﬁovernor-general of failing to provide sufficient food
for their needs and some complained that they had been forced to buy
" their provisions in St.Helena.In 1737 La Bourdonnais insisted that all
- captains should sign certificates containing lists of the amount of
food they had received but since there were frequent shortages in
Ile de France the captains continued to complain.They also resented
the power of the @overnor-@eneral to transfer newly arrived sailors
to the island squadron..a Bourdonnals gave bounties to sailors who
remained in lle de France but occasionally he used force. Bhips captains
were extremely displeased when they los} experienced sailors in this
way.Furthermore,in 1737 a group of colonists from Bourbon presented
a petition to the d1rectors in Paris demanding an enquiry indo the
i_ admlnlstratlon of corvée duties in the island.
In 1739 the brother of ia Hourdonnais,lahé de la Ville_bague,
' who was a member of the.Superlor Council in Pondicherry,arrived in
lle de France and persuaded his brother to continue dn office for
another year.Dumas the Governor of Pondicherry had asked the directors
for leave and de la Villebague seems to have been fairly confident T
that La Pourdonnais would be chosen as his successor.The office of
‘€overnor-feneral of Bourbon and Ile de France was regarded as a
stepping-off post for & command in India and it was believed in
Pondicherry at the time tha$ La Bourdonnais would be selected by the
directors for the governorship of the town.There can be 1ittle doubt
that de la Villebague returned to France in o:der to secure the post
for his brother.(2).
De 1la Villebague left ile de France in 1739.Meanwhile the directors
continued t8 receive complaints about tha administration of wa Bourdonnais.:
"He was accused of exacting illegal corvées and of encouraging smuggl1ng(3)
On 20 March,1739,he wrote to the Controller-@eneral Orry,"'Je defie la |
plus noire calomnie de me prouver que j'al fait quelquechose qui puisse
avoir fait tort d'une obole a la Gompaghfe.Il me reste & vous supplier '
de m'accorder un congé ou de me retirer de cettie 1le."(4).in the
Mem01re(1740) he described the unpleasant atmosphere in lle de France,
"Ce n'est plus M.Dumas qui les tyrannise. L'est M.%umont et moi,un autre
viendra,ce sera lui,il en sera toujours de méme si on ne reprime pas 1' !
esprit de cabale et de calomnie qui regne dans cette ile par des dxscours
empoisonnes de trois ou quatre mauvaises tetes qui répandent le vénin

partout.”(5).
(I).corépin. La Bourdonnais.p.95-I12.

(2) Cultru.Bupleix,.pl?2.lupleix to Dulaurens.5 Lecember. 1739."11 avait
la protection de Fulvy qui le couvrait contre vents et marées,et
1'on &teit dans le siécle des choses surprenantes.”

(3) Mémoire(1740) Note 112p184.

(4) St.¥line le Duc.Ile de France.MSS. in Carnegie 11brary bureplpe 1 3.
(5) Mémoire(I740) gquoted by Crepin La Bourdonnais.p.iI6.
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On 8 February, 1740, the fiere arrived from Francéf%ﬁgi_war had
brokezn out in the Carribean between @ngland and 8pain.ua Bourdonnais
realised that the war might easily spread to Zurope and he immediately
made preparations to leave Ile de France.fie announced his decision to
the Superior Council on the same dey and on 20 March,1740,he sziled for
Bourbon on the Prince de Conti.The ship left Bourbon on 5 April and on
24 July she arrived in Lorient.buring the voyage La Bourdonnais wrote
a datailed account of his aduministration in Bourbon and Ile de France,
the Mefioire des Iles;which he presented to the 60ntroller-€eneral.The
report is divided into three sections.In the first and longest section
he described the work he had ac:omplished in the two islands;the second
section wes a reply to criticisms of his adninistration;in the third
section he outlined & policy for the future administration of Ile de
France and Bourbon.The report conteins a request for a tramsfer to
another command."Je préférais une vie privee,"wrote La Bourdonnais,

"g un poste aussi rempii Ad'enenies fdacheux."(I). )

When hk arrived in Paris Le pourdonnais found, "u1e prevention
étonnante dans tous les esprits.ues ministres,La Compagnie,le publi?¢
en un mot,tout le monde parait le regarder de mauvais oeil.”(2) He
obtained audiences with Cardinal Fleury,Philibert QOrry and Maurepas,
the Minister of t he Marine.ﬁis patron,urry de Fulvy,was in Brittany at
this time and it would appeizr that the final decision about_his future
was teken by de Fulvy who was the Inspector-ﬁener&l of the vompany,a
royal commissioner and the most powerful member of the council of
directors.(3).

Shortly after the arrival of La Bourdonnais a pamphlet which had
been written by a colonist named Bellecourt(4) was printed and
circulated in Paris.The author accused La Hourdomnais of selling
merchandise and slaves to the colonists at prices which exceeded those
authorized by the Company and of employing slaves who had been sent by
planters for corvée duty for his own private use.The libel also stated
that he had illegally altered the value of coins sent out by the Company
for his own private profit.

- La Bourdonnais prepared & reply and in January, 1741, a pamphlet,
dedicated to Cardinal de Fleury, was published in which he examined the
charges and produced evidence that he had not engaged in fraudulent
practices(5)He pointed out that the Company possessed records of the
imports of slaves and merchandise and detailed lists of their
distribution in:?ourbon and Ile de France which would prove that he hzd
not charged exceS8sive prices.With regard to corvee duties he stated
that since he did not possess any land in Bourbon it was impossible to
accuse him of using slaves sent for corvee duty flor his own personal
use, (6).He admitted that he had issued orders to change the value of i
2 sou pieces to 3 sous but this policy had not brought him any financial
gain.In 1737 the Company had sent 20,000 livres in coins marked at 2 sous
to the islands,where coin was always in short suprly, because merchandise
was bought from passing ships and each year large sums of money left
the islands.La Bourdonnais explained that he had tried to remsdy this
situation by issuing coins at a face value of three sous.The coins were
therefore unacceptablie to ships captains because they were worth only
2sous in France.Finally, La Yourdonnais described the work he had

(1) Memoire(1740) p.61.
(2) Memoire(1750) p-I1 .
(3) Ibid./.b.IS.

(4) Bellecourt had served as an officer in =le de France.In 1726 he was
sentenced to the galleys for libel against a priest.The judgement was
reversed and he settled in Bourbon but he was later expelled for
forgery.He was sent to the Bastille and finally exiled. Crépinal32-3.

(5) La Pourdonnais."uettre ecrite & son fAminence Monseigneur le Cardinal
de fleury.tiauritius arcihives.Vox Y2/23.rhotostat copy from Archives

(6) It is possible that La Bourdonnais did use slaves,who ‘ationales.
had been sent to do corvee duties,for private building sci.ewmes in
which he has a personal interest.
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accomplished as Governor-General of the two islands.

Meanwhile war had brokerm out in-Europe.In Lecember, 1740,Fred:rick
the Great invaded Silesia.Cardinal de fleury was an old man of eighty-
five;he was dominated by the leader of the war party,Belle-Islag and
Orry.probably thought that as soon as Frederick had secured a clear
victory over Austria,France would join in the war on ‘the side of Prussia.
England was already at war with 8pain and it was expected that she
would make an alliance with Austria .There was every indication that
relations between England and France would deteriorate even though war
was not openly declered.fwo months before Fredertck invaded Bilesia
1a Bourdonnais had submitted a report to Maurepas in which he advised
the’ government to send a squadron of ships to India to defend the Isles
and the indian factories in the event of war between ¥rance and isngland(1).
When war broke out between Prussia and Austria La Bourdonnais himself
prepared a plan to take a squadron to India.He believed that France and
#ngland would be drawn into tne struggle and hc knew that a small
squadron could do untold damage to knglish shipping."Il est évident,"
he wrote,"que si la guerre se declurs,je feral la plus grand coup qu'on
ait jamais fait sur la mer."(2)

The plan became a reality when,according to ia Bourdonnais, "quelgues
amis vinrent lui proposer d'armer suivant son projet,et que,cour
faciliter 1l'entreprise,ils lui offrirent cing millions a condition qu'il
entrerait pour un Gixidme dans l'intéret de 1'armement.” (3 )ia Bourdonnais
agreed to take the squadron to india and to attack Bnglish shipping
and factories if war broke out.He proposed to send all ceptured bullion
to the gompany i n France and to sell captueed merchandise in the South
Seas. (4)The proceeds from the sale of this merchandise were to be °
exchanged for gold in Ghina and when the needs of the colonists in
Bourbon &nd Ile de France had been satisfied he proposed tc return to
France.If ;however war did not break out he planned to use the squadron
for carrying Eompany merchandise from lndia.(5)

The French government decided to support the scheme and on 16 January,
1741, La Bourdonnais was offered the command of a aquadron compased of
two royal frigates and four lndiamen.The ezpedition was thus no longer
a private project but a joint enterprise on the part of the government
and. the Vompany.Surprisingly enough the directors do not ap ear to huge
taken part in the private talks between ia Bourdonnais,Orry,Mamrspas
and Fieury(f).The directors were under the assumption that the Freach
and English companies would nsgotiate private treaties of neutrality
if war broke out between the two countiries.Moreover, several of them
were personal enemies of La Bourdonnais,who realised that it would be
extremely dangerous to take a squadron to India if the board of directors
was opposed to the scheme.When they were finally informed that the
governmenh agreed to support the expedition and that Urry and de Fuivy
had committed the Company to contribute four ships,"ils annoncaiZent
. partout cet armement comme propre & ruiner la Compagnie,parce qu'il
devait inutilement occuper les vaisseaux,lui couter beaucoup et,lul
rien produire."(7)

in February,f741,0rry discussed the scope of the expedition with
the directors of the Yompany and persuaded them to cooperate with
La Bourdonnais.In the same month the latter wrote a letter to the

(1) Roubaddla sourdonnals.Rapport sur 1'etat actuel de nos colonies et
* de notre navigation.27 October, 1740.p. 96-98.

(2) Memoire (1750) p 22.
(3) Ibid.p22.

(4) Mémoire(I740) p. 77-~78..a pourdonnais believed that the Philippines
would prove an excellent market for French goods.

(5) Ibidep-22.Memoire (I750) p.22.
(6) Ibid.p22-24.
\7)Ibid.p24.
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direBtors explaining that he had accepted the command because the
Controller-General had ordered him to lead the expedition.He described
the assignment as,"une carriere qui par la situation des esprits devient
trop epineuseé{I)La Pourdonnais was granted a commission as captain of
the royal frigate Mars and in this capacity he was answerable only to
the King.He was given extensive powers:"a l'égard des forces de mar il
doit dans tous les cas les commander--qu'au cas l'action se passat dund
quelqu'autre government que celui des Iles les tonseils 1'auraient
preablement autoriséb_& donner les ardres a terre."A sealed envelope
containing secret instructions was entrusted to La Bourdonnais.He was
to open it only if waer broke out.(2)

La Bourdonnais supervised the fitting out of the ships which the
@ompany had agrsed to contribute and he remained in Lorient for about
six weeks.Four ships of the 'premiére navigation',the Fleury,the
Brillant, the #imeble and the Renomie€s and a smaller ship,the Farfaite,
were equipped.(3) The two royal frigates,the Mars,the flagship ®f
La Bourdonnals,and the Griffon,were refitting at Brest but uanfortunately
at the last moment the governmmmd decided to withdraw the ships.On 5 April
the five ships of the Company sailed from Lorient.lLa Bourdonnais chose
the Fzeury as his flagship. .

This expedition could only have succeeded if war had been declared
between France and kEngland within the following twelve months.The
gnglish did not have a naval sqQuadron in the East at this time and
therefore the French squadron would have had control of the Inéian
Ocean for at least a year.fich prizes would have been captured and a

- severe blow would have been struck at ¥nglish Haval power.But war did

not break out until I744.la Bourdonnais had informed the directors that
if the peace lasted he would use the squadron for carrying merchandise
from India but this was a small return for the immense cost of equipping
the squadron.The cost of adapting merchantmen for naval warfare wes very
heavy and La Pourdonnais' ships carried ciews totalling 1,200 men and an
additionel 500 soldiers(4).Thus La Pourdonnais left Lorient with five
shipe belonging to the Zast Irndia Company and,although his expedition
had the approval of the French government,the directoss of the Gompany
which,in fact,bore the expenses of the squadron, were violently opposed
to the scheme. _

The expedition sailed for South dmerica and in May the ships
anchored off ile Grande on the cocast of Brazil.La Bourdonnais drilled
his troops and the crews of the ships.In June he sailed for Ile de France
in the Fleury together with the Brillant and the Aimable.The Renommée
remained in lle Grande to await the rarfaite which had been blown off
its course.The squadron reached Port Louisl4 Kugust,174I.La Bourdonnais
wag disconcerted to find that most of the troops in Ile de France and
Bourbon had been sent to Pondicherry to help cdefend the town from a
threatened attack by the Marattas.(5)

In India the Moghul empire was in a state of dissnlution.The
provincial rulers had become independent and frow I730 onwards the
Marattas wao controlled the western districts of India were gradually
increasing their hold on central India.In 1739 a number of Hindu princes
in the Carnatic ,alarmed by Mohammedan expansion in southern india,
opened negotiations with the HMarattas.The Nawab of the Carnatic,
Sadutoolla Khan,died in 1732 and he was succeeded by his nephew, Bost
Ali Khan.In 1735 the Hindu Rajah of Trichinopoly died without lesving
an heir.His widow appealed to the Nawab for help and in 1736 the army

{1).Mémoire (I750) p.25--26.

{2) 1bid.p57.The secret instructions are printed in the Memoire(1750),
Extralt des ordres du Ministre.ib January,I74I."I1 est expressement defe
detendu av Sieur de Lo Eourdonnais de s'emparer d'aucur etablissement !
ou comptoir des enemios pour le conserver",

(3 )Lougn#on.Vorresnondance Yol Iil.p 3.8xtrait du Kegistre- §&néral.27 une,
i741.%leury (800 tons)Brillant(700toas)Renommee (400tons(Parfaite (160tons)

(4) Ibig.Vol 1ll.Introduction KXXVII.p. 10 ‘

(5) Ibid.Vol ill.Introduction. p.XXXVI.I7 officers and 232 men were sent

- to Pondicherry. :
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of Lost Ali Khan,led by his son,Sufder Ali,and his son-in-icw,Chenda
Sahib,siezed Irichinopoly.They promised to return the town to 12
Ranee but once in possession of it they imprisoned her.fwo years laier
the deuth of the ﬂlndu ruler of lagore,Tockagee,led to a disputed
succession.tis legitimate son Sahoojee,newctzat d with Dum_u,uoverfor
of Pondicherry,and promised to cede Karicel in return for milit tury
assistunce but when the French attempted to take possession of the
town they found that Sahoojee was un"1141ng to part with it.The earmy
of Chunde Sahib,which wae led by a Spaniard calied Francisco rersira,
captured Irichinopaly and handed it over to the French.Shcrtly
afterwards Sahoojee was deposed anu his successor,Pertab 3ingh,agresd
to confirm the cession.

‘the Marattas agreed to assist the lesser lindu princes of the
Carnatic end in Uctober, 1759,an army of 50,000 aen led by the son of,
the Maratta king advanceu on Arcot,the capital of the Carnatic.lost 414
Khan was strongly entrenclied in the hilly country nesr arcot but one” of
his genersals allowed the ilaratts army to march through a pass which he
was supposed to guard and in May 1740 the Hawab and his son,Hassan Ali,
were killed.Dumas was a personal friend of the Newab ,wno ﬁad rersuaded
the Moghul to grant a firmen giving the French the right to mint gold
and silver rupees end after the pattle the widow of Jost Ald Khan,with
her family and attendants took refuge in Poadicherry.Her son, onfcor Ali,
however ,concluded u treaty with the Marattss by wnich he was reuagn1q°d

as Nawab of the Carnatic in return for the payment of tribute.

The fortifications of Fgndicaerry wera strengthened and bumas
formed an wrmy of 4,500 Indians.There were oniy 5C0 suropean soldizrs
and saileors in the town but French civilians .were given arms.A saip
was sent to bring reinforcements from l1le de ¥rance and Bourbon.in
September,l740, Yufder Al1 and Chunda Sahlibd visited Pomdisherry and
persuaded their relatives to lsave the city.bnortly afterwards the
Marsttas sent en ultimatum to Jumas and when”this was rejected the
surrounding countryside was devesteted.Portonovo and the outskirts of
Cuddalore were sacked.A second en¥pywas then sent to Pondicherry but
when he saw the military preparations in the town he advised a
postponement cf the attack.Chunda Sahib,who was besieged in Trishinopoly,
agreed to surrender in March,i741 and after the fall of the city the
Marattas withdrew westwards.

then La Bourdonnais heard that Pondicherry was in_danger he
decided to set sail for India.He issued orders to the Vounc*ls of 1le
de France and Bourbon to strengthen the defenses of th€ two 1sla4ds(1)
and on the 22 August he sailed from Bourbon arriving in Pondicherry on
30 Se wtamber.H" found that the HMarattas had withdrewn from the country
‘surronndlng the town and that a peace treaty had already been signed.
Dumas ,however, informed him that the factory at {fahe on the Mslabar
coast was oeSLeged by a native army..e Pourdonnais decided to tuke his
‘squadron to Mahe” and on 22 October he left Pondicherry,two daye after
ﬂupleix had taken over the povernorshlp of the town(2).

Unzind the voyagg .a Bourdonnais drilled his troops in prejaration
for tle operations on laend and on 23 Jovember he anchered off «ahé,kte
found the native army strongly enirenched in forts and protected by a
mzrsh winich lay between their position and the French factory,He rilanned
to buiid an artiliery battery at the edge of the Marsh and gwrtliy after
his arrival he ordered trenches to be dug opposite one of the enemy
gun positionsyhen the rest of the squadron errived the tropps on
board were disembarked and sent into the trenches.Un 3 Lecember,under
cover of darkness,four guns were sct up near the enemy lines.On the
following day the iIndian troops attacked the French gun position.tThey
were driven off and iater the French counter-attacked and two enemy forts
were cagtured.,buring the engagement French casualkties were 56 killed and

(I} nougnonfgrreszondance.Vol 1.i,The Company to the ®uperior Gouncil of
Bourbon, {5 Februany,1743 p.129,
(2) ﬂem01re\1750) p.28,
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120 wounded.The engagement was decisive and in gebruary,1742,a treaty
was signed which confirmed the French pepper mofopoly and additional
territory was cecded to the Company.(I) ia Bourdonnais appears to have
sailed from Mah€ in January 1742.He arrived in Ile de France in Mardh
of the sane yesr and waited confidently for the news that war had
broken out, ' ,
The cost of maintainihg this fleet in the iIndian Ocean was very
heavy and in November,i741,t he directors persuided Orry to send
ingtructions to La Bourdonnais to disarm the ships and send them back
to ¥rance.{2)The letter probabiy arrived in ile de France in isy or
June of 1742..a ﬁourdonnais was evidently expecting these order
because he had sbnt two ships ,the Parfaite and the Renommée to carry
slaves from Mozambique and Madagascar.When the orders arrived he ssat
the Fleury and the Brillant to India with iustructions to bring cargoes
of merchandise™to the Igies. (3)
in Augusti1742,ua Pourdonnais received a private letter from Orry
euthorizing him to keep two of the ships(4)0rry was of the opinion tnat
war was now inevitable.Relations betweasn France and fngland had
continued to deteriorate;in January,1742,the ¥rench candidote,Charles
Albert of Bavaria,had been elected bmperor and in the foliowing month
Walpole had resigned.it appears that on receipt of this news
ia Bourdonnais sailsd to Bourbon where,on 13 ZAugust,he addressed a
letfer to the gouncils of both islands.fis plan envisaged the use of the
islands as buses for privateering operations and he stated that he
required 1500 men and he sromised a generous division of prizeos.lhe plan,
however,did not materialise and shortly afterwards the Fieury, the
3rillant and the dimable returned to France,
The expedition of 1741 wes & gewmble which did not succeed.if war
had oroken out between France ‘and #ngland La Bourdonnais' squadron
would huve controlled the Indien Ucean for at' least twelve montns.An
uneasy peace however vwas maintained between the two countries mntil 1744
and therefore the squadron accomplished ncothing.The total cost of the
expedition,including the loss of two ships which had been ordered to
assist the squadron,was 12,000,000 livres.The cost of fitting out the
sguadron was over 5,006,000 livres and this represented a pure loss to
the Uompany.The fact that a French fleet had sailed to India in 1741
indiced the English government to follow suit and three years later
when war was d:clared and English fleet appeared in the Indian Ocean
and carried out a number of successful attacks on French shivping.from
July 1744 to Uctober,1745, the Gompany lost twelve ships which had éost
a total of 10,800,000 livres to build and equip.Moreover, the position of >
the Company was weakened.In 1743 the directors sent 4,442,314 livres to
india to parchase mefchandise,whemas in novial years they sent from '
10312,000,000 livres and they ordered_hupleix to cut down expenses and i
to suspend all building operations. (6) . .
The members of the government and the directors of the Vompany ,
expressed their satisfaction with the results of the campaign in Mahe(7)
but experienced administrators in india realised thst the expedition
had been a failure.In December, 1742, Jumas wrote to Bupleix :"Je regarde
1a guerrs de Mehe comme un evenement des plus fatheux qui aiént pu
arriver & la Compagnie car outre les sonmes considerables qu‘elle lui
coute déja cela la jette dans la necessite d'y entretenir une trés forte
garnison pendant longtemps."( 8)0ddly enough it was the colonists in

‘(i)uéﬁoire (1750) p.29-31;Recuel Trimestriel.Vol III.Ra;port de

ia Pourdonnais sur son voyage--a Mahe en iT4i.F.334-392, :
(2)ivi¥.BI.pgd-5. | ;
(3 )Lougnon.torrespondance,Vol IV.Introduction.pxxix. :
(4 )¥emoire (I1750) Orry to La Bourdonnais.jugusti742.p34.
(5)Recueil Trimestriel.Vol I.Lettrssau gonseil.p 453-5u3,
(6 )Cultru.lupleix.p.74,80. ) :
(7 )Lougnon.Gorrespondance. Vol .1V, Extrait du Régistre—Eéheral.ngune,1743.pIOS
(8)Cultru,iupleix.pss.




3

Bourbon who benefitted from the expedition to Mahé:Twenty four creoles
had volunteered to serve with .a Bourdonnais and in 1743 the Bompany
agreed to meintein coffee prices &t five soug a pound for a further
period of two years in recognition of the,?zele e} 1'empressement avec
lequel ia plupart des habitants.....se soant portes & abandonner leurs
he.bitations pour aller au secours de Pondicherry."(I)

La Bourdonnais resumed his duties as Hovernor in March 1742.He
promoted ship building and the cultivation of cash crops in ile de France
and he encouraged the coionists to form trading companies but he was
deterinined to leave the islands as soon as circumstences permitted.After
the departure of the three Eompany ships he sasked Jdrry to accept his
resignation but the Contrcller-General persuaded him to remain at his
post and in December, 1742 ie Bourdonnais was informed that he was to take
over the government of Pondicherry par interim in the event oif the illness
or dsath of Dupleix.(2)in March 1744, urry wrote :"Je sens oue denue’ du
principal mobile qui vous avait determiqé'a repasser dans les indes qui
steit de diriper des forces,tant pour defendre lies é%ablissemen§§ de la
Compagnis,gue pour falre lems entreprises si 1'occasion s'en presentait,
vous demanceraz pourquoi l'on ne vous permet pas voire retourjmais...om
¥ surait d'autant plus de besoin d'un homme de ressource qui sut se
retourner et faire un usage avantageux du peu qu'il a....b'silleurs la
bonne opinion que j'ai ce vous m'ayant determine”a vous destiner le
prenier poste de 1'Inde,s'il arrivait quelaueciioss a ¥,Dupleix,elie o'
quagé'a yous considérer comme un homme non seulement utile mais méme
necassaire.”(3)

The frigate Fisre arrived in Port Louls ln Septesber,1744, with news
that France had declursd war on England in sarch of the same yaar.?he
ship carried o dlspatﬂh)howaver,from the directors of the Company dated
14 April, 1744,forbidding La Bourdonaais to engage in hostilities uagainst
the 2nglish aithough he was authorized to keep two ships to guard the
jsiands in the event of an attack.(4)The directors continued in their
belief thet the two companies would negotiate local ireaties of
neutrality and that trads would coatinus.

Tais was the news that La Bourdonnais had been walting to hear for
three years.be knew that he could fiout the orders of the Pougany to
preserve & strict neutrality Dbecause kis protector,le Pulvy,ant possibly

Orry himself,wanted to use ile de ¥rance as a base for spacial operations.(S)

Ls “ourdonnais had plananed to make an atitack on the Bngiish factory at
Madras as early as 1740 ané he had discussed the scheme with Zumas,
Paradie(6 )and Dupieix in i74i.As soon as he heard that war had broken
out he informed bupieix that he could reguisition six ships and enlist
from 1500-1800 men end use them for a speciai eaterprise, the profits of
which were to-be divisded betwsen the Coampeny,lupleix and nimself. (8)
He replied to the Eompany despatch of 1i April polnting out that
Commadore Barnett,who was in command of an English asguadron which had
arrived in the Indian Ocean in 1744,would not respect a treaty of
neutrality wvaich had been negotiated by tnp commercial compenies.

in Lecember I744, Dupleix informed La Bourdonnais tuat the loecal
agreements to preserve nautrality wouid probaedly be hoanoured but egrly in
1745 he heard that ine English squadron ned arrived in the lndian Ucean

(I)Lougncn.Corresgondance.Vel 17, Thae Compeny to tie Sugerior Cauncil of
sourbon.15 February,i743.p, 129. .

{2)M6%0irs (1750)0rry to La Bourdonnais.5 December,1742 p. 37 ;B2 Orry to
the Superior Council of Pondicherry 18 February,i743.p. 5-6.

(3)Ivid.P3.0rry to la Bourdonnais.7 Narch.i744.p.6-T.

{4)Ivid.p.35. . i ‘ 1 ] -

(5)ibig. B¥.Oryy to La Bourdoinais.? March,i?aﬁ.p.T.;Ma Bourdonnals to
Duplaix 17 Inly,1746.5.90. o .

(6)At tant timsPFEradis was a sanior official inm Pondicherry.

(7TjCultru .Dupleix...s Bourdonneis to Juplsix.1? Septomber,IT4d.n 291.
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and shortly afterwards the Superior vouncll of Madras intinated that

it could not influence the actions of an officer in the Royal Navy.
There were &t that time seversl ships trading with ilanilla,lozambique
and China in which Dupleix had a commercial interest and he reaiised
that his losses would probably be considerable.He therefore decided to
cooparate with La Bourdonmaisjon 15 JaﬂLary,1745,he vrnote to the latter
promising to invest 15,00 rirees in a privatecring cxpedition.Faracls,
the officer in charge at Karikel had visited Mecras in I741 and drawp
plans of the town and it appears that Dupleix forwerded them to

Lo Bourdonnais. (I)In Margh and April,1745, four ships,engegecd in

private commerce. in the Indian Oceen, thres of them with Vhina and the
fourth with Sumatrs,wsre captured by the énglish.One of the shirs ms
engaged in & tracing venture organised by La Bourdonnels end 1t seems
that Dupleix had & major interest in the cargoes of the remai=ing three.
On I May,I745 1a Bourdonnais wrote to Duplelx gntimating thel a
privateering expedition was ecgential:"C'etait le seul roysn,"hz wrote,
"3e qous dddomiager de nos pertes."(2)

Although Impieix was prepared to take advantage of the disturbad
state of affeireg in Indiz and to invest in an unofficial attack on
Madras he wes nevertheless fully awere of the fact that the iZnglishe
squadron might attack Pondicherry.The directors had ordered him to
sugpend all building operations in the town in 1743 but he had disobayed
the order and gontinued to fortify the town.This work, however wrs s:1ill
incomplete and he was as yet unwilling to commit himself wholehecartedly
to an enterprise which mignt have serious consequences.doreover, the
unsottlad state of the Carnatic rendered the positicn of the French in
pondicherry pracarious in the cxtreme.lIn September,1742,8ufder All had
been murdered and his brother-inélaw proclaimed Hawab of the Czrnatic.
A few months later the army mutinied;the son sen of Sufder Ali was
proclaimed Nawab and the Subador of the Leccan appointed a ruerdian to
keep order in the prhvince.fhe .latter disd before he could assume his
duties aud & genaral, Aawarcodesn,was sent to adeinister the vernztic,
Shortly afterwards the Nawab was murdered aad Anwaroodesn wss a; .ointed
his successcr.farly in 1745 Dupleix asked the new Nawab to annnunce
publicly that he would regard an attack on the french factories as an
act of agression sgsinst himself.In addition,an ap;sal for help was
sent to Ile de France.(3)

La Bourdonnais prerered to sail for lndis.Be requisitioned four
ships and collected supplies.{(4)The Insulaire,e frigate which had been
built in Port Louis wac refitted as a warship.Food was rationed in the
island snd sinte few of the colonists were wiliing to serve in the
squuzdron the planters in Bourbon wsre ordered to supply one twentieth
of there male slaves for service aboard the ships.This unpopular
measurs was found to be unnecessary, however, because a cargo of slavee
from Seaeral arrived in Ile de France and from2U0-300 of them were
purchased for the Gompany for the expedition.In Hay,1745 the scuadron
was ready to sail but La Hourdonnais decided to wait £ or the lndiamen
to arrive from France in order to convoy theam to India.Owing to the
shortsge of food in Ile de France he set three ships to Madagascar with
crders to remain there until August by which time the Conpuny chips were
expected to have arrived in Port jouis.(S5)

On 28 July the frignte,8xpsdition,arrived from France with
despatchnes from Orry.La Bourdonnais was inforiacd that e scuadron of
five chips ,ths Achille,the St.Louis,the Lys,the Phecnix aad the buc
d'0ridans would arrive in the islasd in October.]he ships werse currying
bullion and Ls Bourdonnais was ordsred to convoy the syucdron to

{(I)Cultru.bupieiz.p 204,

(2)Ivid.p202.

(3 )Bsoire (1750)£d .Superior Council of Fondicaerry to ua dourdonnais.

15 danuwury,l743.pedd=i5,

(4) The ships were the Pourbon,the Churmants,the ieptune and the Fleury.
ihs cargo of the Neptune was luter trangshipped to the Vharmante
whieih raturned to Fraacve.

(5) Memeoin{l750) p.40=43.
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Pondicherry.The Controller-General suggested that when this operation
nad been completed the squadron sinould be used to guard the French
factories and to capture prizes but he gave La Bourdonnais perwissiocn
to modify the plan,provided that the ships returned to France with
merchandise from India and “ourbon in the last quarter of 1746 or early
in I747(1). : o

‘the despatch did noat contain any reference to an attack on dadrns
and i1t would apzear that Urry had not been informed of the project.The
despatch,hwever, statea that as commander of the squadron wa sourdonnais
was not tied to any one coursg of action in india proviced that the
bulliion was safely depbsttédqﬁn Yondicherry and thet *“upleix was
consulted on any Tuture plans.On 1 August .a Bourdonnais wrote ip
-wugleix and asked him to collect supplies for an 2sxpedition ageinst
Madras,He submitted & compreasnsive list of requirements.Anong other
items he asked for 2,000 uniforms and smocks,8,000 pairs of shoes,
8,000 shirts, 4,000 hats, 4,000 peirs of gaiters,200 officers' uniforams,
1,000 rifles, 400,000 lbs.of rice and a considerable guantity of
munitions and naval stores.On receipt of this letter Dupleix began to
assemble supplies and further information was obtained sbout the dzfences
of Madras{2) :

#Meanwhile na Bourdonnais was making the final preparations for
the departure of the flz2et.A sloop,the #lisabeth,sziled from Port wouis
to padugascar with ordexs for the captains of the three ships which had
already been sent there to take in'provisions,to return to iLle de France.
In Sepiomber the ships arrived in Port wouis.A ship carrying a cargo of
coftee, the Heptune de 1'inde,arrived frdm Pondicherry on 7 October sith
the news that the dnglish squadron was cruising between 8St.David and
Pondicherry.ua Bourdonnals however, was unabie to give the ordsr to
proceed to 4ndia until the squadron arrived from France.(3)

The sihips from France anchored off Pori Louis between 28 Jamary
and 1 February, 1746.The Achille was equipped as a ship-of-the-line
but the other ships were slow-noving merchantmen with & limited
arnament. (4 )The squadron had been at sea for nearly ten months,the crews
were weary,and food suppliss were low.La Bourdonnais was thus faced with
the diffficult problem of providing for two squadrons of ships with a
total compiement of 3,210 offzcers and men and there were in addition
four ships of the 'secconde navigation' which reqguired supplies. The

(I)Memoire(1750) EJ.Orry to na Bourdonneis. 29 January,1745.p.7-Li: Orry

( to i Bourdonnais.25 November,1745."Votre point de vue principel doit
etre la conservaetion de ia ville cde rondicherry et des autres
etrbiissements....cet objet doit 2ire préfére a tout sutrs enirepriseTpl2

(2)Cultru.bupleix.ia Bourdonnais to Dupzeix.l August, L745; bupieix to
La Pourdonnals .22 veptember,i745,p 202-203.

(3 )ua0ire (1750 )p.43.

(4 Jrosteing. Expédition de Lea Bourdorneis duns la mer des lnces en 1746,
Hevue Maritime €t Yolonial.Vol 67.rosteing gives tue following
informztion cbout the ships:the Achille(Captain de Lobry),a crew of
780 and 74 camons;the Neptun={Captain de la Porte-Barre) a crew of"
350 and 34 comons;the St.oouls(Ceptcln Pesaneland)a crew of 350 &1d
36 camons;the Duc d'0Orldens(Captuin Champlsis)a crew of 350 and 34
camons; the Lys(Captain Beard)acrew of 200 and 30 camcais;the lisnommee
(Captain de la Latimmis)a crew of 230 and 30 camons;the rhenix(Captain
de l& Bhaise)a crew of 250 a1d 44 camons;the Ingulaire{Captain de la
Bauiie Ja crew of 350 and 24 caaois..sicstaing mentions four more ships
which were in the lslas iu 1746:the Marie<Joseph,the St.Pierre,the
Parfaite gad the Heptune de 1l'Inde,
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Governor ransacked ile de France and Bourbon for food and he
requistioned the private gargoes carried by the officers of the
squadron which had arrived from France.Many of the skilled workers in
lle de France had died in an epidemic which had broken out in Port
‘Louis in 1745 and therefore La Bourdonnais was forced to employ local
tailors,carpenters and locksmiths for the refitting of the squadron.

The ships$ crews and the slaves and workmen who had been chosen to
serve in the squadron were divided into companies and a training
programme,which included scaling walls and target pracitice,was
organised for them.When individual ships had been refitted they left
lle de rrance and sailed to the rendewous at Ile de Ste.Marie, off the
éast coast of Madagascar, where they were to take in supplies.The Acting-
Uovernor,Didier de St.Martin,was instructed to requisition some of the
ships which arrived in Ile de France and to form a sqwdron vhich was to
cruise off Bombay in order to intercept knglish merchantmen returaning
from the Hed Sea and the Persian uulf, fhe squadron was then to join
La opourdonnais at Mahe” in September. (I1)On 24 march the Achille, the
Neptune and those ships which had not yet sailed for the rendezvous in
Madagascar left Ile de rrance ana arrived in Bourbon on the following
day.The ships took in provisions at St.Paul and the Superior Uouncil
agreed to contribute 1500 piastresjtowards the cost of equippiﬁg the

~expedition.i20 sailors with scurvy were left in the the toun. {2
La gourdonnais transferred to the Achille and on 29 March he sailed for
Madagascar. ’

The two islands had been stripped of food,equipment and munitions;
in a letter to the directors lLa Bourdonnais described the state of
affairs in the Islas,"qui restent en vérite dand un déplorable état,
dépourvues absolument de tout."(3) David,vho suc:eeded La Bourdonnais
as Governor of the Isles in 1746, also commented on the situation in a
report to the directors."Je trouvais cette ile pour ainsi uire desérte
et dans un depourvu absolu de tout.....Ls Bourdonnais en &tait arti...
ayant emmené.....toute la garnison,les meilleurs habitants en état de
porter les armes,les ouvriers noirs et les négres au service de la
Compagnie." (4 )Bourbon was 1also stripped of troops and munitionsy
La Bourdonnais taking with him to India the majority of the 48 1lb.guns
from the island,about 150 faithful slaves,which were loaned to the

ompany at I8 livres per month,a few white volunteers and the greater
part of the two companies whichffﬂe arrison. (5)As Rostaing remarked
in his report on the expedition,"l'€lite des deux iles etasdit
embarquee sur nos vaisseaux."(6) . .

Shortly after leaving Bourbon the squadron ran into bad weather.
The coast of Madagascar was sighted on 3 April and on the foliowing
day the Achille,the Lys and the St. Louis anchored off Foule-pointe,
which was sixty miles south of Ile Ste.Marie.The Parfaite was already

- at anchor in the bay and the captain informed iLa Bourdonnais that the
St.Pierre,which had set out for ile de France with a cargo of rice and
slaves,had been wrecked off the coast.The Parfaite also had a cargo of
rice for the Isles but the ship had been badly damaged during a storm.
La Bourdonnais put a number of officers and men aboard the ship and the
squadéron set sail for the Bay of antongil.“uring the afternoon of

4 April a severe storm broke out and on the "following day the Achille,
the Lys and the Neptune were seriously damaged.CanboBg,munitions,food
supplies and even personal belongings had to be Jjettisoned and when the
Achillg and the Lyg finally anchored off Ile Marotte,in the Bay of
Antongil they required a complete refit. (7)

élgMéEoire(§750)3p43;:6;2.$.;a ;ourdonnaiébto the Comgany.IOMarch,1746p16-28
2 JLougnon.Correspondance.Vol iV.Superior “ouncil of b ' .
Ny S TN P of Bourbon to the Company
é}‘Me@oire(1750).P.J.La Bourdonnais to the Company,iOMarch,iZ46.p.27.

4 )Crepin.La Bourdonnais.p 287. ’

(5)Lougnon.eorreqpondance.Vol V.lntroduction,p.XXXIX, XLIV-XLV,

(6) Rostaing.&xpédition.p 416.

(7)Mémoire (1750).P.d.La Bourdonnais to St.Martin.I5 May, 1746.p 29-30;
Rostaing.dxpedition.p 6u-64, )



n

boat -was sent to +le Ste.Marie to epllect the othsr ships ?n
:hgm:;tad:on and on Il April the Duc d'Orléans and the Neptune arrived
in the bay.The Renommée and the Marie-Jose:.h r?ached lle Marotte on
I4 April and the captain informed La Bourdonnais that the Bourbon,the
Phénizx,the Insulaire and the Parfaite were all safe;y gnchored off
Ile Ste.Matr¥e where they hud been joined by the S?.Lou1s.0n the same
day the captain of the Neptune de 1l'Inde arrived in the’pay in a long-
boat with the news that his ship had run aground.The Phenix,th? Bourbon
and the St.Louis reached Ile Marotte on 16 April and the Par?alte
arrived two days later.fhe insulaire was the last ship to join the
squadron.She anchored off the island on 28 April.(I)

La fourdonnais was anxious to provide masts for the damaged ships.
The captain of the Parfaite was orddepd to strip the Neptune de 1'Inde
and a search party,led by Rostaing,was instructed to survey the forests
which lay behind the marshy coastal flates on the mainland.A wooden
causeway was built across this marshland and timber for making masts
and yards was dragged to hastily constructed workshops on_the coast. "
This operation continued for almost one’month."Pendant pres d'un mois,
wrote Rostaing,™....nous ne cassames d'étre dans la boue jusqu'a
mi-cuisse et d'avoir sur le corps une pluie violents."(2)On 2 May the
Parfaite anchored off ile Marotte and the masts and rigging of the
Neptune de 1'Inde were used to refit the Lys and the Achille.Two weeks
later the Parfaite left for Ile de France.The squadron of nine ships
lefit 1le Marotte on 22 May and in mid-June they were in sight of the
Malabar coast.(3) :

The English squadron had been cruising off Mergui,near the entrance
to the Malacca straights,in the latter half of 1745.In March,I746, the
squadron returned to the Coromandel Coast.Commodore Barnett died at
¥ort st.David in 4pril and the command was transferred to Commodore
Peyton.There were six ships in the English squadron,the Medway (60 cannons]
the Preston(50 cannons),the Harwich(50 cannons), the Winchester(50 cannons)
the Medway's Prize(40 cannons),the Lively(20 cannons) and a captured
Yrench frigate,the Favori(40 cannons).(4) Dhe Bourdonnais received
information concerning the whereabouts of the Bnglish squadron when,on
29 lune,the Insuddire which had been gent to HMahe rejoined his squadron

“off 'the coast of Ceylon.The frigate carried despatches from Dupleix
| stating that the English squadron had been sighted off the Coromandel
Coast between Negapatam and Pondicherry.

The French squadron left Pointe Pedro Nord ofig €he coast of Ceylon
on 5 July and early on the following morning the English ships were
sighted. (8 )Commodore Peyton thought that the French squadron was a fleet
of merchantmen escorted by two warships and he ordered his ships to
engage. (6 )The Frenche squadron moved into line of battle and at 4.30.pm.
the English ships opened fire.La Bourdonnais ordered his ca_tains to

attempt to board the enemy ships but his squadron was largely composed

of merchantmen which were difficult to. manoevre.Moreover the Bnglish
squadron was equipped with 241b. cannons and early in the engagement

three of the French ships were badly damaged ana forced to vithdraw from
the battle.When night fell the EBnglish squaaron withdrev.The French

1lit flares to indicate their position but the #nglish did not re-enga e.(7)
Peyton held a council-of-war aboard his flagship on the morning of 7 uly
and because one of his snhips had been damaged during the engagement his
officers voted in favour of withdrawing to Trincomalee, (8)

(I)Memoire(I750) p.30-32,34.
(2)Rostaing. Expedition.p.69.
(3)Ibid.p.65-70.There were 3B42 officers and men aboard the squadron,

. dncluding 720 faithful slaves.58 woodcutters and carpenters died on
Ile Marotte.400 officers and men fell sick.Memoire(1750) P.J. La
Bourdonnais to St.Martin,I15 May, 1746.p.33,36-37.

(4)Malleson. The French in India.p.122-123,

Rostaing, Bxpedition.p.72.

tgglbid.p.§16?p p.7

(7 )Ibidopl73-74o

(8)Malleson.The French in India.p.124,
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robably surprised and relieved to see the
English ships sall avay but he nevertheless gave orders to pursue them.
On the evening of 7 July a council-of-wasx was held and it was decided |
to make for Pondicherry.Four ships,including the Achille,which had “taken
a very aciive part in the engagement (1),were badly damaged,supplies of

of food and munitions were low ,and 1I officers and 200 men had been
either killed or wounded.The Insulaire which had been dismasted was sent
to refit in the bay of Bengal.The other ships reached Pondicherry on

8 and 9 July.(2)

The troops were disembarked and the bullion was landed.Pondicherry
was nou safe from attack because a French squadron guarded the entrance
to the harbour.Thus La Bourdonnais had successfully cariied out both
the instructions contailed in the despatch from Orry (25 @ovember,1745)
and the plans which he himself khad submitted to the directors in a ;
despatch dated I0 March,I746.In the latter despatch he had written,"Je
ferais tous mes efforts pour etre a la cote Malabar vers le 10 de Maise...
Je compte passer a Mahé et y envoyer un friégate 4 prendre des nouvelles
de nos emnemis.....et nous les recontrerons....de Karikal au PortsSt.
David.La nous verrons qui se rendre maitre de la Céte....j'ose espérer
de les battre."(3) -

The second part of the plan which La Bourdonnais described in the
same despatch was to emply sections of the rrench squadron to cruise off
the Bnglish factories:™Je distribuerai nos navires en croisiére sur le
Zort St. David,sur Madras et sur la Pointe des Palmiers,a l'entrée du
Gange, et presumant deja de notre victoire je laisse ordre ici(that is,
in Ile de France)de faire partir en Juillet tous les vaisseaux qui
arriveront d'Burope,et les envoyer croiser sur Bombay;par ce moyen nous em
embrasserons tout@ la cote."(4) :

This plan, however,was based on the assumption that the knglish
squadron would suffer a serious defeat,but in fact the English ships
were only lightly damaged.lt would therefore have been very dangerous to
divide the French fleet into four or five flotillas.The English ships
were faster and more heavily armed and their gunnery appears to have
been remarkably accurate. (5)French naval units of two or three slow-
moving,armed merchantmen cruising off English factories in india would
have been destruyed one by one until the French fleet no longer existed.

La" Bourdonnais was

Thus the original official plan had to be modified.Moreoever the

the unsatisfactory outcome,k of, the engagement with the English lessened
the chances of a success?ngSK Madras.La Bourdonnais had realised that
a French victory at sea was extremely doubtful and yet naval supremacy
appeared to be necessary if the attack on Madras were even to be
attempted.This problem weighed heavily on ia Bourdonnais and two months
passed before he made a final decision to attack the city.

A detailed description offorigins and development of the quarrel

between ia Bourdonnais and lupleix before 1746 is not within the scope

of this work. (6)The two men appear to have been friends and possibly
business partners in 1733 but when Dupleix was informed that iLa Bourdonnais
had been appointed Governor-General of lle de France and Bourbon he
realised that he has a serious rival for the command in Pondicherry.

(I)Rostaing.Expedition.p.73.The Achille which was commanded by la

?ourdonnais had jettisbdoned 24 of her guns during the storm in April but
she fired 1,000 shots in two hours using only 25 I8 pounders.

(2)Iq;d. 13-15.

(3 )Memoire(I750)P.J.p.27.

(4)Ibid.p.27. : o

(5)Rostaing. Expedition.p.73.

(6)An analysis of this celebrated quarrel may be found in the biograshies
of La Bourdonnais by Crépin and Herpin and in works on “upleix by‘
Martineau and “Yultru(see Bibliography)
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He had served as a councillor in Pondicherry from I1720-1726;in the
latter yegr he was suspended and his appeal ?or reinsta?ement was not
granted until Septipgprg1730.nuring this period he remained in Indla.
Shortly aftervards,en independent command in Chandanagore and he
naturally hoped that his next command would be in Pondicherry.The
appointment of La Bourdonnais ,who had resigned from a naval command in
the 'premierenavigation' in 1727,to an important governorship,which was
.-regarded as a stepping-off post for a senior command in India,vas
bitterly resented by Dupleix.

The two men quarrelled publicly in 1737 when La Bourdonnais complained
to the Company that Dupleix was trading privately with Mozampique.This
situation had come about because the former had allowed Mupleix to read
a report which he had written on the trading possibilities of sfast
Africa ;ﬁupleix had been so impressed that he had sent two of his ouwn
ships to’trade with Mozambique. (December,1736, and November, I737) The
Council of Pondicherry however protested to the Company about
La Pourdonnais' own efforts to establish trading relations with Persia.
In 1737 the Company ordered La Bourdonnais to limit trading voyages
from Ile de France and ®ourbon to Mozambique,the Comores and Madagascar.
The factories in India were forbidden to trade in this area but lupleixz
disobeyed the order and ships sailed from Pondicherry and Ehandanagore
to Mozambique in 1738 and 1739.(2)

By 1739 bbpleix and La Bourdonnais were obvious rivals for the
command in Pondicherry.In that year Uumas the Bovernor of Pondicherry
asked the directors for leave and ih the following year the brother of
La Bourdonnais,Mahe de la Villebague,who was a member of the Bouncil of
of Pondicherry,returned to France.It was generally believed that he had
returned in order to secure the governorship for his brother.Dupleix
certainly expected to hear the news that La Bourdonnais had been
selected for the post.(3)¥hen La Bourdonaais returned to France in
1740 he submitted a report to the Controller-General in wfiich he wsked
to be transferred to another territory.In 1744, however ,bupleix was
chosen to succeed dumas and in October of the same year he assumed his
‘duties in Pondicherry. '
| , A further cause of friction lay in the attitude of Dupleix to the
expedition to mahé,.La Bourdonnais was strongly criticised by senior
officials of the Company in ilndia for the part he had played in the
planning of the expedition of 1741.This expedition, which cost the
Company 12,000,000 livres,was a disaster;in 1742 the directors were
forced to cut their annual trading budget from about 12,uu0,uu0 livres
to just under 4,500,000 livres.dupleix was advised to cut down expenses
in " pondicherry at a time when conditions in the Carnatic wvere extremely
unsettled. .

Thus a quarrel between the two men was almost inevitaﬁfé}éging to
the increasing straimsbetween them,in spite of the fact that they had
not met for almost twelve years.When la Bourdonnais arrived in
Fondicherry there were two additional factors which further complicated
their relationship.According to the instructions which La %ourdonnais had
received in January,I741 his authority over the troops in French factories
in India was limited ;" q&i'au cas que l'action se passat dans quelqu'
autre gouvernement que celui-ges lles,les Conseils l'auraient préablement
L utorise a donner les ordres & terre.“(4)La Bourdonnais was apparently

[ )Senior employees of the Company were engaged in widespread trading
ventures which ranged from the vape of Hood ﬁope to Manilla.Dupleix,in
Chandeznagore, was able to obtain ships and créws quite easily and the trade
possibilities of India and the Far fast were limitless.La Bourconnais vas
hard-pressed to find ships and crews and his markets were somewhat
restricted.He was therefore angry when bupleix sent ships to Mozembique,

4 Martinfﬁu.Du leix et l'Inde Francaise.Vol I.p. 320.
f)Cultru.dfupleix.p. 172. '
| )Mémoire(1750).0rdres du Ministre.I6 January,I741.p.57.
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prepared to accept this limitation of his powerjhe r?p?ayedly asked

the Superior bquncil of Pondicherry to share responsibility for the
expedition to-Madras but at the same time there is every indication

that he was,by 1746 incapable of working in harmony with a superior
authority.Furthermore the planning of the expedition to lMadras was already
creating friction between the two men.As early as February, 1746

La Bourdonnais had promised to share the honours and the spoils of

Madras with Dupleix if the latter agreed to share responsibility for

the success or failure of the expedition but in the following month
dupleix informed him that he could not accept joint responmsibility. (I)

There was great rejoicing in Pondicherry when the French shi.s
arrived and Dupleix received La Bourdonnais with every mark of
friendship and respect but shortly after—-ards there occurred the
inevitable dispute about precedence.The Controller<teneral who was
avare of the antipathy between the two men advised La ﬂourdonnais to
act with moderation:"Je vous racommande aussi trés particuldsrement,"
he wrote,"d'en agir avec lui avec les égards u'il convient d'avoir
pour un homme qui commande dans toute 1'Inde."(2)La Bourdonnais,
however, maintained that as an officer holding a commission from the
King(3) he waseéqual in rank to Dupleix and he immediately assumed
honours that were normally reserved for the Governor. (4 )He held
impressive parades and moved about the town with a bodyguard of I8
soldiers;he insisted that the 'tabour aux champs',a general salute
which was normally beaten for the Governor wlone,should be accorded to
him. (5)There can be little doubt that he was acting in a provocative
end foolish manner.He was however, determined to advertise the fact
thet he held an independent command.

On 17 July La psourdonnais submitted a pian of operations to
Dupleix.He proposed to refit his squadron in Pondicherry and to increase
the number of guns carried aboard the ships.ne intended to cruise in
the Indian Ocean in an attempt to bring about an engagement with the
‘gnglish squadron eand to foliow up this operation ,whether a battle had

aken.place or not,with an attack on Madras.He pointed out that the
plan coula orily succeed if the Superior Council agreed to hand over &
a substantial number of cannons,®car nous ne pouvons espérer de 1
aborder,"he wrote,"ses vaisseaux marchant generalement mieux que les
notres et ceux qui les conduisent nous surpassant en bonne manoeuvre! (6)
He asked Dupleix to supply him with 58 cannons (44 of I8lbs.and I4 of
I21bs)and he added:"B'abord vous ne devez rien craindre pour votre
place,pendant que nous serons & la eote."(7)

In the same letter La Bourdonnais stated his views about the aims
of an expedition to Medrag."Si la fortune nous inite,que pensez vous que
nous devions ‘faire de Madras?Pour moi mon sentiment est d'en tirer toutes
les marchandises que nous y trouverons pour les embarquer sur nos
valsseaux et rangomner le restejcar,quand nous boulverserions toutes
les pierred de cette ville,dand un an d'ici, tout sera relevé et Madras sera
 lus fort qu'il ne l'est aujourd'hui;parce que l'on se corrige de ses fautes |
2t nous en serons pour les peines et les fraig de la déﬁolition,sans
L ucun avantage?#$8s
| Dupleix, however 6 did not agree with La Bourdonnais that the
l estruction of Madras was unnecessary and undesirable and on 20 duly,
1746 )he wrote :"Je ne puis vous dire ni savoir a present le parte qu'il
conviendra prendre sur Madras,si vous avez le bonheur de vous en emparer:
les circonstances decideront de celui qui sera le plus convenable.Je vous

I)Cultru.Qupleix.La Bourdonaais to Dupleix.3 Febrary,1146.p.204:Dupleix to
La Bourdonnais.23 &prill746.p. 205.

2 )Memoire. (1750)P.J.0rry to La Bourdonnais.29 January,I1745.p.10.

(3 )Mauritius. Archives.Box ¥2-23.Photostat copy from French National Archives..
(A.N.Mar.C 192)Commission de Capitaine de frégate.Il April,I745.

4 )Private diary of Ananda Ranga Pillai(1736-61)Vol II.p.I10-Iil.

5)Ibid.B.120-124,166-7.

6 )Mémoire (1750)P.J. La Bourdonnais to Hupleix.20 July, 1746.p.41.

7)Ibid.p.42.
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gseral simplement la réflection que tandis que cette place suéistera,
Pondicherry ne sera que languir et que tout le commerce y tombers L.
toujours....Jje ne suis point du tout du sentiment que cette ville etant
démantelée puisse se rétablir en un an.Plusieurs ann€es n'ont pu suffire
3 la mettre comme elle est.lLes facilite® et facultes sont actuellement
‘bien moindres.Il ne peut resulter qu'un tres .grande bien pour cette
‘place,de la démolition des murs et fortifications de cette v;lle.(l)
Dupleix nevertheless concurred with La Bourdonnais that the defeat of
‘the #nglish squadron was a necessary prtliminary to an expedition to

Madras. _ .
| During the last week of July ia Bourdonnais' squadron was refitted.

‘Bupleix handed over 28 guns of 18lbs,I2 of 121bs.,and 22 of Blbs.

La Bourdonnais later complained that Dupleix had withheld a number of
181b. guns,thus forcing him to sail with an inadequate number of heavy
cannons but this ‘ap;ears to be a trivial critidsm.(2) Although La
Bourdonnais was confident that the Bnglish squadron would not attack
Pondicherry whilst he was in the area,there was always the possibililty
of a defsat for the French in a naval engagement with Peyton's force.
Dupleix feared the consequences of stripping the valls of Pondicherry
of its cannon.Unfortunately each accused the other of acting in an
unreasonable manner and in late July Duplelx did not attempt to conceal
hid hatred of La Bourdonnais. (3) )

On 3 August the squadron was ready for sailing.The Renommee, which
had been cruising off Madras,returned to Pondicherry on 28 July.The
fleet was inspected by the son of Chunda Sahib and on 4 Augist the ships
set sail.(4)La Bourdonnais had made elaborate arrangements for the
transfer of his command to Dupleix in the event of his death:"Que toute
1l'egcadre sort a vos ordres jusqu'au I5 Octobre, temps auquel elle doit
faire son retour aux Iles pour leur surete."(5)He had also persuaded
¥upleix to appoint a special representative to sail with the squadron,
"pour veiller....tous les intéréts de la Compangie."(6).
| The dicision to appo nt specidd representatives to sail with the
Bhuadron was of vital importance.The Controller-General and the
majority of the directors were unawareof® the plan to seize Madras and
therefore La Bourdonnais and #upleix who had devised the scheme
redblsed the need for impartial observers.In his despatth to the
directors of 10 March,I746, La Bourdonnais had written:"Pour €viter a mes
ennemis la peine d'eplucher ma conduite sur les depenses et les prises
qui pourront se faire....j'ai fait nommer M.Bonneau,conseiller
commissaire de l'escadre et lui al donne suis les ordres M .Laurent...en
qualite d'ecrivain principal de l'escadre.”(7)To wupleix he wrots on
29 July:"Ma fagon de penser sur l'intéret dans cette vompagnie est si
e¢loignée a'aucun bénéfice que la crainte méme du soupgon m'a fait prendre
la precaution d'embarquer sur l'escadre M.Bonneau....Je vous prie pour
‘ma satisfaction de nommer encore un commissaire de Pondicherry qui 4'
accord et conjointement avec celui de l'escadare veille aux intéréts de
le Compagnie,sur tout pour ce que l'one pourra retirer en nature par la
capitulation ou autre traite quw 1'on pourra faire pour la Lompagnie."(8)
}Nevertheless when La Bourdonnais decided to ransome Madras he disregardea
the advice of the representative from Pondicherry on the grounas that he
had delegated the power to select such representatives to the Council.(9)

(I)Meﬁoire(17SO)P.J.Dupleix to La Bourdonnais.20 July,i746.p.43-44,note(a).

(2)Ibidop.60-610

\3)Private diary of &nancaRanga Pillai.p.I128-129,

(4 )Rostaing. Bxpedition.p.443.

(5 )Mémoire. (1750)P.J .La Bourdonnais to Lupleix.28.July,1746.p.45-4/.

\6 )Ibid.La Pourdonnais to #upleix.29 “uly,i746.p.47.

§7glbid.La Bourdonnais to Dupleix.23 4ugust,I746.p.57.

8)Ibid.p.46. ®

(9)Ibid.BLe sieur de La Bourdonnais qui la(l'escadre)commandait avec
le pouvoir le plus amplp,avait seul le droit de leas nommer ou de
les reévoquer.p.46.note (a).
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- The French squadron set sail on 4 August.Fhe ships sailed
in a southerly direction and qahored off Port St.David.On the following
day La Bourdonhais,aboard the achille ,lowered his flag and the &nglish
geturned the salute.fhe squadron anchored off vud@idaiore on the evening
of 5 August.Two days later the snips reached Karikali.uLs Bourdonnais
who was extremely uneasy about the readiness of the squatron for action
sent a specidw dispat€h to ‘upleix on 10 August informing him that the
supplies ef ball and shot were inadequate,thet dysentery had broken out
among the crews and that he himgelf was ill.in addition he was obsesseg
'with the idea that the English squadron might sudden.y appear when his
ships were anchered off Madras and capture or sink the entire fleet.\1)
On 10 August he sent another despatch to VYupleix with the
proposal tojsedd French tropps to attskk Fort St.Uavid by land. He
believed that the knglish would sail for the Coromandel toast in order
to bring reinforcements;once the ships arrived off Fort St.David the
French would attack.He pointed out that if,on the other hand, the £nglish
ships failed to assist the Fort it could be argued that they had been
badly damaged.Fort St.Pavid would be taken and the French could then
proceed with an attack on Cuddalore. (2 jDupleix,however,replied thas an
~attack on the lesser forts would alienate the Nawab and prove costly
and abortibe,He emphasised that the real object of the expedition to
India was the destruction of the Egglish fleet and an attack on Madras(3)
The French squadron had sailéd for Trinquebar on 7 “ugust to take
in fresh supplies of water.They were becalmed for some days but on 13
August the ships arrived off Karikal.is Bourdonnais reckeved information
foom 8 Dutch ships which were anchored in the harbour that the enemy
squadron had been sighted off the north coast of Ceylon.On 14 flugust
he informed Dupleix that he had decided to redurn to Fondicherty and he
adviged the latter to make the final arrangements for the attack on
Madras."Nous n'avons que deux partis a prendre,"he wrote,"celui de les
‘aller chercher,ou celui de les forcer a venir nous trouver eux-mémes.
‘51 nous allong les chercher,il est sir qu'ils nous évitéront.¥1 est
encore sir qu'ils marcheront mieux que nous-et le temps passe.voyons
l'autre parti,si nous allons a madras le pis est qu'ils arrivent avant
que nous l'ay#ons pris.n'importe il faut que,forts ou faibles,ils
viennent nous combattre. (4)

On 16 4ugust however La sourdennais changed his plans and sailed
southwards to the lutch factory at Negapatom.The ships anchored in the
harbour on I7 August .La Rourdonnais discovered that there were two
French ships ,which had been purchased fom the English,lying in the i
harbour and he forced the Dutch Governor to pay an indemnity.(5)Shortly
after the arrival of the French the English squadron was sighted off
Negapatam.The French hoisted Dutch flags but the enemy ships did not
‘enteg the harbour and as soon as the French ships began to put on sail
the i4nglish sailed southwards.la Bourdonnais pursued the enemy but on
2I Rugust he returned to Negapatam.(6)The French ships had again been
proved inferior to the gnglish ships in speed."L'Achille seule £tait
meilleur voilier qu'eux,"wrote Rostaing,"et tous les autres navires de
1(escadre n'cétaient que des Coffres charges de monde et canons."(7)

A Dutch ships anchored off Negapatam on 22 “ugust and La Bourdonnais
was informed that the(?nglish ships had been sighted on I9 4ugust
sailing southwards for“Ceylon.la gourdonnais immediately gawe orders for
the squadron to return to Pondichdrry.

(I)'Mehoire(I750)P.J.Labourdonnais to Dupleix.l0 August,I746.p.47.
(2) 1bid.p.47-48.

(3) Malleson.The French in india.Dupieix to La Bourdonnais.I2 dugust, I746.p13

(4) Memoire(1750)P.J. La Bourdonnais to Dupleix.I5 August,1746.p.52.

{5) Ibid.La Bourdonnals to the Superior Council of Negapatam.I] August,
- 1746.p.55. .

6) Ibid.La Bourdonnais to yupleix.23 Auguat,1746.p.56.

7) Rostaing.Expedition.p.415.

(8) Méhoire.{1750) P.Jd.La Bourdonnais to Dupleix.23 August,I746.p 56-57.
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carried ashore in a litter.(l)The greater number of his despatches
g0om 10 March to 25 August contain refersaces to the unsatisfactory
state of his health but JMupleix later printed a letter, dated 19 4ugust,
1746,in which he advised La Bourdonaais to embark in a litter,in order
to spread the rumour that he was seriously ill.It was later suggested
that La Bourdonnais used this plan,which was intended to lull the
snglish in wadras,in order to remain in port and postpone & deciskon
to attack the city.(2)There can be little doubt that he was really i11(3)
but the ressonsibility £of leading an expedition to Madras weighed
heavily upon him and in late August he was prepared to use almost any
argument to persuade Dupieix and the Supeerior Council of Pondicherry
to abandon the project.-

On 23 August he had sent a despatch to Uupleix in which he _
pointed out the ‘dangers of an attack on Madras."Le #inistre m'a ordonne
d'armer les vaisseaux en guerre,"he wrote,"d'abord pour apporter les
fonds & fondicherry et faire ensuite les courses....ll est vrai qu'il
‘ me laisse le mditre de mes opérations,aprés qui il me dit precisement
de charger les vaisseaux et de les conduire en Europe.Il ne m'est
point parlie de Madras.lle est vrai que par la premidre escaqre(1741)
enhyant congu le dessein,je le communiquai a M.Dumas et en ecrivis au
dinistre....daiscomme ce n'est pas une chose ordonnéde je crois que je
ne dois m'y déterminer....car notre descente faite,nos vaissé&sux étant
dégarnis,s'ils tombent dessus a 1'imprevu,ik peuvent bruler ou couler
nos navires,ou les prendre et secourir Madras....Qa'est ce que je craigns
le plus dans tout?C'est:1la perte de nos navires qui serait une perte
irreparable pour la Compagnie." (4)

In a despatch dated 26 fugust La Bourdonnais repeated these
arguments and recommended that the ships in the squadron should be used
to carry merchandise to furope.'!Ne valait-il pas mieux rester a
Pondicherry,'he wrote,"prendre les marchandises qui y etaient,venir
achever de charger du caffe aux iles et arriver en Burope avec dix
cargeisons.”(5)He stated that he was prepared to lead an attack on
Madras if lupleix and the Council would share responsibility for the
expedition. "Ainsi,apres une mure dé€liberation,"he wrote,"dand laquelle
vous aurez resolu qu'il est avantageux & la Compagnie de marcher a
Madras, je suis prét...Mais cette affaire est trop délicate pour me
charger seul de l'evenement....J'atténds donc ,ionsieur,une déliberation
qui dige qu'il est important pour l'honneur du pavillon et les intérets
de la Pompagnie de faire le siége de cette place,sand laquelle js ne
partirdi point."(6)

Duplieix end Paradis,the Governor of Karikal,and certain members
of the Buperior Council of Pgndicherry were deeply committed to a policy
of agression against Madras.The former had spent an immense ammount

- of money buying food and equipment for the expedition and he was prepared

to use all the means at his disposal to persuade La Bourdonmais to
attack the city.Besides,he wanted the french fleet to winter in lndia;
information had reached Fondicherry that the Bnglish sguadron had
received reinforcements and the city was ill-prepared for a long siege.
On 26 August the Superior Council of Pondicherry met to discuss the
despatch which had been sent by La Bourdonnais. (7)

The Council drafted a reply which was a masterpiece of spudied
insolence."Cette comminication et le conseil que vous nous y demandezy
they wrote,“nous a d'autant plus surpris,que jusqu'a présent vous avez

|
(L) Private diary of jnanda Ranga Pillai.Vol II.p.233.
(2) Crepin.ua Bourdonnais.p.283-285.
(3) Both contemporary witnesses,Rostaing(p.417) and Ananda Ranga Pillaie
(Vol 1I,p.233-235,242)uention the illness of La Bourdonnais.
(4) Memoire(I750).P.J.La Bourdonnais to Bupleix 23 August,I746.p.57-58.
{(5) Ibid.p.62. -
(6) Ibid.p.63-64,
(7) Cultru.Dupieix.p.205-210:Private Diary of Ananda Range Tillai.
vol II.p.253-255.
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tenu a votre egard un parfait silence sur les operations de votre
escadre et que le conseil n'e regu du Ministre ni de la Compagnie
aucune instruction sur ce qui la regarde....nous avons vu agir depuis
pres d'un an M.le vommandant General et faire des preparatifs et des
depenses qui ne pouvaient tendre qu'a un projet considerable...contens
de voir que la suite pourrait réparer nos pertes...nous voyions agec
satisfaction avancer ces préparatifs.”(IThey point:.d out that the
Bnglish fleet had shown its inferiority by refusing to fight and yet
the French squadron was idling in port,"et nous ne voyons qu'agec une
peine extreme que l'escadre Anglaise est toujours en parage,ds pouvoir
s'emparer. des vaisseaux que nous devons attendre d'EBurope,® (2 )Finally
the Councii stated that La sourdonnais should either search Tor the
English at sea or attack Madras;"Nous croyons méme pouvoir dire qu'il
ferait facheux,honteux meme pour la nation d'abandonner ces deux
moyens." (3)

On 2/ 4ugust a deélegation from the Superior Council called on
48 bourdonnais and presented a petition ,"pour le sommer de la part du
Hoi de choisir 1'un des deux partis...Faute par lui de choisir celui du ehke
Bhoix duquel on ie laisse le maitre,de repondrz en son propre et prive
‘nom,de tout ce qui pourra arriver par la suite."(4)The petition
contained the suggestion that La Bourdonnais snould transfer his
command to Captain de la Porte-Barre if he considered that he was too
111 to sail with the squadron.

La bourdonnais ordered the ships to put to sea under the commana
of de la rortedarre but he insisted that the Superior Council had no
power to direct the operations of the squadron®e n'ai consulte le
Consell que sur l'affeire de Madras,'he wrote, "Il dependait de lui d'opiner
decisivement pour ou contre.Quant & la destination de mon escaare,ce
n'est pas & lul & en prendre connaissance.”(5)When this letter reached
gupleix he ordéeed the captains of the squadron to return 250 Buropean
soldiers and 800 sepoys to the garrison of rondicherry on the pretext
that their services were required to defend the city. (6 )%hen,hovever
La Bourdonnais informed him that the squadron had received orders to
attack #nglish shipping off Madras he withdrew only 125 furopean
soldiers and 50 sepoys. (7

The squadron sailed on 27 August.bLa Bourdonnais remained in
rondicherry.Rostaing states that the fleet sailed under the orders of
Porte-Barrée ,befause La hourdonnais,"nex“ﬁint laisser notre escadre dans
l'inaction,en attendant le retour de sa sante, " (8)The fleet cruised off

adras for a week and two English vessgls were captured.In a despatch

to Dupleix dated 4 September, La Bourdonnais commented on the results of
the'exggdigion.“Mon escadre....parait, "he wrote,"J'ai avis qu'elle a fort
1al execute les ordres que Je lui ai donnes.fand deux embarcations, qui

e sont prises,que parce qu'elles 1l'ont voulu(ce sont les termes de
.de la Porte-sarré)cette sortie etit 6té tros infructueuse.”(9)These
omewhat pecvish remarks formed the preface to a new plan for an attack
on Madras.

iL8 Bourdonnais stated that his health had improved and that he was
orepared to lead the attack providea that Yupleix sent provisions to the
Lles and collected supplies for revictualiing the squadron when it
returned to durope.In the despatch he asked Hupleix for advice about
surrender terms,"Si Madrag veut a prix d'argént se garantir d'un be
ombardement et des evénements d'un sidge."(10)¥inally he asked for advice
'8 to whether he should make an immediate attack or keep the squadron in

\I)Méﬁoire(I750) P.J.The Superior Council of Pondicherry to ia Bourdonnais.
26 August,l7 46.p064-65.
2)Ibid.p.66 .

3)Ibid.p.66. . :
;4)Ib1q.80mmation faite...gar le Congeil de Pondicherry.27 August.i746.p.67.
) 4bid.Ls Bourdonnais to the Superior gouncil of Pondicherry.27 August,p.GS.

5 ) Ibid.p.66,
) Ibid.La Bouraonnais to.uupleix.27 sugust,1746.p.68-69,

ig Rostaing. Expedition.p.417. '

) ) lemoire(1750).P.J.Le “ourdonnais to Dupleix.4 September, 1746.p.69.

10)Ibid.p.70. 3 :



India until January and attack Madras in November of December when
the cychone bedsen had ended. '

1n a despatch dated 6 September bupleix recommended an immediate
atteck on the c¢ity.".a terreur est répandue dane cette ville,"ne wrote,
“ains1 11 est presque certain que vous reussirez.il est vral que vous
avez a craindre 1l'escadre Anglaise:mais le parti que vous prenez de
laisser 1800 hommes & bord de votre escadre,la met bien en etat de
dsfendre. (1)He explained that he could not assume joint responsibility
for the expedition because La Bourdonnais was in sole command of the
sguadron but he agreed to provide stores and to send food to the Isles.
un the ruestion of surrender teras for Madras he advised L& Bourdonnais
to claim compensation for five ships which hzd been captured or sunk by
the <“nglish,i,000,000 gold pagodas to cover the cost of fitting out the
fleet and 1,000,000 gold pagodas to indeumnify the Congeany. (2 )Finaliy he
advised ia pourdonnais to include in any capitulation treaty a ciause to
nsutrelise the Indian ucean from the vape to the philippines. (3)

La ®ourdonnais supervised the fitting out of the squadron and on
9 September he wrote to Orry informing him that he had decided to
attack Madras,Although the Governor and the Superior Council had
refused to accept Hny responsibility for the éxpedition,La Bourdonizis
explained that the decision had only been taken in responae“to constant
pressure from Mupleix,"a me presser dand les termes les plus forts
d'entreprendre le siége de Mauras comme le seul cupable de dgcomnager
la vompngnie."(4)He added that he had been &ciused of over-cattion but
he stated that since,"le Conseil et 1o public annoncent par tout que le
succss n'en est pas -douteux et en conséguence toute notre nation,méne
les etrangers,regardentl ma conduite comme iroy circonspect,"(5) he had
finally agreed to iead an expedition to Madras.thus having assursd the
Controller-Generai that the attack was in obedience to the general will
of the gagérnment and people of Pondicherry,Lo Bourdonnsis completed
the fitting out of ais ships and on I2 September the squadron sailed
northwards,

The fleet was composed of one ship-of-the-line,eight converted
_ merchantmen and two smaller vessels.The St.lLouis and the Bril.ant were

gent eshead to lie in wait for ships which sailed foom Madras vhen the
attack began,and the Neptune and the Sourbon were ordered to sail to
the Madras roadstead.The rest of the squadron followed with the troops.
On the evening of 14 September the ships anchored 12 miies south of
Madras and between 500 and 600 men were landed.These troops marched
along the coast in sight of the ships.On the following morning the
squadron anchored off St.Thome and over IVUQ Zuropean soldiers,400
sepoys and about 400 slaves from the Isleecs were lanced.Uver 1,300 men
remained aboard the ships. (6)

A camp was set up at St.Thomé and a patrol,led by nostaing,was
sent out to choose sites for gun positions.On the evening of 15 September
an “nglish merchant named Barnavel,who had married a daughter of Mademe
Dupleix by her first marriage,visited La Bourdonnais and asked in the
name ¢f the Yovernor and Council of Madras for a temporary truce to
enable Huropean women to leave the toun.ia %ourdonnais refused this (
recusst although he agreed to give a safe conduct pass to the wife of
the Governor and also to irs Barnavel.On the folioving day a gun
position was set up to the south of ladras anfl the French iroops
marched to a viliege west of the city where & second camp was constructed.

(I)Méﬁoirq_(I?SO)P.J.Dupleix to La Bourdonnais.b September,1746.p.72.

(2)Ibid.Mémoire from Dupleix.6 Sepienber,i1746.p.74-76.The Memoire
contains instructions for the treaiment of minority groups in ladras
and the numes of persons waose property was to be regpected.

(3§Ibid.p.76. '

(4)1bid.p.77.

(S)Ibid.p-—l-lo ’

(6 Judmoire. (1750)p.69-70; Rostaing.sxpedition.p.447.
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on 17 September an attack by & regiment of sepoys was repulsed; the
French counter-attacked and occupied the summer residence of the
Governor of Madras whichhkas situated 300-400 yards west of the fort.
The houses which lay to the north of the summer residence were pillaged
and burnt and two gun positions were set up. (i)

Madras,which had bben acquired by the Bnglish in 1639,consisted of

' a narrow strip of land about.ofemile broad and six miles long.A small
.islend,about 450 yaras in length,which was separated from the meinland
by & narrow channel,was fortified and given the nane of Fort St.George.
The adjoining strip of mainland vas jnhabited by Indians and it became
known as the Black fown.Although the factory was well-protectedit had
certain draw-backs;eniry into the harobour Wus difficult owing to the
gurf and from October to January the roadstead was very dangerous on
account of the monsoon.ldevertheless the. tom had bscome very prosperous
and as early as 1653 the Counecil of Madras assumed responsibility for
the supervision of the activities of all Bnglish truding posts on the
Poromandel VYoast.

The Council of HMadras and the directors of the Bast India Company
were convinced that the city would not be attacked and thereforé the
defenees had been neglected.Rostaing wrote in his report,"Cette nation
regerda toujours nos desseins conmme chimériques,"and he described the
prevailing attitude in Madras as'une aveugle geéurité.‘(Z) In 1744
Dupleix who was alarmed at the presence of an English sguadron in the
Indian dceaq persuaded the Nawab of the Carnatic to warn the Governor
of Madras that Zuropsan factories on the ¥oromandel Coast were in
neutral territory.aAnwaroodeen informed the @overnor 5f Madras,Jdicholas
Morse, that he would not allow the English to attack or blockade French
factories in the Carnatic and he also stated that the prohibition
applied equelly to the French,Thus in 1746 Hadras was totally
unprepared for an attack.The garrison consisted of less than 3u0
soldiers and the defences of gort st.lieorge were wholly inadequate.
in adéition there appears to have been considerable ill-feeling between
the civil and militery authorities in the city.(3)

Although the defences of the city were weak the Covernor and
gouncil of Madras pelieved that the presence of en “nglish squadron in
the Indian Bcean and the assurances of the Hawab of the Carnatic,were
adequate guaraniees against attack.Unfortunately neither of these
guarantees had any validity.Commodore Peyton had sailed northwards-
on 3 September his squadron was of f Pulicat and in mid-September it
was cruising off Bengal,(4)-and the Nawab of the Carnatic was 10
longer prepared to come to the assistance of the English.Dupleix had
again entered into negotiations with Anwaroodeen and in mid-September
he promised the fiawab that once the french had captured the city they
would first destroy Fort St.George and then hand-Medras over to him. (5)

At daybreak oq’17 September the bombardment began.Rostaing uwrote
in his repgort;"Il etait jmportant de jeter au plus vite la terreur
chez des gens peu agnéris."(6) When night fell the Bourbon, the St.Louis
and the Achille opened fire on the city.There had been a considerable
smount of drunkeness and jll-discipline among the French troops when
the sudurbs of the city were pillaged and this probably caused
La Bourdonnais to postpone . the assault on the Black Town until the
92 September, (7)luring the night of 18 September La Bourdonnais
received a despatch from Mypleix informing him that PYour ships had

(1) Memoire(I750) p.?O-?I;“ostaing.Expédition.p.418-419.

(2) Rostaing.Expedition.p.420.

(3) 1vid.p.421.

(4) Malleson.The French in ndia.p.142.

(5) Mémoire(I750)P.J.Dupleix to .a Bourdonnais.2l September,I746.p.92-3.
(6) Rostaing.Expedition.p.418. '

(7) Ivid.p.449.



been sighted off Pondicherry on 17 September, (1) but on the following
day he reckéved a further despatch from Dupleix wnich stated tnat the
information had been incorrect. (2 )Meanwh

Meanwhile lLa Bourdonnaels had had several converations with a
Spaniard named Francisco Pertiro whom he had known in 1741.(3)Pereiro
was a doctor who had been in.the service of Chunde Sahib and in 1740,
when the latter was expelled from Arcot,he had escaped to Pondicherry.
He had later retired to Madras.Shortly after the arrival of the French
squadron Pereiro approached La Bourdonnais and gave him valuable
information about the defences of the city.vhen the siege bsgan he
offered to act as an intermediary during negotiations for a capitulation.(4)
On 19 September the step-daughter of bugleix,iarie vincent barnavel,
infbrmed La Bourdonnais that the Governor of Madras had received a
tetter from Pereiro, "dans Laque;le il fait mention de gquelque discours-
et que vous avez paru étre incliné a un accommodement."(5)Towards 8p.m.
on the same Gay L& Bourdonnais received another ietter from Mrs. Barnavel
in which she stated that the Governor was prepared to discuss surrendsr
terms. (6)

On the mornihg of 20 September two members of the Council of
Madras,Monson and Hallyburtcen,were escorted to the French headquarters
in order to discuss the capitulation.They pointed out that Madras was
situated in neutral territory and that tlme Nawab of the “arnatic had
declared that he would regard an attack on the town as an act of
hostility against himself.la Bourdonnais, however, explained that the
attack was a legal act of war because the English had captured the
Favori and burned the Pondicherry in neutral ports.The deputies then
“proposed that the French should withdraw from Madras on the payment of
a ransome but La Bourdonnais insisted on an unconditional surrender.,

He stated that he would accept ransom terms once a surrender had been
negotiated.At I0.a.m. the deputies retumed to Fort St.George for
consultations ‘with the Governor.(7)

Shortly after th: return of the deputies La Bourdonnais sent a
despatech to Morse poxntlng out the hopelessness of the ingiish position.
"Une plus longue résistance,"he wrote,"deviendrait obstination et ferait
contre tout régle de guerre puisque nous sommes dix contre un...que si
vous me contraignez a vous empoter de vive forceﬂvos vies,celles de vos
femmes,de vos enfants et vos biens, tout sera a la dlsp031tlon d'un
soldatesque,qui outrs toujours les droits de la guerre. D'allleurs...j ai
dans mes troupes des cipayes(sepoys),gens pillards,des caffres feToces
et cruels;ils se creyent toul permis dans une ville prise d'assaut.(8)
The French reopened fire at J.p.m.

At 6p.m.Francisco Pereiro arrived in the French camp and asked
La Bourdonnais for permission to enter Fort St. George.He proposed to
visit Morse and other members of the Council in order to persuade them
to accept the terms of surrender.Permission was granted ;when he
returned he siatéd that the Governor had asked for a cease-fire for the
night and that he,Pereiro had assured Morse that the French would agree
to this request. La Bourdonnais ordered him to return to the Fort with a
letter for Morse whiéch stated that the bombardment would continue until -
6 p.m.the following day,When there would be & cease-fire to enable
Bnglish deputies to procesd to the French camp."Mais je vous avertis,"
La Bourdonuals wrote,"que s'ils n'apportent pas une parole decisive, Je
n'écouterai plus aucun pour parlier.'(S)

(I) Memoire(1750)P.d. Duplelx to La Bourdonnais 17 Septeuber,1746.p.79.

(2) Ibid.p.79-80. :

(3) Memoire(1750).p.258.

(4) Ibld.,.257-258."ue sieur de la Bourdonnals s'accepts les projositions
qu'ii lui fii d'entrer dans la place pour les enguger & capituler.p258.

{5) Memoire(1750)P.J.Mrs. sarnavel to La Bourdonnais.I9 September, 1746.p80.

(6) ‘Ibid.p.80-8I.

(7) memo1re£1750)p 71-73, -
(8) Mem01re(1750)P.J.La Bourdonnais to Horse.20 September,1746.p.8l1.
(9) Ivid.La ourdonna;s to Morse.20 September 1746.p.82, |
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Monson and Hallyburton arrived in the Frenca camp on 218éptember
and the terms of a treaty of capitulation were drawn up.Hallyburton
returned to the fort with the articles of capitulation but Horse
refused to sign ualess he was given an assurance that the LWovernor and
counciliors would not be imprisoned.lLa fourdonnais acceded to h.is
request and Morse signed the treaty.lt was agreed that Fort St.Y%eorge
and the city of iladras and its dependencies should be handz=d over to
the French at 2pm on 21 Septemter.(1)The capitiulation stated that the
Ugvernor, the councillors,the €ompany officials and the officers of the
garrison were at liberty to attend to their personel affairs in Madras,
and even to return to fngland, provided that they did not ensage in
hostilities against the French,unless an exchange of prisoners had
been effected.The soldiers in tne garriésn and the sailors and civilians
in fort St.George were,however,regurded as prisoners of war. (2)%he
Govérnor and counciliors were ordered to hand over to the French all
merchandise,accounts,arsenals,ships,munitions and other properties of
the ﬂngli sh #ast India “ompany.#ll merchandise,valuebles and moveable
property which belonged to the inhabitants of the fort were to be
handed over tot he French.(3)

Wnen the capitulatiocn had been 81gned La Bourdonmnais addressed the
troops and informed them t.hat disorderly conduct and looting would be
punished by death.(4) At 2pm.on 21 September he approached the main
entrance to the city at the head of 500 men.He was met by the govermor
who handed over his sword..e ﬁogrdonnais retuned the sword and entered
the city by the VWater Gate.The English flag was lowered, the 3ourbon
flag was hoisted on the city wall and a 21 gun salute Was fired.Troops
were posted at the gutes of ?ort 5t.George to prevent the exit of
merchandise.The gun positlons end munitions were skézed and the
inhabitants were disarmed.The #uropean women,who had taken refuge in
the Church of the Capuchins,togetner with their children,were asked to
retumn to their homes and arrangements were made to billet French officers
with important English families.A solemn Te yeum was sung in the ghureh
of the Capuchins.(5)

ghortly after the signing of the capitulation La “ourdonnais
informed Dupleix that the city nad surrendered.In carefully chosen
words he invited uUupleix to establish,"une correspondance entre le
gouvernement de Fondicherry et le mien land he added "je ne me trouve
pas mal du titre de Yommandant de Terre et de Mer.(G)In a further
despatch which was written on tine same day he informed dupleix that,"les
Anglais se sort rendus & moi avec plus de précipitation encore cue je
ne vous l'ai ecrit.Je les al & discretion et la capitulaticn qu'ils ont
.31gnee m'est restée sans oqu'ils ayent songe a m'en demender un double,"(7)
Iwo deys later La Bourdonnais qualified this statement."Cependant i1 y
a une sorte de capitulation signée du @ouverneur,"he wrote,"dont ci-

- joint est copie.slle ne fait ,comme vous voyegz, cu'autoszer les droits que
J'ai sur lie sort de cette place.(8j

in the é@spatches aritbden by e Pourdonnals immediately after the
fall of ladras there is no mention of any inviolable arrengements which
had besen made with the Council of Madras to ransome the citf.indeesd it
appears that La Bourdonnals regarded the submission of the city as an

(I)Msmoire(1750) p.15.

(2)The soldiers in the garrison were to be sebt to rort St.lavid until
the ransom was paid when they were to be allowed to r8turn to defend
the city.The sailors were to be sent to Cuddalore.and,after exchanges
had been effected,the remainder were to proceed to “ngland on condition
that they did not emgage in hostilities against the French,

\3)M=m01ni1750) Capitulation du Fort vt George et de 1la vilile de Madras. p{54

4 )}1bid.p.75.

5).‘.01 d. '007—["7
{6 JiénoiTe (I750)P.d .La Bourdonnais to iupleix.2l September,1746.p.84.

{7)Ibid.ua Bourdonnais to Yupleix,2. September(8pu. )p.86.
(8)Ibid.na Bourdonnais to bupleix .23 September,1746.p.87.
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unconditional surrender..in the memoire (1750),hovever,a conversation

gith the two 2nglish deputies,iionson and dallyburton,is recorded in

whieh ia Bourdonnais stuted that he had prouised on his hoaour to

restore the city ‘vhen a ransom hud been paid:"dous nous en donnez done
votre parole d'honaeur,répondirent les derutes.vui,dit-11, je vous la
donne et vous pouvez coupter qu'elle est inviolable.”? (1)It is very
unusual Tor the commander of & victorious army to kbake soleum

promises to an enemy which has egreed to surrender at discretion and

the trutn of .a pourdonnuis' aciount of the wnterview may be doubled.

ihe cagitudation merely stated that,"si par rachat on reid la viiie

de Madras,bi.les Angleis seroni les maitres de reprendre leur gurnisonj(2)
- & clear indication that a negotiated ransum was mereliy one uf tne
courses of action open to La Hourdonnais.nevertheless when La gourdonnais
finally signed a treaty of ransom he justifieu his cunduct to his own
officers(3) and later to the directors of the Company,on the ground

that a solemn agreement hac been made with the sngiish deputies bsfore
the signing of the capitulation.

Thus it would appear that for three or four days after the fall of
iisdras e Houruvonmmeis was undecided about the future of tle city.In a
despatch to Lupieix dated 23 Septeuber he expilained that there were
three courses of action open to him;to annex the city,to destroy it,or
to accept a ranscm.He pointed out that a policy of anzexalion would be
shortsighted and contrary to the insiructions which he had recééved
in 1740,forbidding him to retain conquests on Indian soil."1l est gur,"
ne added,"qu'd la paix le reddition de cestte place serait un des
artieles du traite.ie Hoi le rendrait et la Yompagnie n'en aurait
rien."(4 jhe suggested that if Hadras were burnt down the sSnglisn would
build amotiher fectory,'peut-éire avec moins de dépense qu'il ne leur en
coltitera pour racheter celle-ci.”(5) Finaily he expressed tae opinion
that & negotiated ransom was the only practical method of tahiag
advantage of the fall of the city.he proposed to sirip lindras of
merchendise,artiliery and smunitions and to accept a ransom for what
remained, The ransom for Fort St.Ueorge was to be peid to the Poupany
and that for the Black Town wes %o be divided among the wmembers of tne
expecition.Fayment of the ransom was to be made in bilis drawn on the
Sompary in uonéon and guersnteed by the taking of hostages. (6]

The Nawab of the Carnatic,Anwaroodeen,had meanwnile recieved information
fhat the Frehch were besieging iiadcens..ie had previously declared that

he would not allow Puropeans in the Carnatic to engege in hostilities

or land and now he ordered Mu;leix to recall the troops and ships to
rondicherry.He stated that if his orders were nol cbeyed he would s2nd

an army to the assistance of Madras.Dupleix, however, decided to appeal

to the self-interest of t1e Nawab and he sent instructions to his agent !
in Arcot to tell the iiawab that the Superior Council of Pondicherry ]
would hané the city over to him. (7) :

Un 21 BSegptewder bupleix iaformed La Bourdonnais of the negotiations |
with Anwaroodeen,"Cet &¥eil,"he wrote,“doil vous eagiger & presser 3!
vivemsnt cetts place et a ne point €couter les progositions gue 1'on ;
pourrait vous feire pour la rangonner aprés la prise;car ce serait tromper
le Nabob et l'engager 4 se joindre & noc ennemis.” (8)He warned J
L8 Bourdonnals that the @nglish Council did not huve the capital
available to ransom the c_iy and he advised him to rase ladras to the
ground.
Heplying_to supieix,La dourdonnais regcated his arguwent about the

(1) Mefoire (I750).p.T5;Menoire(L750)E.J. The Council of Hadras to
ia Bourdonnais.27 Septeunber,1746.p.i53.
(2) Ibid.p.76.

|
|
(3) Hqstaing.ExPéuiﬁion.p.423. . : _ J
{4) ikémoire(L750)r.J.La Bourdonasis to ~upieix.23 September,l746.p.88. |
(5) Ibid.p.58. ' | |
(6) Ibid.p.B89~-90.The despatch was taken to Pondicherry by Rzxadis, the (
commander of the troopys from Pondicherry. '
ibid.Pupiesix to La Bourdonnais.2Xl Sepiember,1746.p.92-93. |

|

(1)
(8) Ibid.fll 92‘-939
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inadvisability of destroying the city and he added,"je n'ai que vingt
jours a rester ici et....ce temps n'est pas suffisant pour mettre ia
place dens #8es 1l'etat ol vous semblez la desirer pour la remettre au
Nabob." (I)levertheless he asked the Covernor of Pondicherry to submit,
"un plan suivi de la fagon dont vous pensez que je doive traiter cette
ville,sand perdre de vue le retour absolument necessaire de mes
vaisseaux chargés en “urope a la mongon prochaine."(2)iIn a further
despatch written on the same day La Bourdonnais informed wupleix that
he had received a letter from the Nawab ordering him to withdraw from
Madras. (3 )He enclosed & reply to the Nawab in which he stated that the
attack on the city was a legal act of war.Hs asked Yupleix to arrange
for the letter to be translated and submitted to the Nawsb.(4)

On 24 September the Sufjerior Council informed La Bourdonnais of
their decision to appoint a commission of six,"pour former le conseil
auquel vous presiderez et pour accéisrer les inventaires de tous les
effets®(5) On the following dey they met to discuss the situation in
liadras and a despatch was sent to La Bourdonnais informing him that
he was subject to the authority of the Governor and Superior Council
and furthermore,that the Council had passed a resolution,"que la
rangon....n'est qu'un avantage momentante...que tous les hotages que
vous pouvez avoir,n'engagent pas la Compagnie d'accepter les billets
que vous donnera le Gouverneur qui stan! prisdanier actuellement dirs
lorsqu'il sera en liberté qu'il a fait a ce sujet tout ce que vous.
aurez voulu pour se tirer des fers."(6) _

Before these despatches arrived in Wadras pa Bourdonaais had
writgen to Pupleix stating taat he had dscided to ransom the city.se
pointed outfthat he had not received any instructions from the
vontrecller-Ueneral to raze Fort St.uecorge and that in any case the
operation was far too vast an undertaking.ie outlined the terms of the
treaty of ransomj;he proposed to stéze and put aboard his ships between
1700 and 1800 bales of merc.:.andise,several thousand sacks of saltpetre
and one half of the guns,munitions and tools in the fort.Zhe Sovernor
and Council of Madras had agreed to pay a ransom of I,200,000 gold
pagodas({ ) for the city.»ix hostages-two of the counciliors and their
wives ana two of tne Governors childrem-had been handed over to the
Prench. (8)

On 26 Jdeptenber tae despatches from rgndicherry rcached Madras.
La Bourdonnais wrote immiediately to Dupleix informing him that the
treaty of ransom had been completed, (9)although in fact it had not been
signed.He addressed gnotaher despatch to the Superior Council in which
he stuted thalt as the conqueror of Kadras he had tne sole right to
negotiate with the Znglish Bouncil."Je sais que togs les €tablissements
Frangais dan@ 1'Inde sont ds la dependance de M.le Youveraeur-uemeral
et du Conseil-gupérieur,"he wrote,"de sais aussi que le Hoi et le
Ministre....m'8nt laissé le maltre de mes operations.Madras n'est
certainement pas une colonie Frangaise mais une conquéte que je viens de
faire.®insi personne n'w droit d'y commander que moi." (10)

(I)Meﬁoire(l?SQLE&Jgourdonnais to Bupleix.24 Septémber,i746.p.93.

(2)Ibid.p.93.

(3 Jidemoire (1750) p.85. B E

(4 )uemoire (1750)P.J.La Bourdonnais to Dupleix 24 Peptember,I746.p.53-94.

{5)Ibid.Lupleix to La Bourdonnais,ZS.Seﬁtember.1746.p.IOZ;The Superior '
Council of Pondicherry to La Bourdonnais, 28§ September, I746.p,103-4,

(6)Ibidisu§erior Ceuncil of Pondicherry to ia Bourdonnais.25 September,
p.103-104. : '

(7)This figure which is given in the Memoire(I750) may be a misprint
or elternatively the final figure of 1,100,000 pagodas may have been
decided at a later date. :

(8)Memoire (1750 )¥.J . Bourdonnais to Dupleix.26September I746.p. 97.In tnis
despatch La Bourdennais put forward o plan to remein in Indien waters witt
thriee ships of his own squadron and three other ships which had arrived :
from France.The ships were to attack the British saquadron and return to
France in Janusry. (10) mmn(,m) 2 §7-85

'9)ibid.Le Bourdonnais to Pupleix.26 September, 1746.p.100. g i
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This assation by La Bourdonnais of complete independence could
be justified in a numbsr of ways.¥irstly,in accordance with tie rul:s
warfarse in the eighteenth century,a gerneral who was im charge of an
army which captured a city had the right to déspose of all private |
goods in that city.Secondly,.a Bourdoniais had reascn on his side
when he insisted that speed was essentialj;the KFrench forces wers not
strong enough either to hold the city against a counter-attack or to !
raze it to the ground.Speednbpgover was essential becauge the Monsoon ;
was ap, roaching.Thirdiy,according tc the iistruc’ions which he had |
received in 174U,he wus forbidden to retain conquests made on indlan !
soil.Finally,his prognustication that Madras would be handed bsck to i
the Efiglish at the end of the war proved cor:ect. ' !

On the otiber hand iLe pourdoniais had planned the oper:tion in !
eoncert with bupleix and he had constantly asked vupieix and the i
Superior Council for advice.lt is true thet the latter refused to
accept joint responsibility for the expedition but it is obvious thet
La pourdonnais was not acting in the best interests of the Compony or
of the French governnent when he decided to set up & rival goverameht |
to that of Pondicherry.The Controlier-General had asked him to act in
agreement with lupieix(i) but shortly after his arrival in Fondicherry
La bourdonnais assumed honours which were normally reservad for the |
Governor.buring his sojourn in india it appears that he deliber:tely
acted in a provocative umanner in order to ussert his absolute : ‘
independence. '

The two councillors from Pondicherry who had been aominated to
serve on the new council in kadras arrived on 26 September.They were
Duluurent shd Sarthelemy.They had received instructions to coonsrate
with La Bourdonnsis in setting up & Provincial Council in the city.

La Pourdonnais was to presids at the meeting of the councll;the other
menbers in addition to Julaurent and Barthelemy were to be Paradis,

the commander of the troops from Fondicherry,Despremesnil,a commissicner
appointed by Lupleix when the squaaron first sailed,and the two ‘
commissioners appointeu by La Bourdonnais,Bonneau and Leslorges- i
soucher. (2} v

Uissention had air.ady broken out between the three comtisssioners.
On 29 september Lespremesnil informed Bupleix that the brother of
Le BYourdonnais,ifahé de le Viliebague,had transported a considerable
amount of plunder from the vilias on tae outskirts of l2dras fo St.
Thomé,where it hud been put aboarc the iarie-vwertrude. (3 )linenzFort
St.Ucorge surrendered, the keys of the treasury were givan to'de la
Viliebzgue #ho kepl them For several hours, (4)Bon1eau and Les .rmosnil
had been appointed commissioners for the treasury and whan de la
Villebague handed over the keys to them they wers returnzd to is
Bourdonnais together with a letter of resignation from Bonaeau. (5)
Despremesnil then wrots %o Fondicherry advising wupleix to come in |
‘person to Hadras, (6) and shortly afterwards ha,too resignad.Paradis
who had alreudy yuarrelled with iz Bourdonnais rsturned to Tondicherry
on 23 “eptember, (7) -

Thus by 26 Septeuber the work of making inventorics of the coin
ané builion,merbbendise,arms and ammibnition in Madras hcd virtually

(i;MéBoire(I750)P.J;0rry to La sourdonnais.?9 Jantary,i746.p.i0.
i2)Bonneau was & member of the Superior Couacil of Ile de france, vesforges- |
Boucher wos probably a captain in the garrison of I[le de rrance. |

(3)Cultru.vupleix.p.2i3.

(4 jMémoire.21750)p.229~230;Memoire (L£750)S.P.J.De 1s vtillebague to ua
Bourdonnais.25 October i743.p.5.In an interview with Savage,a councilior
from dadras,waich tcok clace on 21 dugust,I1747,%upleix was infornmed that
the treasury contained I8 boxes of piastres when the cily fell.zupleix
stated that 6 boxes hau bedn found there in uctober 1746.Forrest .
viive.Vol Il.z.463.

QS)Méﬁoirex17iejS.P.J.p.5-6. |

{6 joultru.bupieix.p.244.

(7 JMéuocire \1730; k.J}ha_gaurdonnais to,aupieix.ZS Septamber,1746.p. 93,
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eome to a halt Bonneau and Despremesn11 haa resigned.The foraer,

hitherto a close associate of La Bourdonnais,made such outspoken

eriticisms of the latter's conduct that he was arrested but shortly
afterwards he escaped to Pondicherry.il,Dee la Villebague and Desjardins,
an officer in the squadron,reetenved orders from u.a Bourdonndds to take
over the duties of the two commissioners who had resigned and & .ietter

was sent to wupleix asking for assurances tnat they would not be victlmisea
for obeying the order.(2)

On 27 ~eptember,Dulaurent,Barthclemy and Despremesnil submitted a
formal protest to La pourdonnais reminding him that the Councii of
Pondicherry would not accept a treaty which was negoiiated independently,
"Nous protestons,"“they wroie,“au now du Koi et de ia Jompagnie contre
toute capitulation que vous pourrez faire ou avoir faite,®t nous nous
orposons formellement aux dits nouws que la vilie de Madras soit rendu
aux Anglais?{(3)On the foiiowing dauy they issued an announcement to the
officers in the city to the effect that the supreme authority in iadGras
was the Superior Uouacil of pPondicherry(4) and two days later they
presented a second protbstatlon informing ua sourdonnais that they were
withdraving to St.Thome, \5}) -

La Bourdonnuxs vrecieved a aeppatch from the superior vUouncil on
30 September in wnich they stated their opposition to the policy of
restoring wuadras to the English,lhey asserted that Lupleix had nesver
proposed that Madras should be razed to the ground,"mais bien de la
demanteler et tout ce qui appartient & la Compagnie d'Angleterre,"and
they suggested that La Dourdonmnais should hand over his command to
Despremesnil.Finally they warned him that they would not accept hostages
or bilis of exchange from Madras.(6)This despatch was accompanied by a
personal letter from “upleix in which he begged La Bourdonnais to
reconsider his decisidn. (7)

A public protest was drafted in Pondicherry on 25 3eptember and the
leading inhabitants of the city were invited to sign.Un the next day it
was presented to iupleix.The remonstrance contained proposals to send a
deputation to Madras to enforce the decisions of the Sujerior Council,to
reembark the troops from Ile de France and Bourbon and to anaul the treaty
of ransom. (8)A special commission,composed of Major-deneral de Bury,
Bruyére, the Procurer-General,and Paradis,recﬁtved instructions to
proceed to Madras.They carried grogiamations,which they were ordered to
read in publlc aninouncing that the %1 reaty of ransom ws nuil and void(9)
and that despremesnil had been appointed coumandant of Madras,'pour en
cette quallte g comaander....tant aux officiers de terre que de mer,
habitants du éit lieu,comais de la dite Compagnie et 8 tous autres
Frangais et etrangers qui y sont établis."(i0)Finally they were empowered
to set up a Provincial Council under the presidency of Despremesnil.(il)

The commissioners arrived at St.Thomé& on 2 QOctober and acuonpa11ed
by Despremesnil,lulaurent and Barthelemy,tney made their way to Fort
St.George. (12)Tth enstered the council’ chamber and de Bury handed
La Bourdonnais a letter which stated that he had been authorized by the
Superior Uouncil to reply to a despatéh from iLa Bourflonnais dated 27

(l)Mem01re {1750)P.J. Bonneau to ia Bourdonneis,.28 September,i1746.p.i16-22.
(2 )Mémoire {(I750) p.89 103.
(3 )Mémoire(1750)F.J.Forial protestep.lil-ii2, :
(4)Ibid.p.116. f
(S)lbid.p.lZ'I-IZG. \
(6)ibid.The Superior Council of Pondicherry to iwa Bourdonnais.28September,
p.124-i26. :
(7)Ibid. Dupelix to ua bourdonnais.29 epteiber,1746.p.130-134. '
(B)lbla Hemonatxanye Faite par la Colonie de Pondicherry a M.Dupleixz.pl42-5,
{9)ibid.p.147. ;
10)Ibid.uettre circulaire aux pricipaux officiers.’08eptember.p.146-147. {
IlgIbid.p.I47-152. :
{I2)in the Mémoire(I750)p.93~94 it is asserted that they addressed a party
of soidiers wao were on guard and &tfemoted to sway their ailegience

by promlres of prize money.




.

%

September,in wh{;h the latter announced that the treaty had been signed
and that it was essential for him to leave Hadras immediately owing to
ths approach of the monsoon.(l)Tne protest and the declarations and
orders from the Superior Council were read aloud before a larfie crowd
which had gathered in the chamber,

In his reply lLa Bourdonnais pointed out that he held an independent
command and that the Superior Council could not issue orders in Ladres.
The commissioners challenged this assertion and a auarrel ensued, (2}
Finally La Bourdonnais and his officers left the council chamber and a
council of war was held in an adjoining room.La Bourdonnais explained
that he was committed to a policy of ransoming Madras and his ofificers
agreed that he could not go back on his word."Hous n'hésitames pas,"
wrote Rostaing,"& lui déclarer qu'il y etait oblige,nous sjoutdmes que
8'il avait inconsidérement ou mal & propas engage son souverain,il en
reyondrait seul en son propre nom."(3;ue Bourdonnais then returned to
the council chamber and informed the commissioners from rondicnerry
that his officers had glven him a vote of confidence.

The commissioners probably intended to ap :eal to the troops fronm
Pondicherry to enforce their orders but on 4 October La Bourdonaais
issued instructions to station these troops aboard the ships..e
explained that this measure was necessary because english shirs haa s
been seen off Pulicat but the real motive was to remove the Paiicherry
contingent from Madras.(4)On the same day,de Bury,accompanied by two
officers,visited La Bourdonnais and forbade him to leave Madras without
first obtaining instructions from Dupleix.La Bourdonnais put them vnder

arrest and when parocis arrived on the scens
Shortly afterwards they were released.

L8 Bourdonnais had told Lupleix that he
of honour to the Knglish and on 4 Qctober he

he too was arrested. (5)

could not breok his word
osked the latter to

\appoint commissioners to help de la Villebague and Desjerdins to
!complete the inventories of merchandise.in addition hs asked for seversl
small craft to help in loading the ships and also for a fresh supply of
rice.(6)The attitide of the deputies from Fondicherry had determined

La Pourdonnais to adopt a new line of policy.He realised that if he
handed the city over to the Superior Council on I5 QOctober without first
obtuining ratification of the treaty of ransom the capitulation would be
annulled and all his plans destroyed. (7 )The Superior Council wss risoivad
to prevent him from sailing on 15 October and thersfore he asked Paredis
to open negotiations with Dupleix as to whther the latter would agree to
ratify the treaty of ransom provided that the evacuation of ladras were
postponea until January or February of the following year.Dugleix
approved of the idea and on 7 October he wrote to La Bourdoniais
suggesting that I50 soldiers fom the squadron shoulé be lazft in Madras to
strengthen the troops from pPondicherry, that Bonheau and Lesforgss should '
Join the Provincidd Cougcil,%et ie reste se réglat sur le ried gque vous 1!
auriez arrete avec Mg.les Anglais' (8)

fI)Mct0ire (1750 )r.J.La Bourconnais to the Supertdr Council of Pondicher:
27 September,i746.p.id2-114.

(2)ibid.Proces Verbal des Leputes de Fondicherry.;.155-156,

(3)Rostaing.mxpedition.p.423.ﬂostaing,howeveq refusel tc sign the treaty -
of ransom."Je iui dis yue mon approbation €tait inutile dans une ~ffaire
ol je n'aveis pas été consulte. p.422; Memoire(1750)P.J.La Bourdoanais
to lupleix.? October, 1746.p.162-163,

(4)Mémoire (I750)P.J. The Provincial Council in Madras to La Bourdonnaks. .
4 vctober,1746.p.172=173. |

(8)ibid.The Superior Council of Pondicherry to La Bourdonnais.6 October, _
1746.p,.133-189, ' !

(6)1bid.La Bourdonnals to Dupleix.4 October,1746.p.163-164.

(7)ivid.Protestation.b60ctober,i746.p.177-178.The Couneil of Madras sent
this protest to bupleix verbfying the assertion sf La Bourdonnais that
& promise had bzen made to restore Madras.

(8)Ibid.Dupleix to La sourdonnsis.] October,1746.p.190.
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— " The Centaure,the Mars.and the Brillant which had left France in
previous year,anchored of f Pondicherry on 8 October.They carried
despatches from the Compzny which stated clearly that Le Bourdonnais
wes under the obligation to obey orders from the Superior Council of
Pondicherry.Furthermore Dupleix was informsd that the Controller-
General,Orry,had been dismissed and that de Fulvy was in disgrace.This
news was communicated to La Bourdonnais together with several despatches
from the Coupany and also from Orry.{I)The news came as a severe blow
to La Bourdonnais but in a letter to Dupleix dated 10 October he
menticed that he had reccived & despatch from Orry and that the orders,
contained in it,""'ne d¢dtruisent en rien mes preécéddns ordres."(24in the
same letter he referred to the new instructions from the directors but
he insisted that he was subject only to orders from the French
government,"Vous pouvez compter,"he wrote,® que je ne conformeral
toujours aux ordres cu ministre quand je les aural regu.ll ne me croit
plus ici et l'extrait que vous m'envoyez regarde les capitaines des

vaisseaux de la Compegnie et non moi."(3)

On LI Getober ia Bourdonnais sent a despatch to Pondicherry in
which he outlined the conditions under which he would transfer ladras to
the Superior Council.The despatch also contained plans for the
reorgonisation of the French squedron. (4)0n the following day he cent
another despatch tc Dupleix in which he repeated that he was anxious to

. 8&il from Madras before the monsoon broke.(5jThe negotietions betwsen

Le Bourconnzis znd the Sugperior Gouncil were doomed to failure,however,
because lupleix and the councillors would neither agree to evacunte

Madras by I January,IT47,nor would they accept Le Bourdennais'plan to

keep the Liedras roadstead open to gnglish ghipping, (6 )But before the
despatches reachad iLa Bourdonnals a cyclone struck Madras and the
French sguxdron was ssriously dumzged.

A strong northerly wind began to blow on IZ Getober znd on the
following day La Dourdonnais gave instructions to the ceptains in his
squadron to prepsre to put out to ses in the a2vent of s storm.(7)suring
the evening of I3 Uctober & storm sprang up.The ships in the squadron
put out to sea(8) and when day broke the harbour was cuite empty.the
storm grew worse and ou 14 October look-cut parties were sznt along the
coast road to search for ships in distress z2nd in the afternocn, when
the wind dropped,several large rafts put out to sea to ascertiin the
whereabouts of the French ships.At 8pm.on the evening of 14 October
La Bourdonnais was informed that an ®nglish prize,the Maris-Gertrude,had
sunk and that the Achille aad the Bourbon had been badly demaged.(9)0n
the folilowing day he learned that the Duc d'Orleans had sunk.

I)Ménoire (I750)bupleix to La Pourdonnais.8 October,I746.p.197-198.

2)ibid.ua Bourconaais to Dupleix.i0 Uctober(II pm,)I746.p.IS9.

(3)Ibid.ia Bourdomnais to Dupleix.IO October(a.m.)I1746.3.199.The extract
from the Company's instructions reads as follows:"ua Coumpagnie juge
qu'il est convenable et méme décent,que le Commandant des escelres
assiste duns les Conseils Supcrieurs;qu'il y soit appel€ lorsqu'il
s'y traitera des matiéres concernart quelques expeditions riliteires,
ot ce commandant doit avoir la plus grande pvart;qu'il y ecst voix
déiiberative,mais elle entend sussi que tout ce gu'on y aura delibére,

i

soit execute sans difficulte”’de guelque ngture d'affsire dont il S'agisse

guand méme il serait guestion de disposer de tous les vsissemux de la

vompagnie qu'il commanderait."Dupleix to La Bourdonnais.8 Uctober,1746p4 9l

(4)Ibid.La Bourdonnais to Jupleix.II October,I746.p.201-205.

(5)ivbid.Le Bourdonnais to Dupleix.I2 October,1746.p.206-207.

(6 )Ibid.Dupleix to ua Bourdonnais.l2 October,I746.p.216-217;the Superior
Council of Pondicherry to La Bourdonrais.I3 October,I746.p.219-221.

(7)1bid.Instruetion.I3 October,1746.p.207-208.

(8)A1l the ships save the irenomme, the Lys and the St.Louis,vwhich had all
been sent to rondicherry,were ia the hartuur.

(9 uémoire{1750)P.J .La Bourdonnais to Bupleizx.I4 October,I1746.p.2i1.
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On 117 OctoBer the weather moderated and the full extent of French
losses &t sea was made known.The Achille, the Bourbon,the Neptune and
the Pricesse Marie had lost most of their mastsymany of their guns had
been jettisoned and their cargoes were 1rreparably damaged.The Marie-
Gertruds,the Luc d'Orleans and the Phénix had been lost;the Advice had
run aground and a high proportion of the soldiers from Pondlcnerry,
who had been put aboard the snlps were drowned,together with the crevs.
The losses in troops and sths crews probably exceeded 1,000 wen. (i)

A despatch from FPondicherry arrived on 16 Uctober 1nform1ng
La Bourdonnais that the Buperior -souncil was unwilling to accept the
treaty of ransom on the conditions nemed by him in the despatch éated
L2 October. (2jLa Bourdonnais,however,was of the opinion that further
negotiations were out of the question.Un the same day he decided to
sign the treaty of ransom without any further amendments.He had
forwarded a copy of this document to lupleix on iI2 October.He informed
the councillors that he intended;"de vous laisser copie de la
capitulation pour vous abandenner la terre pour me donner tout entier
& sauver les débris de nos pertes par mer."(3)On I8 October he informed
the Superior Council that he had made the final arrangements to hand
over Madras to wespremesnil,"d la seule condition de garder la
cagltULatlon,“but he added,"si vous en jugerez sutrement vous étes
maitre de suivre sans scruple votre fa?on de penser;ce n'est pius non
affaire.“(4)

The trecty was read in the council chamber of Fort St.George on
21 Octbdber in French and 3nglish and signed by La Bourdonnais Morse
and five members of the {duncil of Madras.In a noté in the sémoire
(I750) it is asserted by La Bourdonnais that,"ce seconde acte n'est
qu'une éxplication indispensable de la capitulation acvordeée ie 21
Septembre.” (5)But an examination of tne clauses of the tremsty of 21
October reveals the fact that the capituiation of 21 September hed
been interpreted in a augribinsly generous manner. (6,4 substontiel
proportion of the munitionsy,naval stores and food sup:lies in the city
was to be hunded back to the ﬁngll h.The personal beiongings of the
inpjabitants,including private 'stores of mefchundise,uere not only to
be safegucrd:d from seeézure but also to be exempt from the peyment of
ransom,'les ayant cxempteés de piliage per pure politesse et gener051te47)
Eurthnrmdrﬂ the Superior Councili was commitited io a policy of adherence
to the treaty on terms which they tad formalily rejected.

It was generally believed in rondicherry at this time that

- La Bourdonnazis had sccepted a substantisl bribe from the Zngiish as the

price of & treety of ranoom.(B;When La Bourdon=nais was a prisoner in
the Bastille two of the witnesses for the prosecution,iespremesnil and
Kerjean stated tuet they had heard rumours of the payment of & bribe,
The former asserted that he hac been told by bupleix that an mnglishman
from Madras had tola the latter that La Hourdonnais had receeved
100,000 gold pagodas.ie poinied out, however, that he, personally, had not

(I)Méhoirexi750} P.J. La Bourdonnais to Dupleix Li7 uctober,i746.5.223-7.
Three of the ships,the Marie uertrude;the iavice and the Pricesse.
marie were captured ungiish ships.

(2;lbla.uugurlor vouncif of Fondicherry to La Bourdonnais.l3 October,I746

2l5-221. bo Ls Bovrlommess
(3)Ibia.bUHerior vouicit of Fondicherry, L6 October,1746.p.221.

(4)Ibid.La Bourdonnais to the Superior (ouncil of kondicherry 18 Uctober,

i746.p.231-232.
{5)Ibid.S.B.d.Note(a) p.48.
6 )8¢e sprendix-l
7 Wemoire (1750)43.F.d.Treaty of ransom.Article I3 p.24,
(B)Prlvate diary of Ananda Ranga Plllai Vol 1l p.377,389:Vol I1I.p.20-81.
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been able to verify the accusution.Kerjean gave evidence that & Jevw
who had left Madras and settled in Pondicherry had been asked to pay
7000 pagodas as his share of a bribe of 100,000 pagodas. (1)

In the Memoire,written wallst he was in the Bastille,La Hourdonnais
denied these charges although he did admit accepting several gifts from
European and Armenian merchants in Madras.He asserted that their total
Qalue did not exceed 15,000 livres.(2)%Dans 1'Inde,"he wrote, "on est
 dans l'usage de faire des présens qui sont en jlace et que les présens
' forment le plus clair de tout le bénéfice que les gouverneurs retirent
de leur gouvernement."(3)He justified his acceptance of the gifts by
pointing out that the merchandise and personal effects of the donors
had been spared from pillage."dst-il etonnant,"he wrote,"que des gens
fort riches,dant toute la fortune avait éte sauvée du pillage,donnéssent |
& un vainqueur qui les traitait si bien ces faibles marques de leur
reconnaissance?" (4 ) _

iLa Bourdonnais asserted that the accusations of bribery resged on
flimsy evidence.,He pointed out that there had been a rumour current in
Pondicherry before he sailed for Madras that he had accepted a bribe of
200,000 gold pagodas from the Bnglish Company to abandon the attack on
the factory.(5)He explained that the witnesses were unreliable;
Uespremesnil was the son-in-lav,and Kergean the nephew,of #upleix.
durning to tue charge that he had recieved a bribe,ia Bourdonnais
stated that on the day of his departure from Madras the Council had
given a banquet at which it vas intended to present him with a gift of
money but he had left the city before the banquet was held. (6 )He
expressed the vieuw that even if he had accegted a bribe he would have
been moraliy obliged to repay it vwhen the evacuation of lladras was
postponed to January,I1747.Furthermore, the inglish knev that the
Superior Council of Pondicherry was opposed to a treaty of ransom and
therefore, = la ﬂourdonnais asserted,they could not have been expected
to offer a bribe for a treaty vhich might we2l be broken.Finally,

La Boudonnais pointed out that vhen t.he treaty was declared null and
void the Bnglish had not divulged the terms of any private arrangement
and he described the cordial reception he had been accorded in London
in 1748~ a reception which would not have been given to a traitor.(7)

It was impossible to prove the charges against La Bourdonnais
because the members of the Council of Madras who were in &ngland at
the time refused to give evidence in Paris,as did the directors of the
dast lndia Company.In February,i751,the Commissaires du ¢hambre de
1'Arsenal pronounced a verdict of not guilty and two days later the
letgre de cachet' was annulled and La Bourdonnais was allowed to leave
the Bastille.Although the charges against La Bourdonnais were revived
by several writers(8) it was not until 1867 that an English writer,
U.B.Malieson,made known the existence of certain documents(uau Case,
No.ad1,3 March,i1752) in the Library of India House which,"8hov that the
virectos of that day were convinced,on the testimony of Madres members
of Council,that na Bourdonnais was promised by bond, 100,000 pagodas
{about £40,000) ovel and above the 1,800,000 pagodas stipulated in the
bond given him for public use,in consideration of his restoring Madras
to the English.?(9) :

(1)Memoire(1750) p.268;Forrest .Clive.Vol I.p.461-463.
(2)Ibid.p.267.

(3)1bid.9.267.

(5)Ibid.p.255.

(6)Ibid.p.268-269.

(1)Ibid.p.274-274.

(8)Notably in Grose's dagt Indies,%0l I1 p.29 and in Y4411's Indi
edition.Vol.11l.p.37-38.5ee Maileson,ﬂgench in india p.fS?? 1a,5th
(9)Malleson,French in India.p.157. .
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The Company officials in Madras who signed the treaty of ransom
were all sustantial merchants whose main interest lay in their
private trading ventures and it is almost certain that they came to
gsome financial agreement with La Bourdonnais in order to safeguard
their stores.In the Meémoire(I750) La Bourdonnais admitted that he had
recéfved a number of gifts from merchants in Madras,"dont toute la
fortune avait été sauvé du pillage,"and he even expressed the opinion
that had he accepted a money gift from the Council on the day of his

- departure his action would have been in conformity with accepted

standards of behavbour in india.By the terms of the trecty the English
merchants in Madras,including the officials of the Company uvho were
trading privately,were exempt from the payment of ransom because their
merchandise was included in the assessment of 1,100,000 pagodas(for all
the merchandise in the c¢ity)which was to be paid by the Bast India
Company. {I) _ '

If the treaty had remained in its original form the English East
India Company,by paying the ransom,would legally have had the right to
claim ownership of all private goods in the city om 2I October and
ultimately they would have levied some kind of tax in Madras in order
to recover a proportion of the ransom.However,after the departure of
La Bourflonnais the treaty was annulled and all private stores of
merchandise were confiscated by by Paradis.The officials of the fnglish
Company later tried to arrange for the payment of compensation by the
Company.ln an enquiry held in 1752 they informed the directoss that _
La Bourdonnais had demanded 100,000 gold pagodas as the price of a treaty{2)
and that the money,or a large proportion of it had been paid in gold,
pearls,diamonds and gold pagodas in several instalments before 12
October(3)The Governor of Madras,Nicholas Morse,stated,"that no
receipt was taken or required for the money privately paid nor was any
agreement made for returning the 88,000 pagodas in case the treaty was
rejected by the Governor and Council of Fondicherry."(4)

There is always the possibility that the Jnglish officials in
Madras invented the story in order to recover at least a proportion
of their losses from the asnglish East lIndia Company.lt is clear that
the gold, jewels and pagodas which,it was asserted,had been handed over
to La Bourdonnais were the private property of merchants and officials
in Madras and not the property of the East India Qompany and later
gsome of the merchants complained against Morse and the Council because
after having contributed,"with their most clear and portable property,"
they had subsequently lost everything. (5)But the facts remaingthat a
solemn promise to ransom the eity was not made until several days after
the signing of the capitulation of 21 September,during which time
La Bourdonnais may have been negotiating for a bribe as the condition of
sparing the city.Moreover, La Bourdonnais agreed to ransom the city
although Bupleix and the Superior Council had advised him to destroy
Fort St.George. In addition the terms of the treaty of 21 October were
exceptionallymild.it is true that in I741 La Bourdonnais received
instructions from Orry forbidding him to make permanent conquests in
India ana that he himself was convinced that the French government
would return Madras to the English Company when hostilities ceased,But
there can be little doubt that he was offered a bribe and that he
accepted it. (6)

s
(I)Memoire(I750) p.184.ua Bourdonnais stated that the commander of the
sxpedition to Louisburﬁ had included private merchundise in the ransom.

2)Crépin.iLa Bouwdonnais .Notel.p.265.

3)Ibid.p.262;noubaud.La Bourdonnais.p.219-225.

(4)Ibid.p.261.The figure of 88,000 pagodas is presumably the amount which
it was asserted had been paid by 12 October,1746.

(5)Forrest.Clive.Vol I.p.463. .

(6 JHerpin and Crépin believe that the evidence is so slight that the problem
must remain ansolved.The latter.concludes,"Malgre’tous les arguments...

il est impossible d'affirmer qu i; att regcullOv,uv00 pagodes...l'affaire
de Madras restera toujours entotree d'un céertain mystere?p 469.
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Sir George Forrest,in his bilography of Clive,writes;"The chief
accusation brought against ia Bourdonnais is that he received a large
sun of money from the English to conclude an unauthorized treaty for
the ransom of Madras,and little doubt can exist from the evidence that
he was guilty of the charge."(I)Uhilst the author was collecting
material for the biography in Pondicherry he met a French lawyer who
told him that the Archives contained evidence that La Bourdonnais took
a bribe.The lawyer obtained a copy of a letter dated 21 4ugust,i747, in
‘which is described a conversation between Dupleix and Savage,formgly
& councillor in Madras;an official named Friell,who had been summoned
by Dupleix to act as interpreter,recorded the conversation.(2) At the
interview Dupleix asked Savage to divulge how much Mrse and the
Council of Madras had given to u.a Bourdonnais.After much persuagion
Savage agreed to speak about the bribe on condition that Dupleix and
Friell gave their word of honour not to reveal vhere they had obtained
their information.Dupleix and Friell accepted these terms whereupon
Savage informed them that the treaty of ransom contained a secret
article by which the Council agreed to give La Pourdonnais one lac
(100,000) of pagodas to save the town from piliage and to secure private
property from stézure.Savage stated that La Bourdonnais had received
from 85,000 to 90,000 pagodas in gold,silver and Jerds and that the
entire sum would have been paid if the latter had remained in Madrag
for one day longer.The greater part of the bribe had been levied from
tnglishmen in Madras although some Malabar merchants asserted that they
1ad been forced to contribute, ' :

From 18-22 October ia Sourdonnais had supervised the refitting of
, he squadron.Be proposed to return to Pondicherry with the Bourbon,the
Achille, the Heptume and the Princesse Marie,vhich were all barely
 ea=uorthy,and later to sail to Ile de France vwith the Centaure, the
t.Louis and the Lys.He suggested to the superior Youncil that the Mars
and the Brillant should be sent to refit at Achem and then to return with
he Achille to Madrasg.However,at a special meeting of the Superior
ouncil ,vhich was held on 22 October it was decid=d to send the six ships
hich vere anchored off the town to Achem under the command of Dordelind4)
n 23 vctober ia Fourdonmis ordered the troops to assemble inm Port
Et.George.He tranBferred his command to Despremesnil and shortly aftésvards
e vent aboard the Achille and the squadron set sail for Pondicherry,

ring the voyage he sighted ~ordelin's squadron and he ordered the
ommander to return with him to Pondicherry. (5)

The ships anchored oft Fondicherry on 27 (October.Le Bourdonnais i
emained aboard the Achille.Further negotiatiohs were carried out
‘egarding the disposal of the French fleet and it was finally decided to
ivide the fleet into two squadrons;one composed of the Centaure, the
t.Louis, the Mars and the Brillant,under the command of Dordelin, the
ther, composed of the Achille,the Lys and the Sumatra(6) under the
omzand of ia Bourdonnais.The two squadrons were to make for Achem and if
he ships arrived safely,the Lys and the Sumatra were to be refitted, and \
ent to the Islas.The rest of the squadron was to be refitted,after which :
he ships were to sail to Pulicat to await orders from the Buperior

l; Forrest.’live.v0l.X.p.45~46.

> ) The letter was signed by dupleix and Friell vho swore to the truth of
1ts contents.iater the letter was shown to Paradis who certified that
he had given his word not to divulge the contents.

3) Forrest.flive.Vol.1.p.461-463.

$) Memoire(1750)S.P.J.Déliberation du Conseil superieur.22 October,I746.
pP.40-44;La Bourdonnais to the Superfor “ouncil of Pondicherry.27 October :

1746.p,54-56, / '

Ibi dop- 44"'54 °

The Sumatra haa recently afriveéd from Ile de France.
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Couneil of Pondicherry.lf,however,the damaged ships were unable to
reach Achem La Bourdonnais was to sail to Ile de France.(I)

The ships left Pondicherry on 29 October and shortly afterwards
La Bourdonnais decided to change course and make for Ile de France.

The Achille arrived in Port Louis on 10 December,.i746;two days later
the Sumatra and probably the Lys anchored in the harbour.(2)A new
Govefnor,Félix Barthelemy David(3) had recently arrived in the island
with special instructions to conduct a commission of enquiry into the
administration of his.predecessor.lLa Bourdonnais remained in the island
for nearly three months and it appears that very few of the colonists
came forward with complaints about his administration, (4)

Meanvhile Dupleix and the Superior Council had annulled the
treaty of ransom and begum operations to drive the English from the
Coromandel Coast.Some time before the departure of La Bourdomnais the
Nawab had sent his son,Maphuz Khan,and ten thousand troops to the
outskirts of Madras.wupleix ordered Despremesnil to retain the city
and to foster frienaly relations with the Nawabs troops but when
Maphuz Khan interfered with the water supply Degspremesnil led an attack
and on 2 November,1746, the Nawab withdrew.Ewo days later a relief force
from Pondicherry under the command of Paradis attacked Maphuz Khan who
retreated to Arcot.

On 7 November,1746,the Superior Council announced that the treaty
df'e rangom was null and void,"et que la mation Frangaise se trouve...
dans le méme état que le jour que la ville de Madras s'est rendue aux
armes de Sa Wajeste."(5)Despremesnil was replaced by Paradis whp on
10 November called together the company officials and merchants of
Madras and announced the new proposals.fhe terms of the new treaty were
- read.The inhabitants of Madras were ordered to hand over the keys to all
private and public stores of merchandise and munitions although they
were to be allowed to keep their personal effects and Jevelry.In addition,
all citizens were required to sign a declaration of loyalty to Luoisg XV
or to leave Madrag,in which case they were to take an oath not to
engage in hostile action against the French. (6)

It appears that the greater part of the English merchants had
left Madras either during the siege or shortly after the fall of the
eity;in the Méhoire(1750§ La Bourdonnais estimated that there vere
between 25-30 merShants and officials in the ¢ity on the eve of his
departure. (8)%hent he terms of the new treaty vere made known many of
the remaining &nglish merchants and officers in the Company army,
together with their wives and families,escaped to Fort St.David.In
mid-November the Governor and members of the “ouncil of Madras were
arrested;seals were placed on the houses of English officials and
merchants and orders were given to destroy the Black Town and the
‘villas and okher properties in the surrounding countryside. (9)During
the next eighteen months Madras was the scene of a vast illage.

On 19 December,1746,de Pury led a French attack on gort St.David.
The attack failed but in January Dordelin's sqQuadron arrfved from Achem
and in the following month the Nawab of the Carnatic withdrew from the
war and sent his son to pay a state visit to Pondicherry.In barch, 1747,

(I)Méﬁoire(l?ﬁO)S.P.J.La Bourdonnais to the Superior Bouncil of
Pondicherry 28 October,1746.p.64-65,

(2)Rostaing.Bxpédition.p.426.

(3)David,previously Governor of Senegal,was the son of a director of the
Company.His appointment was not in any vay connected with the Madras ‘
affair.The minutes of the Company register of 17 May,I1746 state:

"M.La Bourdongg;s ayant demande a repasser en France et la permission
lui en ayant eté accorde pour 1le remplacer dans le gouvernement general
des deux Iles,la Compagnie a nomme M.David."Lougnon.Correspondence.

%ol 1IV.p.222. : ' '

(4)Roubaud. La Bourdonnais.David to de Boisneuf.5 March,1749.p.195-196.

é_S)Me’moire(I’lSO) p-I39. :

_6;1bid.p.140.

(7)1Ibid.p.207.

(8)Ivid.p.I140.



Paradis led another attack on Fort St.David but he was forced to
withdraw when an English Naval squadron apgeared off the town.This
squadron which was commanded by Admiral Uriffin was joined in &ugust
1748 by & flieet under the command of Admiral Boscawen.Pondicherry was
besieged but two months later the #uglish fleet left the Coromandel
Coast owing to the ap.roach of the Monsoon and the troops withdrew to
Fort St.iavid.in December,i748 news reached India that a pcace treaty
had been signed between England and France end in August,1749Y Fort
iSt,George was handed ovey to Bowcawen, _

| On 5 March,i747, va Bouruonisais ieft ile de France with his wife
and childrern.HRis squadron ,which consisted of six ships was caught in a
storm off the Cape of Good dope;one of the ships was lost and anolher
was forced to return to ile de France.The four remaining shiyps nade Tor
Portuguese territory on the west coast of Afrieca and anchored in uuanda.
The port was blockaded by an #nglish squadron and L& Sourdoniuis decided
to send his wife and children to uLlsbon in & Portugusse ship.the French
vessels managed to evade the @ngiish and.sailed for the Wwest indies,
arriving in Martinique possibly in “eptember of that year.ua Bourdsnnais
left Martinique on I5 Ogtober and sailed to Yaint Bustache whare hz was

given a Dgtch passport.ne left the island in a Lutch ship on 45 [ovember.

During the voyage the ceptain of a pussing dnglish vessel informed the
Duteh eaptain that wer had broken out between Holland end srance.un

2 January,1748, the ship anchored off Faimouth.Some days later ia
pourdonnais was arrested.ne travelled to roadonut the end of Jaruory and
after a snort period of imprisonment e zas al.owed to Zo fres.vuring
his sojourn in uondon he was presentea to Georgell and to the Prinee of
Wales and he met some of the alrectors of the gast india Company and

two membcrs of the Councii of badras.(l) N

La Bourdonnais left London on 22 February having secured pernission
to return to France.He arrived in pParis on 25 Februury and later
travelled to Versailles.lt is provable that he had an aucdience with
Maurepas and that the minister was dissatisfied with his expianaticn
of his conduct in the recent events in Madras.On I March Haurespas wrote
to lLuval,the secretary of the Poiice Livision,authorizing him to instruct
certain agents to sieze La Bourdomnnais' papers and to take him to the
Bastille..ate that night Lo Bourdonnais ,tho wes staying at the Petit
Hotel d'untragnes in Paris,was interviewed by de Rochebrune,a Royal
Councillor and a member of the rarleuwent of Faris,and a lawyer named
d'HémeTy. liis rooms were searched and very eurly on the morniig of 2 March
he was tehen to the Bastillc _jin a closed coach.Although the Petit “otel
d'BEntragnes was only a short cistance from the sastille the coachman
had receiveé instructions to maxe a long detour ithrough the streets of
Paris;a procedure which appealed to the eigntesntih cantury mentolity
because it increased the atmosphere of secrecy and mystory.

“hen he arrived at the dastille ra Bourdonnais was introduced to
the Governor,de maunay.The latter was presented with a'lsttre de cachet
which stated:'li.de launay,je vous fais cette lettre jour vous dire de
regevoir dans mon choteau de la Bastiile le sieur de la Jourdonnais,
capitaine de fregate,et de i'y garder Jjusqu'au nouvel ordre de ma part.

Sur ce je prie Dieu qu'il vous ait M.de launay,en sa Jainte Garde.".a Beuzde

‘Bourdonnais'possessions were confiscated and he was taken to a large

rcom in the Tour de la Chapelle..uater he was transferred to the Tour
du Coin.He had several attacks of apoplexy during the early period of
his imprisonment.de was nursec backh to health and in Hay,1750 he was
given permission to ex:rcuse in the courtyard of the Tour du €oin.The
daily menus which were served to uia Bourconnals Guring three months
of 1750 have survived and they indicate that he enjoyed iuxurilous -
living. .

{(1)Bémoire (L715v) p.I50=i53;0a pourdonnais to lieurepas.Falmouth.20 _
January,.748.Hauritius Archives.Boz Y2/23.Photostat copy {roin french

ational Archives.A.N.bar.v.4i92.




./65 1 March,I7i§,a commission of enquiry was set up to examine i
the charges against la Bourdonnais(I)Ai’ter more than two years in the F
Bastille La Bourdonnais-was aliowed to take counsel.Fierre de Gennes, !
& member of the Parlement of Paris,assisted him in the preparation of i
the ‘Uémoire Pour le Sieur de %a Bourdonnais’which was published in
1750. (2)The members of the commission were divided among themselves .
and early in February,l751,there were rumours in Paris that La Bourdonnais
was to be hanged.On 3 February » however,a juaicial commission,méeting ﬂ
in the Chambre de 1'Arsenal decided by five votes to four that he was :
innocent.Two gays later he left the Bastille and joined his wife who g
was living in the Hue d'BEnfer.In Hovember of the same year he
‘purchased the chateau du Piple at Boissy St.Leger.In November, 1753, !
he had a heart attack whilst h¢ St.Leger.He was carried back to Paris, A
where he died on 10 November.His will,dated 8 November ,and the !
inventories of his vast private possessions prove that he died a very
rich man.The Duc de Luynes estimated his fortune at four to five
million livres.(3) :

| . : _
\(I)The members were, Irudaine,des Voisins,de la Granville,de Courteille,
(conseilleurs d'etat);de Persan,pignon,de Villeneuve,Bertin,St,Priest,
de la ﬂichaudiere(maitres des requétes).The secretary was de
- Villensuve.The attorney-General wag Lambert.
(2)See Bibliography,
(l)Further information on the last years of La pourdonnais may be
found in Becueil Trimestriel.Vol Vi.L'drrestation,le procés et les
dernieres annees de La Pourdonnais. (G.Baschet)p.21~54.




CONCLUSION.

In assessing the work of La Bourdonnais,historians have placed
undue emphasis on the Madras affair, the last,the most spectacular and
the mogt controversial event of his career.This has meant that his

' "Work in other fields has been either forgotten or overlooked.¥et it is

a8 a colonial administrator that he achieved his greatest success.In a
Mémoire which he presented to vossigny some twelve months after hig
arrival in lle de France he wrote:"Je n'ai accepte ce gouvernement que
pour avoir l'honneur de bien établir une colonie frangaise.¥oila,
Monsieur,la regle que je me suis prescrite et que j'al pratiqué depuis
mon arrivée.sout est en paix;il n'y a pas em la moindre discussion dans
les iles,chacun salt gon metier.ies ouvrages sont avances,la colonie est
devenue meilleure." (1) This claim is borne out by more concrete evidence.
buring the previous fourteen years,scarcely any progress had been made
in Ile de France and although the directors bound La Bourlionnais to put
economy and financial gain at the head of hig programme,he created a
well-equipped port,developed the food-growing capacity of the island and
provided a regular supply of food for the slave population.Internal
order was establighed, thus securing conditions favourable to an increasge
in the p0pu1ation@bommenting on the success of La Bourdonnais' policy,
‘the English.geographer,vahrymple,who visited Ile de France shortly before
the outbreak of the Seven Years Var,urote:"From a wild and almost
desert island M.ia Bourdonnais hasg produced a flouiishing and profitable
settlement to the French Company and I am much afraid that port will
give them greater advantage over us in India than we at present seem
sensible of."(3) '
t is impossible to review La Bourdonnais' career without becoming
aware of the conditions which shaped his age.Overseag settlements pere

(7

meke and since emoluments were low,employees spplemented their sadarics
by the proceeds of private enterprise.¥he outlook of the Company and of
its overseas servants was influenced by two factors peculiar to Indis,
the vast wealth of the country and the realisation that iuropean
factories existed on a very precarious footing, These circumstances
appear to have created a particularly unpleasant atmosphere in the
factories themselves.In the 'Fragments sur 1'Inde, 'Voltaite wrote:

le mensonge et soutenus en France par la corruption.”4) Judged by the
standards of his time,La Bourdonmais was an outstanding servant of the

Company and if he failed to resist the temptations of wealth and

corruption,he was no more grasping or corrupt than his conteumporaries.

(1) Crépin.ia Bourdonnais.Note.p. 10,

(2) By 1744 about one eighth of the island had been cleared and there

_ were 1I4 plantations.

(3) Recueil Irimestriel.Vol I.Ile de ¥rance in 1755.p.418.

(4) Compare with Dalyrymple's observations on Ile de France in 1755:
"1 found him(de Gossigny) disputing with the Governor and Council
there as 1 had left others of his profesaion doing elsewhere,a
misfortune the whole fraternity in India, 1 think,are fated to,and
productive of the most £aia dangerous consequences everywhere."
Recueil Trimestriel Vol I.p.3I7.



Y

Jot.

As Dumas wrote,when he was Governor of the Isles:"L'@tablissement de
la Compagnie etait le tempe de moissonner."(I) _

La Bourdonnais' outlook was also in part determined by the
circumstances of his early life and his years at sea and in the East.
Hig roots in St.Malo went deep for his father and grandfather were
merchants and seamen and as a boy he must have heard stories of the

exploits of ‘the corsalres of St.Malo.On his return from‘his first
voyage as a cadet it is likely that he saw René Duguay-Trouin(16§3-
-1736),the privateer who in I71I captured and ransomed Rio de Janeiro.
Seventeen years service aboard private merchant ships and ships gf

the 'premiere navigation'of the French East India Vompany gave hlm.
valuable experience in seamanship,in technical matters and in trading
procedure,and,moreover, sharpened his acquisit;ve instincts.lis
resignation from the mercantile fleet of the Vompany in order to engage
in private trading ventures rsveals the merchant and adventurer in him,
and his subsequent activities in the service of Portugal were possible
undertaken as a means of exploring and opensing up trade with Bast -
Africa.Mis urgent quest for employment in 1733 and 1734 was undoubtedly
motivated by a desire to obtain a commend in India,where opportunity
was unlimited.The governorship of the Isles likewise offered ampie
scope for private trading and,moreover, might be regarded as the first
step in obtaining a more lucrative command in India.As La Bourdonnais
informed Orry:"de vais rondement duns mes affaires.On ne vient aux
Indes que pour en faire."(2) -

La Bourdonnais' expectations were not disappointed.fis wealth
grew -immeasureably between 1735 and 174u.In the marriage contract of
1733 his fortune vwas estimated at 300,000 livres;in 1740 it amounted to
900,000 livres.(3) When news of the war between Bngland and Spain
reached lle de France in 1740,La Bourdonnais,who expected hostilities
to spread,realised that the islantl was ideally situated for
privateering-activities and there can be little doubt that the squadron
which he obtained in I74I,against the wishes of _the direcctors,was
intended by Orry and de Fulvy for this purpose.put the plan failed;the
ships were ordered back to France and when in I744 war finally broke
out between France and England,the island squadron was scarcely
sufficient for providing the Isles with food and slaves.The directors
were either unable or unwilling to send another squadronh until 1745,
The expedition to Madras was essentially a private undertaking, though
the issues were confused by the fact that La Bourdonnais held a '
commission in the ¥rench Navy,and after the fall of the city the real
point in question between La Bourdonnais and the Superior Council of
Pondicherry was the division of the spoils. - :

Lea Bourdonnais was primarily an experienced seaman,a commander,a
man of action,and therefore he was at his best in the organisation of
tachnical mfitters and in dealing with energencies.He was interested in
developing the sugar industry in Ile de France;two small factories were
built and more efficient methods of crushing the cane were introduced,
The speedy development of the N.W.Port was due almost entirely to his
expert knovledge of harbour organisation and the requirements of ships
of the '‘premiére navigation®'.These measures to provide essential harbour
facilities were followed up by a modest shipbuilding programme and three
frigates,a sloop and other smaller craft were built in the n.W.Port.The
island squadron was expanded and reorganised and despite the constant
shortage of ships vessels were found for carrying Bourbon coffee to ports
in the ned Sea and the Persian Guif.The fitting out of the squadron for
the expedition to India in I745 and 1746 illustrates La Bourdonnais"

(I)cultru;p.ZIu
(2 )Mémoire. (1740) p.60. _
(3)Rogerie.Les Bretons aux Iles.p.I170-I7I.
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CONCLUSION.

In assessing the work of La Bouraonnais, historians have placed
undue emphasis on the Madras affair,the last,the most spectacular and
the most controversial event of his career.This has meant that his
"work in other fields has been either forgotten or overlooked.¥et it is
as & colonial adminigtrator that he achieved his greatest success.In a
Mémoire which he presented to vossigny some twelvq’months after hisg
arrival in l1le de France he wrote:"je n'ai accepte ce gouvernement que
pour avoir l'honneur de bien etablir une colonie frangaise.foi{a,
Monsieur,la regle que je me suis prescrite et que j'al pratiqué depuis
mon arrivée.lout est en paix;il n'y a pas en le moindre discussion dansg
les iles,chacun sait son metier.ies ouvrages sont avances,la colonie est
devenue meilleure."(l) This claim is borne out by more concrete evidence.
buring the previous fourteen years,scarcely any progress had heen made
in Ile de France and although the dircctors bound La Bourllonnaig to put
economy and financial gain at the head of his programme, he created a
well-equipped port,developed the food-growing capacity of the island and
provided a regular supply of food for the slave population.Internal
order was established, thus securing conditions favourable to an increase
in the population@bommenting on the success of La Bourdonnais' policy,
the English. geographer,Ualrymple,who visited Ile de France shortly before
the outbreak of the Seven Years VUar,wrote:"From a wild and almost
desert island M.ia Bourdonnais has produced a flourishing and profitable
settlement to the French Company and I am much afraid that port will
8ive them gresater advantage over us in India than we at present seem
sensible of."(3) '

t is impossible to review La Bourdonnais' cereer without becoming
aware of the conditions which shaped his age.Overseag settlements were
regarded as private estates of the Company and of the Mother Country;
there was no conception of a national life and public responsibility;and
the nobles who monopolised the higher offices in the Administration,
the services and the Chiirch took for granted their feudal priviieges.
The French sast India Company attracted adventurers and men on the
make and since emoluments were low,employees spplemented their sddaries
by the proceeds of private enterprise.¥he outlook of the Uompany and of
its overseas servants was influenced by two factors peculiar to India,
the vast wealth of the country and the realisation that Buropean
factories existed on a very precarious footing. Thesge circunstances
appear to have created a particularly unpleasant atmosphere in the
fectories themselves.In the 'Fragments sur 1'Inde, 'Voltaite wrote:

“Qgs valsseaux partaient de 1'Inde moing charges de marchandisge que de
delateurs,de calomnat@drs,de faux témoins,de proces verbaux signeés par
le mensonge et soutenus en France par la corruption.”4) Judged by the
standards of his time,ia Bourdonnais was an outstanding servant of the
Company and if he failed to resist the temptations of wealth and
corruption,he was no more grasping or corrupt than hig contemporaries.

(1) Crepin.ia Bourdonnais.Note.p. 10,

(2) By 1744 about one. eighth of the island had been cleared and there
were 1I4 plantations,

(3) Recueil Trimestriel.Vol I.Ile de France in 4755.p.418,

(4) Compare with Dalyrymple's observations on Ile de France in 1755:
"I found him(de g8ossignyj disputing with the &overnor and Louncil
there as I had left others of his profession doing elsewhere,a
migfortune the whole fraternity in India, I think,are fated to,and
productive of the most £asa dangerous consequences everywhere,"
Recueil Trimestriel Vol I.p.3I7.
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produced a number of sound reasons for ac?epting a treaty of ransom
there can be little doubt that he took bribes from the English and
that he accumulated a large amount of booty.After the capitulation of
Madras and in the confusion that ensued,the temptation to make a
private arrangement with the BEnglish was irresistable..a Bourdonnais
felt himself to be master of the situation and his unsatisfactory
relations with bupleix and the Superior Council of Pondicherry made him
all the more ready to assert his independence and to push to the extreme
his personal advantage.He resented the unfair division of responsibility
in carrying out the enterprise and saw no reason why he should leave the
spoils for Dupleix and the councillors in Pondicherry.

It has been suggested that there was more in the quarrel betwcen
La Bourdonnais and Bupleix than personal pique,since both men advocated
policies which inevitably brought them into confiict.It is true %that
La Bourdonnais had an inchoate ides of estabiishing French pover in
India by means of superiority at sea,whereas Dupleix ulished to consolidate
and expand French conquests through military and commercial treaties
with Indian rulersg,but there is no ceonclusive evidence of a quarrel
besed on strategical considerations.The expedition to Madras was
originaily planned by iLa Bourdonnais and Dupleix as a joint stock
. enterprise,"le seul moyen de nous dédommager de nos pertes";the French
government and the majority of the directors of the Lompany uwere
unaware of the plan and when the city fell the vital question at issue
was the division of spoils.That the plan did not work more harmoniously
was due to personal emnity,kept alive by constant quarrels,warring
ambition and extravagent pride.

w8 Bourdonnais was a smail,stocky man, just over five feet in height,
with deep-set brown eyes,bushy eyebrows and a fleshy face.His life at
sca and his service with the Company, together with his ambitious spirit
and passiorate interest in moterial gain;left him with few principles.
He was intelligent,hardworking,obstinate,acquisitive and restless.lis
prose is that of a man of actionjlike his cofigemporary,Clive,he wrote
pungently and with vigour but,unlike Elive,he found it difficult to
work in harmony with other men.gis memoires and despatches do not
contain any friendly reference to his associates and his jealougy of
outstanting subordinates was such that,when an engineer,Guyomar de
Préandet,drew up a plan for the development of St.Denis,the project
was vetoed.Positive virtues,which had sustained La Bourdonnais in a
hazardous and exacting career,temerity,versatility and e flair for
improvisation,made him impatient of other mens efforts. :

Judged by his achievements alone,lLa Bourdonnais is assured of a
permanent place in the history of human endsavour.As administrator,
corsalr and merchant,hs was outstandingly successful.In Mauritius he is
rightly regarded as the fatnsr of the colony and his statue in the
Place d'Armes,in Port Louis,looks proudly out to sea.For the greater
part of his career as a Pompany servant he justified the confidence
shown in him by his patrons,Orry and Orry de Fulvy.He fulfilled certain
private ambitions,ammassing a vast fortune and becoming a person of
consequence in French public life,but his ultimate goal,a comnand in
India,wes denied him.When he reached India in 1746 the scales were
weighted heavily agalnst him;he was serving three masters,the Crown,
the Company and his own cupidity;his squadron was to remain for a
limited period only in the Indian Ocean;hs was surrounded by enemies
and his judgement was blunted by illness,pride and by the comfartable
belief that his patrons would defend his conduct in any eventuality.
Madras surrendered too eagily and the temptations were irresistable.
In St.Meloghis birthplace,vhich honours the memory of tartier,luguay-
Irouin and Surcouf,there is no statue to La Bourdonnais.
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Appendix IZ. The Ransom Treaty of 21 Ootober I746.

The terms of the treaty were given in the Mémoire of 1750 in the
"8ection,Suite des Pieces Justificatives No I,pages 18-27.The presmble
gtates that the treuty nac been granted by .e Bourdonnais to the
Governor and Council of Madras.The first section contains 17 erticles;
the second section contains a list of the groyusals which e bourconiais
had submittec to the Superior Council of rondicherry as a reansoncble
basis for adherence to the treaty. 'he preambie to the sscond section 6%
states that the Superior Bouncil of Fondicherry had acceptsd these
proposals in despatches dated 13 anda 14 vctober,whersas,in fact,they
hed rejected two of them.jA sumnary of the terms of the treaty is given

.below.

The Capitudation.

Art.I; Gonfirmation of the rights of the Roman Cathoiic Church in iadras.
Art.2: One half of the munitions in Madraes are to be handed cver to the
French; the remainder to be at the disposal of the idrglish,

Art 33 When Le Bourdonnsis hes refitted nis squadron the remainder of the
naval stores etc. are to be divided between the French(the

Superior Council of Pondicherry} and the knglish.

Art 4: When La Bourdonnais has compieted the revictualiing of the Krench
squadron the remainder oi' the food is to be handed over to the
snglish. _ '

~ Art.5: All gold,silver and uwerchandise,belonging to the Con;eny is to be
handed over to the French. ' "

Art.6: Madras is to be neutralised and evacuated in Januery,1747.

Art.7: Three French commissioners are to remaln in Madras in order to
make an inventory of &ll merchandisz stc. _ '

Art.8: A ransomz of I,I00,000 pagodas is to be p2id in letters of crsdit
deawa on the English Company to the value of 500,000 pagodas payable
immediately {to Le Bourdonnais); the remzinder, 600,000 pegodas,is
to be paid in reguiur instalnents from I747-1749.

Art.9: Sleven hostages are to be handed over by the Superior Council of
Madras.

Art.10: 11 prisoners who elect to rem2in in Madras are at liberty ‘o
defend Madras against altack from local princes;those returaing
to Burope wust not engage in war agoinst the French.,

Art.11. Fort St.@eerge and the city are to be returned to the Bnglish
(by Januaery.1747) _ -

Art.I2. All goods bslonging to English.men and other residents of the

) slack Town on 21 October~are to be rsturned. (1)

Art.I3. The houses,personal effects and furniture of the iEnglish
residents-are not iiabls to be céézed for the payment of ransom,
even though exewmpt from pililage.

Art.l4. The fort and city are not to be attacked by the French,octhervisw
the present treaty is rendered nuil and void.

Art.I5. The French sguadron is to leave in October and hostagss are to
be handed over before the scuadron salls.

Art.I6. When the squadron leaves Madras the Council of Madras is to make
a solsmn promise to observe the terms of the treaty.

Art.17. French dsserters are to be nanded overjthe comusand in Madras is to
be tranasferred to Lsspremesnil.

{1) Ths meaning ?f thig article is not clear since the Black Town hada
be=n sacked in September.The article probably refers to thefts which

took place in houses reoccuplied after 21 Sseptember,




ifhe Terms under which the Superior -Council of FPondicherry is prepared
to adhere to the treaty.

Art;I.

Art.2.

Art.3.
ért.4.
Art.5.

Ard

The Superior Council of Pondicherry promises to adhere to the
treaty,provided that the following articles are observed,

Madras is to be evacuated at the end of January,i747,and French
troops in the city are to be maintained at the expense of the
fngiish East India Company.

The English have_the right to go about the1r normal course of
business.

The Superior Youncil of Pondicherry is to accept all hostages and
ietters of credit as under article 8 of the treaty.

The harbour is to remain open to the ships of both nations;the
guns in the city are to be used only in the event of an Engleh
navel attack on the city.When Bngl43h ships are in the port not
more than 30 officers and men are to be allowed on shors at any
one time.If Englissh warships capture French vessels in the Madras
roadstead, compensation will be paid by the linglish Yompany.Any
goods which beiong to the French and whch remain in Masdras after
31 January are to be sent to Pondicherry.

There follows a statement that the treaty has been concluded
with the approvel of the Superior Souncil of Pondicherry and that
infringements of the treaty are answerable for to the king.




